Emrise CORP Form PRE 14A June 18, 2010 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

(Rule 14a-101) SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No.)

Filed by the Registrant X

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant O

Check the appropriate box:

X	Preliminary Proxy Statement
o	Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule $14a\text{-}6(e)(2)$)
0	Definitive Proxy Statement
0	Definitive Additional Materials
0	Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12

EMRISE CORPORATION

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

X	No fee required.		
0	Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rul (1)	les 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11. Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:	
	(2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:	
	(3)	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):	
	(4)	Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:	
	(5)	Total fee paid:	

o Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.

0	offsetting fee	offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.				
	(1)	Amount Previously Paid:				
	(2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:				
	(3)	Filing Party:				
	(4)	Date Filed:				

Table of Contents

SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, JUNE , 2010

EMRISE CORPORATION 611 Industrial Way Eatontown, New Jersey 07724

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

July	, 2010
------	--------

June , 2010

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 2010 annual meeting of stockholders of EMRISE Corporation (EMRISE or the Company), a Delaware corporation, will be held at Staybridge Suites, Eatontown, New Jersey, on July, 2010 at 11:30 a.m. local time.

At this important stockholders meeting, stockholders will be asked to consider and vote upon the following proposals:

- 1. To approve and adopt the Stock Purchase Agreement (the Purchase Agreement), dated as of June 7, 2010, by and among Aeroflex Incorporated (the Buyer) and EMRISE Electronics Corporation (the Seller) relating to the sale of all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Advanced Control Components, Inc. (ACC) and all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Custom Components, Inc. (CCI), an 80% owner of ACC.
- 2. To elect Laurence P. Finnegan, Jr. as a Class II director to serve a three-year term on the Company s Board of Directors.
- 3. To consider and vote upon a proposal to ratify the selection of BDO Seidman LLP, our independent registered public accountant, to audit our consolidated financial statements for 2010.
- 4. To approve the adjournment or postponement of the annual meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the time of the meeting to adopt the Purchase Agreement.

5.	To transact	such other	business a	s may properly	come before	the meeting.

Our Board of Directors has fixed the close of business on June 7, 2010 as the record date for determining those stockholders who will be entitled to notice of and to vote at the 2010 annual meeting. Only holders of our common stock at the close of business on the record date are entitled to vote at the meeting. Stockholders whose shares are held in the name of a broker or other nominee and who desire to vote in person at the meeting should bring with them a legal proxy.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

/s/ D. John Donovan
D. John Donovan, Secretary

Eatontown, New Jersey

June , 2010

Table of Contents

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT

WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING, PLEASE SIGN AND DATE THE ACCOMPANYING PROXY CARD AND RETURN IT PROMPTLY IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE, OR VOTE BY TELEPHONE OR OVER THE INTERNET FOLLOWING THE INSTRUCTIONS ON THE PROXY. Returning a signed proxy card will help us secure a quorum and avoid the expense of additional proxy solicitation. If you later desire to revoke your proxy for any reason, you may do so in the manner described in the attached proxy statement.

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING THE AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS FOR THE 2010 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON JULY , 2010: The proxy statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and the Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2009 are available via the internet at http://www.emrise.com.

Neither the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) nor any state securities commission determined that this proxy statement is accurate or adequate. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

This proxy statement is dated June , 2010 and is first being mailed to the stockholders of the Company on or about June , 2010.

IMPORTANT CHANGE TO VOTING RULES

Due to changes to New York Stock Exchange voting rules, your broker can not vote your shares for the Purchase Agreement or the election of the Class II director absent instructions from you. If you do not provide voting instructions, EMRISE may face additional solicitation costs and your shares will not be voted or counted on several important matters. Please vote today using the enclosed proxy card or the other means described in the proxy statement.

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

VOTING AND PROXY	1
PURPOSE AND EFFECT OF THE TRANSACTION	4
SUMMARY OF THE STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT	4
DIRECTORS, DIRECTOR NOMINEES AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	8
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AND RELATED INFORMATION	10
INFORMATION ABOUT OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS, BOARD COMMITTEES AND RELATED MATTERS	19
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	24
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS	26
SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE	26
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	28
PROPOSAL 1 APPROVAL OF STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT AND TRANSACTION	30
PROPOSAL 2 ELECTION OF CLASS II DIRECTOR	55
PROPOSAL 3 RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT	56
STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS	59
OTHER MATTERS	59
DELIVERY OF THIS PROXY STATEMENT	59
WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	60

Table of Contents

EMRISE CORPORATION 611 Industrial Way Eatontown, New Jersey 07724
PROXY STATEMENT
ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
July , 2010
VOTING AND PROXY
We are furnishing this proxy statement in connection with the solicitation of proxies by our Board of Directors for use at our 2010 annual meeting of stockholders to be held at 11:30 a.m. local time on July , 2010, at Staybridge Suites, Eatontown, New Jersey 07724, and at any and all adjournments and postponements of the meeting. This proxy statement and the enclosed proxy are first being sent or given to stockholders of EMRISE Corporation on or about June , 2010. The following items of business will be discussed at the 2010 annual meeting of stockholders:
1. The approval and adoption of the Purchase Agreement.
2. The election of Laurence P. Finnegan, Jr. as a Class II director to serve a three-year term on the Company s Board of Directors.
3. The ratification of the selection of BDO Seidman LLP, our independent registered public accountant, to audit our consolidated financial statements for 2010.
4. The approval of the adjournment or postponement of the annual meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the time of the meeting to adopt the Purchase Agreement.

5. The transaction of such other business as may properly come before the meeting.

Our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009, this proxy statement and the accompanying notice of annual meeting and certain other proxy materials were first made available to our stockholders on the Internet, at http://www.emrise.com, on or about June , 2010. The annual report is not to be regarded as proxy soliciting material or as a communication through which any solicitation of proxies is made.

The shares represented by each properly executed unrevoked proxy will be voted as directed by the stockholder with respect to the matters described in the proxy. If no direction is made, the shares represented by each properly executed proxy will be voted **FOR** each of the proposals listed on the proxy.

1

Table of Contents

You may revoke or change your proxy at any time before it is voted, except as otherwise described herein. If you are the registered stockholder (that is, you hold your Company shares in certificated form), you may revoke or change your proxy before it is voted by:

- filing a notice of revocation, which is dated a later date than your proxy, with the Company s Secretary;
- submitting a duly executed proxy card bearing a later date;
- submitting a new proxy by telephone or through the Internet at a later time, but not later than 11:59 p.m., eastern time, on July , 2010, or the day before the meeting date, if the annual meeting is adjourned or postponed; or
- voting by ballot at the annual meeting (simply attending the annual meeting will not constitute revocation of a proxy).

If your Company shares are held in street name, you should follow the instructions of your broker, bank or other nominee regarding revocation or change of proxies in order to revoke or change your proxy. If your broker, bank or other nominee allows you to submit a proxy by telephone or the Internet, you may be able to change your vote by submitting a proxy again by telephone or the Internet.

At the close of business on June 7, 2010, the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the 2010 annual meeting, we had issued and outstanding 10,213,412 shares of common stock. Only holders of record of our common stock at the close of business on the record date are entitled to notice of and to vote at the annual meeting or at any adjournments and postponements of the meeting.

Each share of our common stock issued and outstanding on the record date entitles the holder of that share to one vote at the 2010 annual meeting for all matters to be voted on at the meeting. The holders of a majority of our shares of common stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote at the meeting, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for purposes of voting on the proposals. Votes cast at the 2010 annual meeting will be tabulated by the person or persons appointed by us to act as inspector of election for the meeting. Shares of our common stock represented in person or by proxy (regardless of whether the proxy has authority to vote on all matters), as well as abstentions and broker non-votes, will be counted for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present at the meeting.

For Proposal 1, the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of our outstanding common stock entitled to vote at the meeting will constitute stockholder approval of the Purchase Agreement. For Proposal 2, the election of one Class II director to our Board of Directors, the nominee receiving the highest number of votes will be elected, as directors are elected by a plurality. Approval of Proposal 3, the ratification of the selection of our independent registered public accountants, is not required. However, the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of our common stock entitled to vote at and present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting will constitute stockholder ratification of the selection of our independent registered public accountants.

In the event that there are insufficient votes at the time of the 2010 annual meeting of stockholders to adopt the Purchase Agreement, the appointed proxy will have the authority to adjourn or postpone the meeting to a future date, which will be announced at the 2010 annual meeting of stockholders.

Under the rules of the NYSE, if a broker or other financial institution holds your shares in its name and you do not provide your voting instructions to them, then that firm has discretion to vote your

Table of Contents

shares for certain routine matters. Proposal 3, the ratification of the selection of our independent registered public accountants to audit our consolidated financial statements for 2010, is a routine matter.

However, the broker or other financial institution that holds your shares in its name does not have discretion to vote your shares for non-routine matters. The approval of the Purchase Agreement (Proposal 1) and the election of directors (Proposal 2) are non-routine matters and the firm that holds your shares in its name may not vote on those items absent your instruction. When a firm votes a client s shares on some but not all of the proposals at the 2010 Annual Meeting, the missing votes are referred to as broker non-votes. Those shares will be included in determining the presence of a quorum at the 2010 Annual Meeting, but are not considered present for purposes of voting on the non-routine items. Because Proposal 1 requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding common stock, rather than a majority of the common stock present in person or by proxy at the meeting, a broker non-vote could have the effect of a no-vote on Proposal 1.

As of June 7, 2010, the record date for the annual meeting, the directors and executive officers of the Company held and are entitled to vote, in the aggregate, 667,324 shares of the Company common stock (excluding options), representing approximately 6.34% of the voting power of the Company. Each of our directors and executive officers have informed the Company that they intend to vote all of their Company shares **FOR** the approval and adoption of the Purchase Agreement, **FOR** any adjournment or postponement of the annual meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies, **FOR** the election of Laurence P. Finnegan, Jr. as a Class II director to serve a three-year term on the Company s Board of Directors and **FOR** the ratification of the selection of our independent registered public accountant to audit our consolidated financial statements for 2010.

Although it is not currently expected, the annual meeting may be adjourned or postponed for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies. Despite the absence of a quorum, the Chairman of the annual meeting or a majority of the shares held by stockholders present in person or by proxy at such meeting may adjourn the annual meeting to another time and place, and it shall not be necessary to give any notice of the adjourned meeting if the time and place to which the annual meeting is adjourned are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken. At the adjourned annual meeting, any business may be transacted that might have been transacted on the original date of the meeting. Any adjournment or postponement of the annual meeting for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies will allow the Company stockholders who have already sent in their proxies to revoke them prior to their use at the annual meeting, when it is reconvened following such adjournment or postponement, in the manner described above.

We will pay the expenses of soliciting proxies for the 2010 annual meeting, including the cost of preparing, assembling and mailing the proxy solicitation materials. Proxies may be solicited personally, by mail, by internet or by telephone, or by our directors, officers and regular employees who will not be additionally compensated. We have engaged Georgeson Inc. to assist in the solicitation of proxies for the annual meeting. The matters to be considered and acted upon at the 2010 annual meeting are referred to in the preceding notice and are discussed below more fully.

If you have more questions about the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or the Purchase Agreement or how to submit your proxy, or if you need additional copies of this proxy statement or the enclosed proxy card or voting instructions, please contact our proxy solicitor, Georgeson Inc., toll-free at (866) 295-3782, or EMRISE Corporation, 611 Industrial Way, Eatontown, New Jersey 07724, Attention: Secretary, or by telephone at (732) 389-0355. Banks and brokers may call Georgeson Inc. at (212) 440-9800.

Table of Contents

PURPOSE AND EFFECT OF THE TRANSACTION

You are being asked to consider and vote upon the approval and adoption of the Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 7, 2010, by and among Buyer and Seller relating to the sale by Seller, and the purchase by Buyer, of all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of CCI, the direct parent and owner of 80% of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of ACC, and the sale by Seller, and the purchase by Buyer, of the remaining 20% of the outstanding shares of common stock of ACC, which are owned by Seller (the Transaction). As a result of the Transaction, ACC will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Buyer. A copy of the Purchase Agreement is attached to this proxy statement as Annex A.

EMRISE (including each of its direct subsidiaries), are parties to a Credit Agreement, as amended, with its lender, GVEC Resource IV Inc. (the Lender), an affiliate of Private Equity Management Group LLC. As of June 1, 2010, the outstanding principal balance owed to the Lender for the term loans was \$7.6 million and the balance owed on the revolving line of credit was approximately \$4.9 million, which fluctuates daily depending on cash collections and advances. In addition, approximately \$360,000 in accrued interest and fees were outstanding on the term loans and revolver as of the same date. The Credit Agreement matures on July 16, 2010. In January 2010, we agreed to sell certain assets and to use a significant portion of the proceeds to pay off the obligations owed to the Lender. The Company s primary purpose in engaging in the Transaction is to meet its commitment under the amended Credit Agreement and pay off the obligations owed to the Lender. If the Transaction is not consummated on a timely basis, the Lender could accelerate the debt and exercise its rights and remedies under the Credit Agreement.

SUMMARY OF THE STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This summary highlights selected information from this proxy statement and may not contain all of the information that is important to you. To understand the Purchase Agreement fully, and for a more complete description of the legal terms of the Transaction, as defined herein, you should carefully read this entire proxy statement, <u>Annex A</u> attached to this proxy statement and the documents referred to in this proxy statement.

This proxy statement contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including those set forth in the Risk Factors section of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2010 and other Company filings with the SEC.

Summary of the Transaction

On June 7, 2010, Aeroflex Incorporated (Buyer) and EMRISE Electronics Corporation (Seller) entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the Purchase Agreement) relating to the sale of all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Advanced Control Components, Inc. (ACC) and all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Custom Components, Inc. (CCI). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement Seller will sell to Buyer (a) all of the outstanding shares of common stock of CCI, which currently owns 80% of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of ACC, and (b) the remaining 20% of the issued and outstanding shares of ACC, which are currently owned by Seller. Seller is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The Purchase Agreement provides for Buyer to pay to Seller \$20 million in cash, subject to a potential net working capital adjustment. An amount equal to \$1 million will be placed in an escrow account to satisfy any indemnification

claims. Stockholders of the Company will not receive any consideration as a result of the Transaction. For

Table of Contents

purposes of Section 271 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the Transaction, when consummated, will constitute the sale of substantially all of the assets of the Company.

Material Terms of the Purchase Agreement

Consideration (Page 44)	• In exchange for 100% of the common stock of ACC and CCI, Buyer agrees to pay Seller \$20 million in cash.
Representations and Warranties of Seller (Page 44)	Seller makes representations and warranties to Buyer regarding, among other things:
	• Its organization, qualification to do business, good standing, power and authorization, consents and governmental approval to complete the Transaction;
	The capitalization of CCI and ACC;
	The absence of certain changes, events, conflicts and litigation;
	Its financial statements, books and records, material contracts and government contracts;
	• The title and condition of its assets and its inventories;
	Taxes and accounts receivable;
	Matters relating to environmental issues, labor and employee benefits;
	Product warranties, defects and liabilities;

	Customers, suppliers and backlog data;
	The approval of the Lender to the Transaction; and
	The Company s indebtedness free status at the closing of the Transaction.
Representations and Warranties of Buyer (Page 45)	Buyer makes representations and warranties to Seller regarding, among other things:
	• Its organization, good standing, power, authorization and intent to complete the Transaction;
	• The absence of conflicts, litigation or undisclosed broker s fees; and
	Its financial capability.
Conditions to Buyer s	For Buyer to be obligated to complete the Transaction, the following,
	5

Table of Contents

Obligations (Page 46)	among other things, must occur:
	• All consents and approvals must be obtained, including approval of the Transaction by Seller s Lender;
	Seller s representations and warranties must be true;
	The officers and directors of ACC and CCI must have resigned; and
	• Certain payments by both Buyer and Seller have been made, including the payment by Seller of certain obligations to the former shareholders of ACC.
Conditions to Seller s Obligations (Page 46)	For Seller to be obligated to complete the Transaction, the following, among other things, must occur:
	All consents and approvals must be obtained;
	Buyer s representations and warranties must be true;
	Buyer must have paid the purchase price; and
	The stockholders of EMRISE must have approved the Purchase Agreement.
Additional Covenants (Page 47)	The parties have agreed to several additional covenants, regarding, among other things:
	 Conducting business as usual and making no substantial changes to the business until the closing of the Transaction;
	Public announcements and confidentiality;

Regulatory and other authorizations and consents;
 Exclusivity in negotiations;
 Non-competition;
 Access to information; and
 Assignment of non-disclosure agreements and non-competition agreements.

Indemnification (Page 49)

 Seller has agreed to indemnify Buyer for (i) breaches of the representations and warranties, (ii) failure to comply with a covenant of the Purchase Agreement, (iii) any additional taxes or interest payable by ACC and (iv) any deficiency payment resulting from the working capital adjustment.

Table of Contents

	 Buyer has agreed to indemnify Seller for (i) breaches of the representations and warranties, (ii) failure to comply with a covenant of the Purchase Agreement, and (iii) any losses relating to the ownership of CCI s common stock.
	Both Buyer and Seller have a cap on indemnification of \$5 million.
Settlement of Claims and Escrow (Page 50)	• Seller shall create an escrow account in the amount of \$1 million for the satisfaction of indemnification claims.
Termination (Page 50)	The Purchase Agreement may be terminated:
	• Upon mutual agreement;
	• If the Closing does not occur before July 31, 2010;
	If any law makes the Transaction illegal;
	 By either party if the other breaches its representations and warranties and does not cure such breach within ten days;
	• By Seller, if the Board of Directors of EMRISE changes its recommendation for stockholders to vote for the approval of the Purchase Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby; and
	If the Purchase Agreement is not approved by EMRISE s stockholders.
Other (Page 46)	 Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, each officer and member of the Board of Directors of ACC and CCI shall have resigned effective as of the closing of the Transaction.
	7

Table of Contents

DIRECTORS, DIRECTOR NOMINEES AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Biographical Information

The names, ages and positions held by our directors and executive officers as of June 7, 2010 and their business experience are as follows:

Name	Age	Titles
Carmine T. Oliva	67	Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, and Director
Graham Jefferies	53	President, Chief Operating Officer and Managing Director of EMRISE Electronics Ltd.
D. John Donovan	44	Chief Financial Officer, Secretary and Treasurer
Laurence P. Finnegan, Jr. (1)	72	Director
Otis W. Baskin (1)	64	Director
Richard E. Mahmarian (1)	73	Director

⁽¹⁾ Member of the compensation committee, corporate governance and nominating committee and audit committee.

Carmine T. Oliva has been Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and a Class III director of EMRISE since March 26, 1997 and of our subsidiary, EMRISE Electronics Corporation, since he founded EMRISE Electronics Corporation in 1983. From March 1997 until July 2009, he was also President of EMRISE. Mr. Oliva served as Acting Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of EMRISE from August 18, 2006 to May 15, 2007 and served as Acting Chief Financial Officer from April to July 2005. Mr. Oliva has been Chairman of the Board of EMRISE Electronics Ltd. since 1985, and Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of CXR Larus since March 1997. In 2002, Mr. Oliva obtained a French government working permit and assumed responsibility as President of our CXR-AJ subsidiary. From January 1999 to January 2000, Mr. Oliva served as a director of Digital Transmission Systems Inc. From 1980 to 1983, Mr. Oliva was Senior Vice President and General Manager, ITT Asia Pacific Inc. Prior to holding that position, Mr. Oliva held a number of executive positions with ITT Corporation and its subsidiaries over an eleven-year period. Mr. Oliva attained the rank of Captain in the United States Army and is a veteran of the Vietnam War. Mr. Oliva earned a B.A. degree from Seton Hall University and an M.B.A. degree from The Ohio State University. Mr. Oliva is founder of EMRISE from inception. This, in addition to his vast business acumen and experience in the aerospace and defense and communications equipment industries for over 40 years along with his judgment, integrity and reputation and his extensive international business background including his extensive acquisition and divestiture expertise, makes Mr. Oliva an ideal director of the Company as well as its Chairman.

Graham Jefferies was appointed President of EMRISE in July 2009. He served as Executive Vice President from October 21, 1999 until July 2009. Mr. Jefferies was also appointed as our Chief Operating Officer on January 3, 2005, after having served as Chief Operating Officer of our Telecommunications Group since October 21, 1999. Mr. Jefferies served as Executive Vice President of

Table of Contents

EMRISE from April 1999 through October 1999. Mr. Jefferies has served CXR-AJ as a director since March 1997 and as General Manager since July 2002, has served as Managing Director of Belix Power Conversions Ltd., Belix Wound Components Ltd. and Belix Company Ltd. since our acquisition of those companies in April 2000, as Managing Director of XCEL Power Systems, Ltd. since September 1996 and as Managing Director of EMRISE Electronics Ltd. since March 1992. Prior to joining us in 1992, he was Sales and Marketing Director of Jasmin Electronics PLC, a major United Kingdom software and systems provider, from 1987 to 1992. Mr. Jefferies held a variety of project management positions at GEC Marconi from 1978 to 1987. Mr. Jefferies earned a B.S. degree in Engineering from Leicester University, and has experience in mergers and acquisition. Mr. Jefferies is a citizen and resident of the United Kingdom.

D. John Donovan was appointed as our Chief Financial Officer in July 2009. He served as Vice President Finance and Administration from May 2007 to July 2009 and has served as Secretary and Treasurer from May 16, 2007 to present day. Prior to joining us, Mr. Donovan served as a management consultant at DLC, Inc. where he was employed from December 2004 to April 2007. During that time, he handled various financial and accounting functions for the firm s clients, including his principal client, AeroVironment, Inc. (NasdaqGM: AVAV). From March 2002 to October 2004, Mr. Donovan served as president and chief financial officer of Chem Lab Products, Inc., a private manufacturer of chemicals. Prior to that, he served as chief financial officer of Gainey Ceramics, as controller of Rembrandt Photo Services, as director of financial reporting at Transamerica Corporation, as manager of financial reporting at Capitol Multimedia, Inc., and as a certified public accountant at PricewaterhouseCoopers and Ernst & Young LLP. Mr. Donovan earned a B.S. degree in Accounting and a Master of Accountancy degree in Information Systems from Brigham Young University and is a certified public accountant.

Laurence P. Finnegan, Jr. has served as a Class II director since March 26, 1997. In addition, he was a director of EMRISE Electronics Corporation from 1985 to March 1997, and was EMRISE Electronic Corporation s part-time Chief Financial Officer from 1994 to 1997. Mr. Finnegan has held positions with ITT (1970-1974) as controller of several divisions, Narco Scientific (1974-1983) as Vice President Finance, Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, and Fischer & Porter (1986-1994) as Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer. Since August 1995, he has been a principal of GwynnAllen Partners, Bethlehem, Pennsylvania, an executive management consulting firm. From 1996-2008 Mr. Finnegan was a director and the President of GA Pipe, Inc., a manufacturing company based in Langhorne, Pennsylvania. From September 1997 to January 2001, Mr. Finnegan served as Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer of QuestOne Decision Sciences, an efficiency consulting firm based in Pennsylvania. Since August 2001, Mr. Finnegan has served as a director and the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of VerdaSee Solutions, Inc., a consulting and software company based in Pennsylvania. Mr. Finnegan earned a B.S. degree in Accounting from St. Joseph s University. Mr. Finnegan s education and lifetime of experience in accounting, including several positions as Chief Financial Officer and controller at industrial and manufacturing companies, as well as his business acumen, judgment, integrity and reputation makes him an ideal director and chair of our Audit Committee.

Otis W. Baskin has served as a Class I director since February 6, 2004. He has been a Professor of Management at The George L. Graziadio School of Business and Management at Pepperdine University in Malibu, California since June 1995 through present and also served as dean from 1995 to 2001. As dean at Pepperdine, he was responsible for all aspects of the management of an organization with 200 employees and \$47 million in annual revenue. He has been a member of the full-time faculty of the University of Houston - Clear Lake (1975-1987), where he served as Coordinator of the Management Faculty and Director of the Center for Advanced Management Programs. He has also been Professor of Management at Arizona State University, West Campus (1987-1991) and The University of Memphis (1991-1995), in addition to serving as dean at both universities. In each of these assignments he had

Table of Contents

responsibilities for recruitment and setting compensation of both professional and support personnel. Dr. Baskin worked with AACSB International (Association for the Advancement of Collegiate Schools of Business) as Special Advisor to the President and as Chief Executive Officer from July 2002 to June 2004. He is an Associate with the Family Business Consulting Group, where he advises family owned and closely held businesses. He has served as an advisor to Exxon/Mobile Research and Engineering Corporation, NASA and the United States Air Force. Dr. Baskin is an expert in international business who has worked with companies and business schools in more than 40 countries. He earned a Ph.D. in Management, Public Relations and Communication Theory from The University of Texas at Austin, an M.A. degree in Speech Communication from the University of Houston, and a B.A. degree in Religion from Oklahoma Christian University. Dr. Baskin brings a unique blend of business, management, communications and leadership skills, experience and education, as well as his judgment, integrity and reputation, to his role as director and chair of the Compensation Committee.

Richard E. Mahmarian was appointed as a Class III director on March 1, 2006. He is currently serving as a principal and Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Control Solutions, Inc., a company that specializes in providing business systems including hardware, software, consumable products and services to major United States corporations, since December 2003. Mr. Mahmarian also is serving as the Managing Member and Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of REM Associates, LLC, a private investment and consulting company, since 1997. From 1998 until 2001, Mr. Mahmarian was the owner of Alpha Microsystems, LLC, a company that manufactured and sold mini-computer systems, personal computers and servers, provided network services and support, and information technology hardware and software services throughout North America through 50 field offices. In addition, from 1997 until 2006, Mr. Mahmarian owned R&R Palos Verdes Enterprises, Inc., a home construction company in Los Angeles, California. He served in the United States Navy and was honorably discharged. While in the Navy, he received training in advanced electronic technologies. Mr. Mahmarian earned a B.A. degree in Accounting from Upsala College and an M.B.A. degree in Marketing and Economics from Seton Hall University. Mr. Mahmarian is a member of the Board of Regents of Seton Hall University and the Board of Advisors of Crestmont College of the Salvation Army. Mr. Mahmarian makes an ideal director and chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee because of his long and deep experience in founding, running and growing technology companies with similar technical, engineering, manufacturing, sales and marketing, and distribution issues and challenges, in addition to his business acumen, judgment, integrity and reputation.

Term of Office and Family Relationships

Our officers are appointed by, and serve at the discretion of, our Board of Directors. There are no family relationships among our executive officers and directors.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION AND RELATED INFORMATION

Summary Compensation Table

The following table provides information concerning the compensation for the years ended December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009 for our principal executive officer, our principal financial officer, and our chief operating officer, who were the only persons who served as executive officers during 2009 (collectively, the named executive officers).

Table of Contents

Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary (\$)	Bonus (\$)	Option Awards (\$) (1)	All Other Compensation (\$)	Total (\$)
Carmine T. Oliva	2008	415,000		51,478	26,993(2)	493,471
Chief Executive Officer	2009	419,523		22,325	47,011(2)	488,859
Graham Jefferies (3)	2008	332,226		43,823	29,306(4)	405,355
President and Chief Operating Officer	2009	278,156		19,907	32,568(5)	330,631
D. John Donovan	2008	237,866	10,000	51,478	21,222(6)	320,566
Chief Financial Officer	2009	250,506		22,325	24,226(7)	297,057

⁽¹⁾ The dollar amount reflected is the fair value calculated for stock options granted in those years, as well as prior fiscal years, in accordance with applicable FASB guidance. For purposes of the amount shown in the table above, no forfeitures were assumed to take place. The fair value of each grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions for the fiscal years indicated. For purposes of the amounts shown in the table above, no forfeitures were assumed to take place. Information regarding the material terms of the grants for which we recognized compensation costs in 2008 and 2009 is included in the Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2009 table below.

Dividend yield	None	None
Expected volatility	89.34%	62.46%
Risk-free interest rate	0.89%	2.51%
Expected option life (in years)	6.0	6.0
Weighted-average fair value per share	\$ 1.08 \$	4.59

- (2) Amount represented includes \$4,041 in insurance premiums we paid with respect to a \$1,000,000 term life insurance policy for the benefit of Mr. Oliva s spouse. This amount also includes perquisites or personal benefits provided, none of which individually exceed the greater of \$25,000 or 10% of the total amount of these benefits provided to Mr. Oliva.
- (3) Mr. Jefferies is based in the United Kingdom and receives his remuneration in British pounds sterling. The compensation amounts listed for Mr. Jefferies are shown in United States dollars, converted from British pounds sterling using the average of the daily conversion rates in effect in 2009 and 2008, respectively. Mr. Jefferies salary in British pounds sterling was approximately £180,000 for both 2008 and 2009.
- (4) Amount represented includes \$19,780 in Company contributions to Mr. Jefferies retirement account. This amount also includes perquisites or personal benefits provided, none of which individually exceed the greater of \$25,000 or 10% of the total amount of these benefits provided to Mr. Jefferies.
- (5) Amount represented includes \$16,689 in Company contributions to Mr. Jefferies retirement account. This amount also includes perquisites or personal benefits provided, none of which individually exceed the greater of \$25,000 or 10% of the total amount of these benefits provided to Mr. Jefferies.

(6) Amount represented includes approximately \$1,100 in insurance premiums we paid with respect to a term life insurance policy for the benefit of Mr. Donovan s spouse and \$12,900 in medical and dental benefits. The value of perquisites and other personal benefits Mr. Donovan received was less than \$10,000 in aggregate.

Table of Contents

(7) Amount represented includes approximately \$1,000 in insurance premiums we paid with respect to a term life insurance policy for the benefit of Mr. Donovan s spouse and \$13,200 in medical and dental benefits. This amount also includes perquisites or personal benefits provided, none of which individually exceed the greater of \$25,000 or 10% of the total amount of these benefits provided to Mr. Donovan.

Termination Payments

Carmine T. Oliva

We may terminate Mr. Oliva s employment at any time, with or without due cause. Due cause includes any intentional misapplication of our funds or other material assets, or any other act of dishonesty injurious to us, or conviction of a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude. Due cause also includes abuse of controlled substances or alcohol and breach, nonperformance or nonobservance of any of the terms of his employment agreement, provided that Mr. Oliva fails to satisfactorily remedy the performance problem following 30 days written notice.

Mr. Oliva may terminate his employment at any time, with or without good reason. However, termination for good reason must occur within 90 days of the occurrence of an event constituting good reason, and Mr. Oliva must furnish us with written notice of the event within 30 days after the initial existence of the event and provide us with at least a 30-day cure period. Good reason includes: a material diminution in his authority, duties, responsibilities, titles or offices; a purported reduction in Mr. Oliva s base salary amounting to a material diminution in his salary to an amount less than 10% below the base salary in effect at the time of the reduction; and our failure to timely cure or diligently initiate a cure of any material breach within 30 days after Mr. Oliva gives us written notice of the breach.

If we terminate Mr. Oliva s employment for due cause or due to Mr. Oliva s breach of his employment agreement by refusing to continue his employment, or if Mr. Oliva terminates his employment without good reason, then all compensation and benefits for Mr. Oliva will cease, other than amounts under retirement and benefit plans and programs that were earned and vested by the date of termination, pro rata annual salary through the date of termination, any stock options that were vested as of the date of termination, and accrued vacation as required by California law.

If Mr. Oliva becomes incapacitated, we may terminate his employment under the agreement upon 30 days prior written notice. Upon Mr. Oliva s death, the agreement terminates immediately. If Mr. Oliva s employment terminates due to his incapacity or death, Mr. Oliva or his estate or legal representative will be entitled to receive benefits under our retirement and benefits plans and programs that were earned and vested at the date of termination, a prorated incentive bonus for the fiscal year in which incapacity or death occurred (to the extent he would otherwise be eligible), and a lump sum cash payment in an amount equal to one year of his then current annual salary, grossed up to cover applicable taxes that are deducted from such amount.

If Mr. Oliva s employment terminates for good reason or other than as a result of due cause, incapacity, death or retirement, Mr. Oliva will be entitled to his salary through the end of the month in which termination occurs plus credit for accrued vacation, and a prorated incentive bonus, if eligible, for the fiscal year during which termination occurred. In addition, under those circumstances, if Mr. Oliva enters into a separation and release agreement with us, then he will be entitled to receive (i) a severance payment equal to three times his then current annual salary (grossed up to cover applicable taxes that are deducted from such amount), (ii) all medical insurance benefits to which he was entitled immediately prior to the date of termination for a period of eighteen months or the date that Mr. Oliva s continued

Table of Contents

participation in our medical insurance plan was not possible under the plan, whichever was earlier, (iii) a lump-sum cash payment equal to eighteen times the estimated monthly COBRA premiums at the time of termination (taking into account all known or anticipated premium increases) to be used by Mr. Oliva to maintain his medical insurance coverage for an additional eighteen months, and (iv) a lump-sum cash payment equal to thirty-six times the estimated monthly life insurance premiums at the time of termination (taking into account all known or anticipated premium increases) to be used by Mr. Oliva to maintain his existing group life insurance coverage and the \$1,000,000 life insurance policy on his life for three years. If our medical insurance plan did not allow Mr. Oliva s continued participation, then we will be required to pay to Mr. Oliva, in monthly installments, the monthly premium or premiums for COBRA coverage, covering the eighteen month period described in clause (ii) in the preceding sentence.

As of June 17, 2010, Mr. Oliva is employment arrangement was modified. Before such modification, Mr. Oliva was entitled to receive a payment equal to three times his then current annual salary (grossed up to cover applicable taxes that are deducted from such amount) immediately preceding the occurrence of a change in control, regardless of whether Mr. Oliva is employment terminated or he received severance payments as a result of the change in control. Under the modified arrangement that went into effect as of June 17, 2010, Mr. Oliva will only be entitled to receive a payment for a change in control if his employment is terminated by the Company without due cause or by Mr. Oliva for good reason, in both cases within nine months of such change in control. Under these circumstances, Mr. Oliva would be entitled to receive \$125,000 in addition to his previous and continuing termination severance amounts. In consideration for these modifications to his employment arrangement and in connection with the potential sale of the stock of ACC as described in detail in Proposal 1 herein, Mr. Oliva will also be entitled to receive, upon the earlier of the closing of the Transaction or the first of any other change in control event, both a lump sum payment of \$85,000 and an aggregate of \$135,000 paid over four months beginning one month after such closing. The amount of any future severance that Mr. Oliva would be entitled to receive under his employment agreement will be reduced by \$125,000 of these payments.

A change in control includes the following circumstances:

- (a) the acquisition by any person or group of beneficial ownership of securities entitled to vote generally in the election of our directors (voting securities) that represent 40% or more of the combined voting power of our then outstanding voting securities or 50% or more of the combined fair market value of our then outstanding stock, other than:
- (i) an acquisition by a trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by us or any person controlled by us or by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by us or any person controlled by us, or
- (ii) an acquisition of voting securities by us or a corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by our stockholders in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of our stock;
- (b) a majority of members of our board is replaced during any 12-month period by directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of members of our board before the date of the appointment or election, excluding any individual whose initial assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a person other than our board;

Table of Contents

(c)	the acquisition by any person or group, or combined acquisitions during the 12-month period ending on the date of the most
recent acquisition by	such person or group, of ownership of assets from us that have a total gross fair market value equal to or more than 40% of
the total gross fair m	arket value of all of our assets immediately before such acquisition; and

(d) stockholder approval of a complete liquidation or dissolution of our company.

Notwithstanding circumstance (a) above, however, if we make an acquisition of our securities that (x) causes our voting securities beneficially owned by a person or group to represent 40% or more of the combined voting power of our then outstanding voting securities or (y) causes our stock beneficially owned by a person or group to represent 50% or more of the combined fair market value of our then outstanding stock, the acquisition will not be considered an acquisition by any person or group for purposes of circumstance (a) unless the person or group subsequently becomes the beneficial owner of additional securities of EMRISE.

For purposes of circumstance (a) above, the calculation of voting power will be made as if the date of the acquisition were a record date for a vote of our stockholders, and for purposes of circumstance (c) above, the calculation of voting power will be made as if the date of the consummation of the transaction were a record date for a vote of our stockholders.

Notwithstanding the above, there will be no change in control event when there is a transfer to an entity that is controlled by our stockholders immediately after the transfer. A transfer of assets by us is not treated as a change in control if the assets are transferred to: a stockholder of ours (immediately before the asset transfer) in exchange for or with respect to the stockholders—stock; an entity, 50% or more of the total value or voting power of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by us; a person or group that owns, directly or indirectly, 50% or more of the total value or voting power of all of our outstanding stock; or an entity, at least 50% of the total value or voting power of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by a person or group described in the immediately preceding clause.

Graham Jefferies

Mr. Jefferies may terminate his employment at any time, with or without good reason. However, termination for good reason must occur within 30 days of the occurrence of an event constituting good reason. The term good reason has the same meaning as in Mr. Oliva s employment agreement described above.

We may terminate Mr. Jefferies employment at any time, immediately upon written notice, with or without due cause. The term due cause has the same meaning as in Mr. Oliva s employment agreement described above, except that Mr. Jefferies may satisfactorily remedy the performance problem following 90 days written notice. If we terminate Mr. Jefferies employment for due cause or due to Mr. Jefferies breach of his employment agreement by refusing to continue his employment, or if Mr. Jefferies terminates his employment without good reason, then all compensation and benefits for Mr. Jefferies will cease, other than amounts under retirement and benefit plans and programs that were earned and vested by the date of termination, pro rata annual salary through the date of termination, and any stock options that were vested as of the date of termination, and accrued vacation as required by applicable law.

If Mr. Jefferies becomes mentally or physically incapable of performing the services required under the agreement for a period of 180 consecutive days, the agreement terminates; *provided*, *however*, that Mr. Jefferies will remain an employee of EMRISE Electronics Ltd. and be entitled to remuneration in

Table of Contents

an amount equal to the amount paid under EMRISE Electronics Ltd. s permanent health insurance scheme, subject to the paragraph immediately below. Upon Mr. Jefferies death, the agreement terminates immediately.

If Mr. Jefferies employment terminates due to his incapacity or death, Mr. Jefferies or his estate or legal representative will be entitled to receive benefits under our retirement and benefits plans and programs that were earned and vested at the date of termination, a prorated incentive bonus for the fiscal year in which incapacity or death occurred (to the extent he would otherwise be eligible), and a lump sum cash payment in an amount equal to one year of his then current annual salary, grossed up to cover applicable taxes that are deducted from such amount.

If Mr. Jefferies employment terminates for good reason or other than as a result of due cause, incapacity, death or retirement, Mr. Jefferies will be entitled to his salary through the end of the month in which termination occurs plus credit for accrued vacation, and a prorated incentive bonus, if eligible, for the fiscal year during which termination occurred. In addition, under those circumstances, if Mr. Jefferies enters into a separation and release agreement with us, then he will be entitled to receive a severance payment equal to two times his then current annual salary (grossed up to cover applicable taxes that are deducted from such amount), to receive all medical and life insurance benefits to which he was entitled immediately prior to the date of termination (or at the election of Mr. Jefferies in the event of a change in control, immediately prior to the date of the change in control) for a period of two years or the date or dates that Mr. Jefferies continued participation in our medical and/or life insurance plans was not possible under the plans, whichever was earlier. If our medical and/or life insurance plans did not allow Mr. Jefferies continued participation, then we will be required to pay to Mr. Jefferies, in monthly installments, the monthly premium or premiums that had been payable by us covering the two-year period.

As of June 18, 2010, Mr. Jefferies employment arrangement was also modified. Before such modification, Mr. Jefferies was entitled to receive a payment equal to two times his then current annual salary (grossed up to cover applicable taxes that are deducted from such amount) immediately preceding the occurrence of a change in control, regardless of whether Mr. Jefferies employment terminates and/or he receives severance payments as a result of the change in control. Under the modified arrangement that went into effect as of June 18, 2010, Mr. Jefferies will only be entitled to receive a payment for a change in control if his employment is terminated by the Company without due cause or by Mr. Jefferies for good reason, in both cases within nine months of such change in control. Under these circumstances, Mr. Jefferies would be entitled to receive \$100,000 in addition to his previous and continuing termination severance. In consideration for these modifications to his employment arrangement and in connection with the potential sale of the stock of ACC, as described in detail in Proposal 1 herein, Mr. Jefferies will also be entitled to receive, upon the earlier of the closing of the Transaction or the first of any other change in control event, both a lump sum payment of \$80,000 and an aggregate of \$105,000 paid over four months beginning one month after such closing. In addition, Mr. Jefferies will be paid retention payments of \$4,300 every other week from June 1, 2010 through May 30, 2011 (aggregating \$111,800) as long as he remains employed by the Company.

D. John Donovan

Mr. Donovan s current employment arrangement is described below. In anticipation of the significant changes to the Company caused by the sale of ACC, and other divisions of the Company including RO Associates, Digitran, and XCEL Japan, the Company is evaluating the finance department of Emrise, including whether it will continue to require a separate chief financial officer, and whether reorganization of the current finance team can meet or will exceed the Company s requirements going forward from the closing of the Transaction. This decision will be significantly impacted by the closing of the Transaction. In the event that the Company were to determine that it should eliminate the role of chief financial officer before closing the Transaction, then Mr. Donovan would be entitled to receive his full termination severance in the approximate amount of \$370,000, but he will not be entitled to receive any change in control payment contemplated under his current arrangement. If his role is not eliminated before the close of the Transaction, then he would be entitled to the change in control payment described below.

Table of Contents

Mr. Donovan s current arrangement was as follows: Mr. Donovan was permitted to terminate his employment at any time, with or without good reason. However, termination for good reason must have occurred within 90 days of the occurrence of an event constituting good reason, and Mr. Donovan was required to furnish us with written notice of the event within 30 days after the initial existence of the event and provide us with at least a 30-day cure period. The term good reason has the same meaning as in Mr. Oliva s employment agreement described above.

If we had terminated Mr. Donovan s employment for due cause or due to Mr. Donovan s breach of his employment agreement by refusing to continue his employment, or if Mr. Donovan had terminated his employment without good reason, then all compensation and benefits for Mr. Donovan would have ceased, other than amounts under retirement and benefit plans and programs that were earned and vested by the date of termination, pro rata annual salary through the date of termination, any stock options that were vested as of the date of termination, and accrued vacation as required by California law.

If Mr. Donovan had become incapacitated during his prior employment arrangement, we were permitted to terminate his employment under his prior arrangement upon 30 days prior written notice. Upon Mr. Donovan s death, the agreement would have terminated immediately. If Mr. Donovan s employment had terminated due to his incapacity or death, Mr. Donovan or his estate or legal representative would have been entitled to receive benefits under our retirement and benefits plans and programs that were earned and vested at the date of termination, a prorated incentive bonus for the fiscal year in which incapacity or death occurred (to the extent he would otherwise have been eligible), and a lump sum cash payment in an amount equal to one year of his then current annual salary, grossed up to cover applicable taxes that are deducted from such amount.

If Mr. Donovan s employment had terminated for good reason or other than as a result of due cause, incapacity, death or retirement, Mr. Donovan would have been entitled to his salary through the end of the month in which termination occurred plus credit for accrued vacation, and a prorated incentive bonus, if eligible, for the fiscal year during which termination had occurred. In addition, under those circumstances, if Mr. Donovan had entered into a separation and release agreement with us, then he would have been entitled to receive (i) a severance payment equal to his then current annual salary (grossed up to cover applicable taxes that are deducted from such amount), (ii) all medical insurance benefits to which he was entitled immediately prior to the date of termination for a period of eighteen months or the date that Mr. Donovan s continued participation in our medical insurance plan was not possible under the plan, whichever was earlier, and (iii) a lump-sum cash payment equal to \$1,650 to be used by Mr. Donovan to maintain his existing life insurance coverage for a period of eighteen months. If our medical insurance plan did not allow Mr. Donovan s continued participation, then we would have been required to pay to Mr. Donovan, in monthly installments, the monthly premium or premiums for COBRA coverage, covering the eighteen month period described in clause (ii) in the preceding sentence.

Immediately preceding the occurrence of a change in control, and regardless of whether Mr. Donovan s employment had terminated and/or he had received severance payments as a result of the change in control, Mr. Donovan would have been entitled to receive a payment equal to his then current annual salary (grossed up to cover applicable taxes that are deducted from such amount).

The terms due cause and change in control have the same meaning as in Mr. Oliva s employment agreement described above.

Table of Contents

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee of EMRISE s Board of Directors currently consists of directors Messrs. Finnegan, Baskin and Mahmarian, all of whom the Board has determined to be independent pursuant to rules of the NYSE Arca. This report shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act) or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act) by virtue of any general statement in such filing incorporating the Form 10-K by reference, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates the information contained in this section by reference and shall not otherwise be deemed filed under either the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed with management the disclosure regarding Executive Compensation and Related Information contained in this Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting. Based on the review and discussions, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that such disclosure be included in this Proxy Statement.

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors

Otis W. Baskin, Chairman Laurence P. Finnegan, Jr. Richard E. Mahmarian

Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2009

The following table sets forth information about outstanding equity awards held by our named executive officers as of December 31, 2009. The information below has been adjusted to reflect a 1 for 3.75 reverse split of our common stock that we completed in November 2008.

	Option Awards				
	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Exercisable	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Unexercisable	Option Exercise Price (\$)	Option Expiration Date	
Carmine T. Oliva	26,667 14,134 6,934 13,334 8,889 8,889 5,000	11,111(1) 11,111(2) 15,000(3)	1.88 1.31 3.75 7.50 2.18 3.06 1.53	01/31/2011 01/22/2013 02/24/2014 12/29/2015 08/22/2018 08/22/2018 03/24/2019	
Graham Jefferies	14,400 10,667 13,334		1.31 3.75 7.50	01/22/2013 02/24/2014 12/29/2015	

Edgar Filing: Emrise CORP - Form PRE 14A

6,667 4.61 07/01/ 8,889 11,111(1) 2.18 08/22/ 8,889 11,111(2) 3.06 08/22/		8,889 8,889 5,000	11,111(1) 11,111(2) 15,000(3)	2.18 3.06 1.53	08/22/2015 08/22/2015 03/24/2016
5,000 15,000(3) 1.53 03/24/	D. John Donovan	6,667 8,889		4.61 2.18	05/15/2017 07/01/2017 08/22/2015 08/22/2015 03/24/2016

Table of Contents

- (1) The option becomes exercisable in three equal installments on August 22, 2009, 2010 and 2011.
- (2) The option shall be exercisable in three equal installments on the latter of (a) August 22, 2009, August 22, 2010 and August 22, 2011, respectively, or (b) the date the Company files its financial statements with the SEC for the second consecutive fiscal quarter in which the Company reports net income (after taxes) on its Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations after August 22, 2008.
- (3) The option becomes exercisable in three equal installments on March 24, 2010, 2011 and 2012.

Director Compensation - 2009

Each non-employee director is entitled to receive \$1,000 per month as compensation for his services. In addition, each board member chairing a standing committee is entitled to receive \$500 per month as additional compensation for his services. We reimburse all directors for out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with attendance at board and committee meetings. We may periodically award options or warrants to our directors under our existing option and incentive plans.

The following table provides information concerning the compensation of our non-employee directors for the year ended December 31, 2009:

	Fees Earned		
Name	or Paid in Cash (\$)	Option Awards (\$) (1)	Total (\$)
Laurence P. Finnegan, Jr. (2)	18,000	11,162	29,162
Otis W. Baskin (3)	18,000	11,162	29,162
Richard E. Mahmarian (4)	18,000	11,162	29,162

⁽¹⁾ The dollar amount reflected is the fair value calculated for stock options granted in that year in accordance with applicable FASB guidance. We did not recognize compensation cost for financial reporting purposes for the 2009 fiscal year for stock options granted in prior years. For purposes of the amount shown in the table above, no forfeitures were assumed to take place. The fair value of each grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions for the fiscal years indicated:

	2009
Dividend yield	None
Expected volatility	89.34%
Risk-free interest rate	0.89%

Expected option life (in years)	7.0
Weighted-average fair value per share	\$ 1.12
	18

Table of Contents

- (2) At December 31, 2009, Mr. Finnegan held vested and unvested options to purchase an aggregate of 87,601 shares of common stock.
- (3) At December 31, 2009, Mr. Baskin held vested and unvested options to purchase an aggregate of 52,668 shares of common stock.
- (4) At December 31, 2009, Mr. Mahmarian held vested and unvested options to purchase an aggregate of 43,334 shares of common stock.

INFORMATION ABOUT OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS, BOARD COMMITTEES AND RELATED MATTERS

Board Composition, Responsibilities and Leadership Structure

Our business, property and affairs are managed under the direction of our Board of Directors. Directors are kept informed of our business through discussions with our executive officers, by reviewing materials provided to them and by participating in meetings of our board and its committees.

Our bylaws provide that our Board of Directors shall consist of at least four directors. Our board is divided into three classes of directors: Class I, Class II and Class III. The term of office of each class of directors is three years, with one class expiring each year at our annual meeting of stockholders. We currently have four directors on our board, with no vacancies. Our current board consists of one Class I director whose term expires at our 2012 annual meeting, one Class II director whose term expires at our 2010 annual meeting, and two Class III directors whose terms expire at our 2011 annual meeting.

During 2009, our board held 10 meetings. During 2009, none of our directors attended fewer than 75% of the aggregate of: (1) the total number of meetings of the Board of Directors (held during the period for which he has been a director); and (2) the total number of meetings held by all committees of the board on which he served (during the periods that he served).

The independent members of our Board of Directors are selected because of their independence from management; depth of understanding of technology, manufacturing, sales and marketing, finance and/or other elements directly relevant to the technology and business of EMRISE; education and professional background; and judgment, skill, integrity and reputation.

The leadership of our Company and our board is split between the executive and chairman leadership of Mr. Oliva, our founder, on the one hand and our independent directors, which make up 75% of the board, on the other hand. Mr. Oliva has over 40 years of experience in the electronics and communications industry. His in-depth knowledge of each of our businesses and the competitive challenges each business faces, as well as

his extensive experience as a director and senior member of management, make him the best qualified director to serve as chairman. Our independent directors are strong leaders with diverse educations, skills and backgrounds. They are appropriately skeptical, leading to thorough review and oversight of the strategies and actions proposed by the chairman and management. The independent members meet regularly in executive session, with the most qualified member taking the lead in such sessions based on the issues being discussed. The board may subsequently decide to change its leadership structure, as there is no formal policy that requires the chief executive and chairman to be served by one person.

Table of Contents

We believe the combination of Mr. Oliva as our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman in combination with our strong independent board members has been an effective leadership structure for EMRISE. The division of duties and the level of communication between the board and our management provides the basis for the proper functioning of our board and its oversight of management.

Risk Oversight

Our Board of Directors is responsible for consideration and oversight of risks facing EMRISE and its subsidiaries in the ordinary course of operating the businesses. Together with the Board standing committees, the Board is responsible for ensuring that material risks are identified and managed appropriately. The Board and its committees regularly review material strategic, operational, financial, compensation and compliance risks with senior management and discuss the key risks to our business. The committees communicate the risks they oversee with the other committees and the Board, as a whole. The Audit Committee is responsible for discussing overall risk assessment and risk management practices, as set forth in the Audit Committee s charter. For example, the Audit Committee assists the Board in its risk oversight function by reviewing and discussing with management our system of disclosure controls and our internal controls over financial reporting. The Audit Committee also performs a central oversight role with respect to financial and compliance risks and meets at least quarterly with our independent auditor, BDO Seidman LLP. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee assists the board in its risk oversight function by periodically reviewing and discussing with management important compliance and quality issues. The Compensation Committee considers risk in connection with its design of compensation programs for our executives. At this time, the Compensation Committee does not believe that the risks arising from the Company s compensation policies and practices for its employees are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Code of Ethics

Our Board of Directors has adopted an Amended and Restated Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our directors, officers and employees and an additional Code of Business Ethics that applies to our Chief Executive Officer and senior financial officers. These codes are available on our Internet website, located at http://www.emrise.com.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K relating to amendments to or waivers from provision of these codes that relate to one or more of the items set forth in Item 406(b) of Regulation S-K, by describing on our Internet website within four business days following the date of a waiver or a substantive amendment, the date of the waiver or amendment, the nature of the amendment or waiver, and the name of the person to whom the waiver was granted.

Information on our Internet website is not, and shall not be deemed to be, a part of this proxy statement or incorporated into any filings we make with the SEC.

Board Committees

Our Board of Directors currently has an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee selects our independent registered public accountants; reviews the results and scope of the audit and other services provided by our independent registered public accountants;

20

Table of Contents

reviews our financial statements for each interim period and for our year end and our internal financial and accounting controls; and recommends, establishes and monitors our disclosure controls and procedures. Our three independent directors, Messrs. Finnegan, Baskin, and Mahmarian, served on our audit committee throughout 2009, with Mr. Finnegan serving as chairman. Our Board of Directors has determined that Messrs. Finnegan and Mahmarian are audit committee financial experts. The Audit Committee operates pursuant to a charter approved by our Board of Directors and Audit Committee, according to the rules and regulations of the SEC. The Audit Committee held five meetings in 2009.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee is responsible for establishing and administering our policies involving the compensation of all of our executive officers and establishing and recommending to our Board of Directors the terms and conditions of all employee and consultant compensation and benefit plans. Our entire Board of Directors also may perform these functions with respect to our employee stock option plans. Messrs. Finnegan and Mr. Baskin have served on the Compensation Committee throughout 2009, with Mr. Baskin serving as chairman. Mr. Mahmarian was appointed to the Compensation Committee in March 2008. The Compensation Committee operates pursuant to a charter approved by our Board of Directors and Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee held two meetings in 2009.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The Compensation Committee of EMRISE s Board of Directors for the year ended December 31, 2009 consisted of Messrs. Finnegan, Baskin and Mahmarian, none of whom have served as an officer or employee of EMRISE. No executive officer of EMRISE served as a director or Compensation Committee member of any entity in which the members of the Compensation Committee or the Board of Directors were an executive officer or director.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee reviews and provides oversight with regard to our corporate governance related policies and procedures and also recommends nominees to our Board of Directors and committees of our Board of Directors, develops and recommends to our Board of Directors corporate governance principles, and oversees the evaluation of the Board of Directors and management.

Messrs. Baskin, Mahmarian and Finnegan have served on the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee throughout 2009.

Mr. Mahmarian serves as chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee utilizes a variety of methods for identifying and evaluating nominees for director, including candidates that may be referred by stockholders. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee held one meeting in 2009.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider candidates for director recommended by any stockholder that is the beneficial owner of shares representing more than 1.0% of the then-outstanding shares of our common stock and that has beneficially owned those shares for at least one year. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will evaluate those recommendations by applying its regular nominee criteria and considering the additional information described in the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee s below-referenced charter. Stockholders that desire to recommend candidates for the board for evaluation may do so by contacting EMRISE in writing, identifying the potential candidate and providing background and other information in the manner described in the Nominating and

 $Corporate\ Governance\ Committee\ s\ charter.\ Candidates\ may\ also\ come\ to\ the\ attention\ of\ the\ Nominating\ and\ Corporate\ Governance\ Committee\ through\ current\ board\ members,$

Table of Contents

	as and other persons. In evaluating potential candidates, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will take of factors, including, among others, the following:
•	independence from management;
• relevant to the technolo	depth of understanding of technology, manufacturing, sales and marketing, finance and/or other elements directly gy and business of our company;
•	education and professional background;
•	judgment, skill, integrity and reputation;
•	existing commitments to other businesses as a director, executive or owner;
•	personal conflicts of interest, if any; and

In addition, prior to nominating a sitting director for re-election at an annual meeting of stockholders, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee considers the director s past attendance at, and participation in, meetings of our Board of Directors and its committees and the director s formal and informal contributions to their respective activities.

the size and composition of the Board of Directors.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee strives to maintain a Board of Directors with a diverse set of skills and qualifications, to ensure that the Board of Directors is adequately serving the needs of our stockholders. Before evaluating director candidates, the committee reviews the skills and qualifications of the directors currently serving on the board and identifies any areas of weakness or skills of particular importance. On the basis of that review, the committee will evaluate director candidates with those identified skills. While the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee does not have a formal policy on board diversity, the committee takes into account a broad range of diversity considerations when assessing director candidates, including individual backgrounds and skill sets, professional experiences and other factors that contribute to our board having an appropriate range of expertise, talents, experiences and viewpoints, and considers those diversity considerations, in view of the needs of the board as a whole, when making decisions on director nominations.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee operates pursuant to a charter approved by our Board of Directors and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

Committee Charters

The charters of our audit, compensation and nominating committees, and our codes of business conduct and ethics, are included on our website at http://www.emrise.com. The foregoing information is also available in print to any stockholder who requests it. All such requests should be in writing and should be sent to c/o Secretary at 611 Industrial Way, Eatontown, New Jersey 07724 or jdonovan@emrise.com.

Stockholder Communications with the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors has established a process to receive communications from stockholders. Stockholders and other interested parties may contact any member (or all members) of the Board of

22

Table of Contents

Directors, or the independent directors as a group, any committee of the Board of Directors or any chair of any such committee, by mail or electronically. To communicate with the Board of Directors, any individual directors or any group or committee of directors, correspondence should be addressed to the Board of Directors or any such individual directors or group or committee of directors by either name or title. All such correspondence should be sent c/o Secretary at 611 Industrial Way, Eatontown, New Jersey 07724. To communicate with any of our directors electronically, stockholders should send an email to our Secretary, D. John Donovan, at: jdonovan@emrise.com.

All communications received as set forth in the preceding paragraph will be opened by the Secretary for the sole purpose of determining whether the contents represent a message to our directors. Any contents that are not in the nature of advertising, promotions of a product or service, patently offensive material or matters deemed inappropriate for the Board of Directors will be forwarded promptly to the addressee. In the case of communications to the Board of Directors or any group or committee of directors, our Secretary will make sufficient copies (or forward such information in the case of e-mail) of the contents to send to each director who is a member of the group or committee to which the envelope or e-mail is addressed.

Policy With Regard to Board Members Attendance at Annual Meetings

It is our policy that our directors are invited and encouraged to attend all of our annual meetings. At the date of our 2009 annual meeting, we had four members on our Board of Directors, all of whom were in attendance at our 2009 annual meeting.

Report of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

Management is responsible for the preparation of the Company s financial statements and the Company s independent registered public accountants are responsible for auditing those statements. In connection with the preparation of the financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2009, the Audit Committee (i) reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements with management; (ii) discussed with the independent registered public accountants the matters required to be discussed under Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, Communication with Audit Committees, as amended, and Rule 2-07 Communication With Audit Committees, of Regulation S-X of the Rules of the SEC; and (iii) received the written report, disclosures and the letter from the independent registered public accountants required by Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Rule 3526, Communication with Audit Committees Concerning Independence, and the Audit Committee has reviewed, evaluated and discussed with that firm the written report and its independence from the Company. The Audit Committee also has discussed with management of the Company and the independent registered public accountants such other matters and received such assurances from them as the Audit Committee deemed appropriate.

Based upon these reviews and discussions, the Audit Committee recommended, and the Board of Directors approved, the inclusion of the Company s audited financial statements in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, for filing with the SEC.

Audit Committee

Laurence P. Finnegan, Jr., Chairman Otis W. Baskin

Richard E. Mahmarian

Table of Contents

Beneficial Ownership Table

common stock as of June 1, 2010, by:

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Except as otherwise indicated in the related footnotes, the following table sets forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our

- each person known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of the outstanding shares of our common stock;
- each of our directors;
- each of the named executive officers in the summary compensation table contained above; and
- all of our directors and our executive officers as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC, and includes voting or dispositive power with respect to the securities. To our knowledge, except as indicated by footnote, and subject to community property laws where applicable, the persons named in the table below have sole voting and dispositive power with respect to all shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by them. Except as indicated in the discussion of contractual beneficial ownership limitations below and except as indicated in the footnotes to the table below, shares of common stock underlying derivative securities, if any, that currently are exercisable or convertible or are scheduled to become exercisable or convertible for or into shares of common stock within 60 days after the date of the table are deemed to be outstanding in calculating the percentage ownership of each listed person or group but are not deemed to be outstanding as to any other person or group. Percentage of beneficial ownership is based on 10,213,412 shares of common stock outstanding as of the date of the table. The information below has been adjusted to reflect a 1 for 3.75 reverse split of our common stock that we completed in November 2008.

The address of each of the following stockholders, unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes to the table, is c/o EMRISE Corporation, 611 Industrial Way, Eatontown, New Jersey 07724. Messrs. Oliva, Finnegan, Baskin, and Mahmarian are directors of EMRISE. Messrs. Oliva, Donovan and Jefferies are named executive officers and current executive officers of EMRISE.

Name of Beneficial Owner	Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership	Percent of Class
Carmine T. Oliva	418,329(1)	4.06%
Laurence P. Finnegan, Jr.	83,435(2)	*

Edgar Filing: Emrise CORP - Form PRE 14A

Otis W. Baskin	36,723(3)	*
Richard E. Mahmarian	28,889(4)	*
Graham Jefferies	62,053(5)	*
D. John Donovan	37,895(6)	*
Private Equity Management Group LLC	775,758(7)	7.60%
All executive officers and directors as a group (6 persons)	667,324(8)	6.34%

^{*} Less than 1.00%

Table o	f Contents			
(1)	Includes 21,837 shares held individually by Mr. Oliva s s	pouse, and 83,847 shares u	nderlying vested options.	
(2)	Includes 68,989 shares underlying vested options.			
(3)	Includes 34,056 shares underlying vested options.			
(4)	Includes 24,722 shares underlying vested options.			
(5)	Includes 61,179 shares underlying vested options.			
(6)	Includes 36,112 shares underlying vested options.			
which the Chang a direct the	Based on share beneficial ownership information contained LLC (PEM). PEM has indicated that it is deemed to be the Estate of Danny Pang, Robert Anderson, Wilbur Quon, and Anthony Bufinsky, as members of PEM, acting by major to the vote and the power to dispose or to direct the disposition has 92614.	he beneficial owner of an a Fodd Gillespie, Peter Paul I ority in membership interes	ggregate of 775,758 shares under Mendel, Lian-Hung Chan, Yuan ts may be deemed to have the po	erlying warrants, over -Feng Sandra ower to vote or
(8)	Includes 308,905 shares underlying vested options and 21,	.837 outstanding shares hel	d individually by Mr. Oliva s w	rife.
Equity (Compensation Plan Information			
	owing table gives information about our common stock that ting equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2009.	it may be issued upon the e	xercise of options, warrants and	rights under all of
Plan cat		Number of securities to be issued upon	Weighted-average exercise price of outstanding	Number of securities remaining

exercise of

outstanding

remaining available for

future issuance

options,

warrants and

	options, warrants and rights	rights		under equity compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in column (a))
	(a)	(b)		(c)
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders	2,474,504(1)	\$	4.37	8,736,575(2)
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders				
Total	2,474,504	\$	4.37	8,736,575
	25			

Table of Contents

- (1) Represents shares of common stock underlying options that are outstanding under our 1993 Stock Option Plan, our Employee Stock and Stock Option Plan, our 1997 Stock Incentive Plan, our Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Option Plan and our 2007 Stock Incentive Plan. The material features of these plans are described in note 11 to our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.
- (2) Represents shares of common stock available for issuance under options that may be issued under our Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Option Plan and our 2007 Stock Incentive Plan.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Director Independence

Our Board of Directors has determined that each of Messrs. Baskin, Finnegan and Mahmarian is independent under Rule 5.3(k) of the NYSE Arca Equities Rules because none of those directors has, or during the past three years has had, a material relationship with us, either directly or as a partner, stockholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with us, and none of those directors is disqualified from being deemed independent under any of subparagraphs (A)-(F) of Rule 5.3(k)(1) of the NYSE Arca Equities Rules. Our Board of Directors has also determined that each member of the audit committee is independent under Rule 10A-3(b)(1) of the Exchange Act.

Under the NYSE Arca Equities Rules, the non-management members of our Board of Directors must meet at regularly scheduled executive sessions without management, with a non-management director presiding over each executive session. A presiding director for each session is selected by the board members in attendance at the session based upon the topics to be discussed at the session. The non-management directors can be contacted by calling the chairman of the audit committee. Further, if the non-management directors include directors who are not independent, then we should at least once a year schedule an executive session including only independent directors. Under the NYSE Arca Equities Rules, we must disclose if any member of our nominating committee or compensation committee is not independent.

Transactions with Related Persons

We are party to indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers. The indemnification agreements and our certificate of incorporation and bylaws require us to indemnify our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee reviews, approves and ratifies any transactions between the Company and related persons.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our executive officers and directors, and persons who beneficially own more than 10% of a registered class of our common stock, to file initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership with the SEC. These officers, directors and stockholders are required by the SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of all reports that they file.

Based solely upon a review of copies of the reports furnished to us during the year ended December 31, 2009 and thereafter, or any written representations received by us from directors, officers and beneficial owners of more than 10% of our common stock that no other reports were required, we believe that, (i) during 2009, all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to our directors and officers

Table of Contents

were met and (ii) except for any Form 5 filings that may have been required, all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to the beneficial owners of more than 10% of our common stock were met.

27

Table of Contents

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document (including information included or incorporated by reference herein) includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Words such as expect, estimate, project, continue, and similar expression forecast, anticipate, intend, plan, may, will, could, should, believes, predicts, potential, such forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include, without limitation, EMRISE s expectations with respect to the costs and charges, capitalization and anticipated financial impacts of the Transaction and related transactions; approval of the Purchase Agreement by stockholders; the satisfaction of the closing conditions to the Transaction and related transactions; and the timing of the completion of the Transaction and related transactions.

These forward-looking statements involve significant risks and uncertainties that could cause the actual results to differ materially from the expected results. Most of these factors are outside of EMRISE s control and are difficult to predict. Factors that may cause such differences include, but are not limited to:

- the possibility that the expected Transaction will not be realized, or will not be realized within the expected time period;
- our ability to continue to borrow funds under the revolver terms of our credit facility;
- whether or not our stockholders will approve the Transaction and whether the Transaction will close by the maturity date of our credit facility;
- the ongoing revenues and profitability of the Company will be substantially reduced as a result of our sale of ACC in order to satisfy our debt obligations. This will have a material adverse effect on the Company s operations, financial condition and ability to continue operations;
- our ability to decrease operating costs to improve our bottom line following the expected Transaction, which will result in lower than expected net proceeds;
- our ability to find and secure alternate financing to our current credit facility on or before the expected closing date on July 16, 2010, including a replacement revolver facility in the event the obligations under the current facility are paid in full;
- our inability to compete directly against ACC, RO Associates or our Digitran operations as a result of previous or currently contemplated sales of such whereby we are prohibited under the relevant sale agreements;
- the possible cash flow impact of future claims that may be brought against us pursuant to the representations, warranties and indemnification provisions of the Purchase Agreement and in the sale purchase agreements for the sales of RO Associates and our Digitran operations;
- our ability to successfully merge with or acquire other companies in the communications business segment;
- our ability to organically grow our European based aerospace and defense divisions;
- exposure to and impacts of various international risks including legal, business, political and economic risks associated with our international operations, also including the impact of foreign currency translation;

- the projected growth or contraction in the electronic devices and communications equipment markets in which we operate;
- our strategies for expanding, maintaining or contracting our presence in these markets;
- anticipated and unanticipated trends in our financial condition and results of operations;

28

Table of Contents

- our ability to meet our working capital and other financing needs;
- our ability to distinguish ourselves from our current and future competitors;
- our ability to secure long term purchase orders;
- our ability to deliver against existing or future backlog;
- technical or quality issues experienced by us, our suppliers and/or our customers;
- failure to comply with existing or future government or industry standards and regulations;
- our ability to successfully locate, acquire and integrate any possible future acquisitions;
- our ability to successfully support the working capital needs of our company;
- the impact of current and/or future economic conditions, including but not limited to the overall condition of the stock market, the overall credit market, the global recession, political, economic and/or other constraints which are or may negatively impact the industries in which we participate and/or the ability for us to market the products which we sell; and
- our ability to successfully compete against competitors that in many cases are larger than we, have access to significantly more working capital than we and have significant resources in comparison to us.

Other factors include the possibility that the Transaction does not close, including due to the failure to receive required regulatory approvals, or the failure of other closing conditions.

EMRISE cautions that the foregoing list of factors is not exclusive. EMRISE is also subject to risks and uncertainties and other factors discussed in documents incorporated by reference in this proxy statement, including EMRISE s most recently filed Form 10-K and Form 10-Q and any amendments thereto. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements concerning EMRISE, the 2010 Annual Meeting, the Purchase Agreement, the Transaction, the related transactions or other matters attributable to EMRISE or any person acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements above. EMRISE does not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statement, whether written or oral, relating to the matters discussed in this document.

Table of Contents

PROPOSAL 1

APPROVAL OF STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT AND TRANSACTION

Summary of the Transaction

On June 7, 2010, Buyer, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Seller entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the Purchase Agreement) relating to the sale of all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of ACC and all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of CCI. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Seller will sell to Buyer (a) all of the outstanding shares of common stock of CCI, which currently owns 80% of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of ACC and (b) the remaining 20% of the issued and outstanding shares of ACC, which are currently owned by Seller. In exchange, Buyer agrees to pay Seller \$20 million in cash at closing, subject to a potential net working capital adjustment. An amount equal to \$1 million will be placed in an escrow account to satisfy any indemnification claims. The Transaction is expected to close shortly after the meeting of stockholders if the stockholders approve the Transaction. EMRISE intends to use a significant portion of the proceeds to pay off the obligations under its senior credit facility and approximately half of the approximately \$6.6 million debt owed to the previous shareholders of ACC, which amounts are owed in connection with the deferred purchase price obligations, contingent notes and other related payments. If the Transaction does not close on a timely basis, EMRISE s senior Lender could accelerate the debt and exercise its rights and remedies under the Credit Agreement. Stockholders of the Company will not receive any consideration as a result of the Transaction. The Transaction, when consummated, will constitute the sale of substantially all of the assets of the Company.

The Parties to the Transaction

EMRISE Corporation (EMRISE or the Company)

EMRISE, a Delaware corporation, is the ultimate parent corporation to Seller, CCI and ACC. EMRISE, through its direct and indirect subsidiaries, designs, manufactures and markets electronic devices, sub-systems and equipment for aerospace, defense, industrial and communications markets. EMRISE may be reached at its corporate headquarters by mail at 611 Industrial Way, Eatontown, New Jersey 07224 or by telephone at (732) 389-0355.

EMRISE Electronics Corporation (EEC or the Seller)

Seller, a Delaware corporation, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of EMRISE which holds ownership interest in certain other entities that design, manufacture and market electronic devices, sub-systems and equipment for aerospace, defense, industrial and communications markets. Specifically, Seller is the owner of 20% of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of ACC. Seller may be reached by mail at 611 Industrial Way, Eatontown, New Jersey 07224 or by telephone at (732) 389-0355.

Custom Components, Inc. (CCI)

CCI is a the wholly-owned subsidiary of Seller. CCI has no business operations and its only asset is the ownership of 80% of the outstanding shares of common stock of Advanced Control Components, Inc. CCI may be reached by mail at 611 Industrial Way, Eatontown, New Jersey 07224 or by telephone at (732) 389-0355.

Table of Contents

Advanced Control Components, Inc. (ACC)

Advanced Control Components, Inc., a New Jersey corporation, engages in the design, manufacture and market electronic devices, sub-systems and equipment for aerospace, defense, industrial and communications markets. ACC may be reached by mail at 611 Industrial Way, Eatontown, New Jersey 07224 or by telephone at (732) 460-0212.

Aeroflex Incorporation (the Buyer)

Buyer, a Delaware corporation, is a worldwide provider of highly specialized test and measurement equipment and microelectronic solutions. Buyer may be reached by mail at 35 South Service Road, P.O. Box 6022, Plainview, New York 11803 or by telephone at (516) 694-6700.

Background of the Transaction

In August 2008, EMRISE acquired CCI and ACC pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement, which provided for certain deferred (earn-out) and contingent payments, which were evidenced by subordinated, secured notes (the Seller Notes) issued to the prior owners of ACC and CCI (the Seller Noteholders) that were later amended to add additional transaction-related payments.

EMRISE (including its subsidiaries), are parties to a Credit Agreement, as amended, with its lender, GVEC Resource IV Inc. (the Lender), an affiliate of Private Equity Management Group LLC (PEM), originally entered into in November 2007. As of June 1, 2010, the outstanding principal balance owed to the Lender for the term loans was \$7.6 million and the balance owed on the revolving line of credit was approximately \$4.9 million, which fluctuates daily depending on cash collections and advances. In addition, approximately \$360,000 in accrued interest and fees were outstanding on the term loans and revolver as of the same date. The Credit Agreement matures on July 16, 2010.

In late April 2009, the SEC brought charges against the Lender, its affiliate PEM and certain of its principals, alleging violations of the federal securities laws, including fraud and misrepresentation. Such charges never alleged that EMRISE was involved or implicated in any way in such alleged fraud and misrepresentations. The SEC was successful in having a receiver appointed for PEM and its affiliated entities, including the Lender.

Working capital from continuing operations was negatively impacted in 2009 and 2010 due to reclassification of the Company s debt from long term to short term in 2009 based on an acceleration of the maturity date under the Credit Agreement to July 16, 2010 and due to the accrual of additional contingent cash consideration associated with ACC related earn-out payments and the Seller Notes. The reclassification of debt and acceleration of the maturity date on the credit facility resulted in a negative working capital position, prompted EMRISE to make certain liquidity disclosures and resulted in management including a statement that there was substantial doubt for the Company to continue as a going concern in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2009, reported in November 2009. These results and statements caused concern among certain credit reporting agencies and with certain of the Company s vendors and customers. These concerns, coupled with higher planned shipments to be made in the fourth quarter of 2009, and limits on the Company s ability to borrow additional funds beyond its current credit facility resulted in supply interruptions from vendors and corresponding delays in Company shipments during the

fourth quarter of 2009.

Based on the global economic crisis, market conditions, the impact of the circumstances described above and related factors, and the Company s financial results at the time, including working capital from continuing operations, the Company was not able to raise capital through an equity issuance

31

Table of Contents

as was required by December 31, 2009 under the Credit Agreement. In addition, based on its operating results at the time, the Company was concerned that it would not be in compliance with certain financial covenants in the Credit Agreement as of the end of the fiscal year on December 31, 2009. The Company entered into negotiations with the Lender in December 2009 regarding these circumstances, strategies to pay the debt by the maturity date and a potential forbearance on the anticipated defaults. The Lender granted short term forbearance on these potential defaults while the discussions continued into January 2010.

On January 25, 2010, the Company and the Lender agreed to an Amendment to the Credit Agreement that had the effect of a long-term forbearance. Under the Amendment, most of the financial covenants and the obligation to raise capital in an equity offering were eliminated and EMRISE agreed to sell certain assets, including ACC, and to use a significant portion of the proceeds of such sales to pay off the obligations owed to the Lender. The Company s primary purpose in engaging in this Transaction is to comply with the Credit Agreement and pay off its obligations owed to the Lender. In addition, the Company intends to pay approximately half of the approximately \$6.6 million debt owed to Seller Noteholders and one Noteholder will accept \$450,000 worth of Company common stock as partial payment on his contingent note, which will leave a balance owed to Seller Noteholders of approximately \$2.85 million. Subject to certain terms and conditions and in connection with the Transaction, the Lender has agreed to waive all accrued fees, which totaled approximately \$240,000 as of June 1, 2010, and to accept a note in the principal amount of \$1.0 million (which equals 8% of the \$12.5 million total debt outstanding as of June 1, 2010). The note will be payable interest only on a monthly basis for the first 17 months, with equal monthly payments of principal plus interest due thereafter through maturity. The note will be payable at a rate of 12.5% per annum during the first 12 months and 15.5% per annum thereafter until paid in full, plus any applicable default rate or late fees. If the Transaction is not consummated on a timely basis, the Lender could accelerate the debt and exercise its rights and remedies under the Credit Agreement.

With the support of its investment banker, Boenning & Scattergood, Inc., EMRISE sold RO Associates in March 2010. We also went on to develop and execute on an auction process to sell ACC with the support of our investment banker. That process included sending a short, no names teaser to approximately 200 potential buyers, including both strategic buyers and financial buyers. Of this group, approximately 50 potential buyers signed non-disclosure agreements and received more detailed information about ACC. Teasers and more detailed confidential memorandums were sent out during January and February, 2010 and the management presentations were conducted on various days from March 15 to March 25, 2010. After reviewing these materials and receiving preliminary indications of interest, ten potential buyers were selected to participate in management presentations at ACC s offices and facility in March 2010. On March 26, 2010, the potential buyers interested in proceeding with a transaction submitted bid proposals, including a mark up of a draft stock purchase agreement. At that time, four proposals were submitted. The three potential buyers with offers that presented the most value were contacted by Boenning regarding certain aspects of their proposals.

After this process, the Company entered into two, successive limited exclusive periods with two potential buyers, each of whom conducted detailed financial, operational and legal due diligence, and negotiations of definitive stock purchase agreements were conducted. After the termination of the second exclusivity period on May 15, 2010, the Company briefly discussed a potential transaction with another potential buyer that sent an unsolicited proposal. At the same time, the Lender indicated its deteriorating belief that a deal could close in time to pay the debt by maturity and that it was considering selling the debt at a discount into the distressed debt market. The Company considered a potential recapitalization of the Company. However, the Company determined that pursuing such a transaction would put the Company at risk of defaulting on the Credit Agreement milestones and/or the Lender selling the debt to unfriendly distressed debt buyers.

Table of Contents

At the same time, Aeroflex submitted a revised proposal, a second potential buyer submitted a verbal offer with a reduced purchase price and a third potential buyer opted not to submit a new offer. The Company then entered into a new exclusivity with Aeroflex at 5:00 p.m. on May 21, 2010, negotiated the definitive agreement and facilitated Aeroflex s final due diligence activities. At the same time, EMRISE negotiated with the holders of the Seller Notes to allow approximately half of the debt owed under the Seller Notes to remain outstanding and with the Lender regarding a discount to par and waiver of the accrued fees.

On June 7, 2010, Buyer and Seller entered into a Purchase Agreement relating to the sale of all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of ACC and all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of CCI. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Seller will sell to Buyer (a) all of the outstanding shares of common stock of CCI, which currently owns 80% of the issued and outstanding shares of ACC and (b) the remaining 20% of the issued and outstanding shares of ACC, which are currently owned by Seller. In exchange, Buyer agreed to pay Seller \$20 million in cash at closing, subject to a potential net working capital adjustment. An amount equal to \$1 million will be placed in an escrow account to satisfy any indemnification claims. The Transaction is expected to close shortly after the meeting of stockholders if the stockholders approve the Transaction.

If the Transaction is approved by the stockholders, approximately \$11.8 million of the obligations owed to the Lender under the Credit Agreement will be paid in full directly out of the purchase price and the Lender will issue a 24 month term note for \$1 million at an annual interest rate of 12.5% for the first 12 months and 15.5% for months 13 through maturity. Payments on the note will be interest only for the first 17 months with equal monthly payments in the amount of approximately \$143,000 thereafter through maturity. It should be noted that the \$11.8 million obligation to be paid to the Lender at the closing of the Transaction could be reduced to as low as \$8.6 million or increased to as much as \$12.7 million, depending on the actual balance outstanding on the revolver at the time of the closing of the Transaction. In addition, the Company intends to pay approximately half of the approximately \$6.6 million debt owed to the Seller Noteholders and one Noteholder will accept \$450,000 worth of Company common stock as partial payment on his contingent note. This will leave EMRISE with approximately \$2.85 million of debt remaining outstanding under the Seller Notes, the maturity of which will be extended to three years from the closing date of the Transaction, with current quarterly interest payments at prime plus 1% and quarterly principal payments of approximately \$237,000 beginning on July 2, 2012 with a balloon payment of principal on the maturity date of approximately \$1.9 million.

Our Reasons for the Transaction

Our Board of Directors, at its meeting held on June 6, 2010, considered the Purchase Agreement and determined it to be fair to, advisable and in the best interests of our Company and our stockholders. In evaluating the Transaction, our board of directors consulted with management, as well as our legal and financial advisors, and considered a number of factors. In addition, our Board of Directors had many discussions about the potential sale of ACC and many of the factors listed below at numerous other board meetings held in the weeks and months leading up to its June 6th meeting. Listed below are the material factors that our Board of Directors considered in its decision:

- the financial terms of the Transaction:
- its review of our business, operations, financial condition and earnings on an historical and a prospective basis with respect to the Company and ACC, as a division of the Company;

Table of Contents

• the impending maturity date and amount of the debt owed to its Lender as well as to the Seller Noteholders and the sources from which these debts could be paid;
• the possible alternatives to the proposed Transaction, including continuing to operate our Company with ACC and CCI selling other assets of the Company, a recapitalization of the Company, refinancing of the debt, or equity raise, and the risks associated with such alternatives, including particularly whether an alternative could be successfully closed on a timely basis, if at all;
• limited access to capital and resources to pay our debt to the Lender under the Credit Agreement when due, and to operate or expand our business;
• the process through which our Company, with the assistance of our financial advisor, engaged in or sought to learn and facilitate the interest of potential buyers and then engage in discussions with potential buyers;
• the evaluation by our Board of Directors of the risks and benefits from the proposed Transaction;
• changes in the economic, industry or political climate that may negatively impact demand for our future products of our continuing operations;
• the financial presentations of Boenning , including the opinion, dated June 6, 2010, to our Board of Directors as to the fairness, from a financial point of view and as of the date of the opinion, of the proposed sale of all of the issued and outstanding shares of CCI and ACC, as more fully described under the caption Fairness Opinion of Boenning beginning on page 35;
• the terms of the Purchase Agreement;
• the regulatory, corporate and other approvals required in connection with the Transaction and the likelihood that such approvals would be received without unacceptable conditions; and
• the fact that some of our executive officers may have certain interests relating to their employment agreements, in connection with the Transaction, that are in addition to their interests as stockholders, including as a result of employment and compensation arrangements with us and the manner in which they would be affected by the Transaction. See Interests of the Company s Directors and Executive Officers in the Transaction beginning on page 42.

The foregoing discussion of the factors considered by our Board of Directors is not intended to be exhaustive, but, rather, includes the material factors considered by our Board of Directors. In reaching its decision to approve the Purchase Agreement, the Transaction and the other transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, our Board of Directors did not quantify or assign any relative weights to the factors considered, and individual directors may have given different weights to different factors. Our Board of Directors considered all these factors as a whole, and overall considered the factors to be favorable to, and supportive of, its determination.

Table of Contents
Fairness of the Transaction
Fairness Opinion of Boenning
On June 6, 2010, Boenning rendered its oral opinion to the Board of Directors of EMRISE (which was subsequently confirmed in writing by delivery of Boenning s written opinion dated June 6, 2010) to the effect that, subject to the assumptions, qualifications and limitations set forth therein, as of June 6, 2010, the consideration offered pursuant to the Purchase Agreement is fair, from a financial point of view, to EMRISE.
Boenning s opinion was directed to the Board of Directors of EMRISE and only addressed the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the consideration to be received by EMRISE in the Transaction pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, and did not address any other aspects or implications of the Transaction. The summary of Boenning s opinion in this proxy statement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of its written opinion, which is included as Annex B to this proxy statement and sets forth the procedures followed, assumptions made, qualifications and limitations on the review undertaken and other matters considered by Boenning in preparing its opinion. However, neither Boenning s written opinion nor the summary of its opinion and the related analyses set forth in this proxy statement are intended to be, and do not constitute, advice or a recommendation to any stockholder as to how such stockholder should act or vote with respect to any matter relating to the Transaction.
In arriving at its opinion, Boenning:
• reviewed a draft of the Purchase Agreement dated June 7, 2010;
• reviewed certain internal financial analyses, historical financials, financial forecasts, reports, operating performance and other information we deemed relevant concerning ACC and CCI, all of which was provided to us by, or on behalf of, the management of EMRISE;
 held discussions with certain members of the management of EMRISE, CCI and ACC concerning the historical and current business operations, financial condition and prospects of EMRISE, CCI and ACC and such other matters Boenning deemed relevant;
• analyzed certain financial and industry data, stock market and other publicly available information relating to the businesses of other companies whose operations we considered relevant in evaluating those of CCI and ACC and considering, to the extent publicly available, the financial terms of certain other transactions which Boenning deemed relevant in evaluating the Transaction; and
• conducted such other financial analyses, studies and investigations as Boenning deemed appropriate.

With the consent of EMRISE, Boenning relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, (a) the accuracy and completeness of all data, material and other information furnished, or otherwise made available, to it, discussed with or reviewed by it, or publicly available, and did not assume any responsibility with respect to such data, material and other information, (b) there had been no change in the business, assets, liabilities, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or prospects of ACC since the date of the most recent financial statements provided to it that would be material to its analyses or the opinion, (c) there was no information or any facts that would make any of the information reviewed by it incomplete or misleading, (d) the representations and warranties of all parties to the Purchase Agreement were true and correct, (e) each party to the Purchase Agreement would fully and

Table of Contents

timely perform all of the covenants and agreements required to be performed by such party, (f) all conditions to the consummation of the Transaction would be satisfied without waiver thereof, (g) the Purchase Agreement would be consummated in a timely manner in accordance with the terms described in the Purchase Agreement, without any amendments or modifications thereto, (h) the Transaction would be consummated in a manner that complies in all respects with all applicable federal and state statutes, rules and regulations, (i) all governmental, regulatory, and other consents and approvals necessary for the consummation of the Transaction would be obtained and that no delay, limitations, restrictions or conditions would be imposed or amendments, modifications or waivers made that would have an effect on EMRISE that would be material to Boenning s analyses or its opinion and (j) that the final form of the Purchase Agreement would not differ from the draft of the Purchase Agreement identified above in any respect material to its analyses.

Furthermore, in connection with Boenning s opinion, Boenning was not requested to make, and did not make, any physical inspection or independent appraisal or evaluation of any of the assets, properties or liabilities (fixed, contingent, derivative, off-balance-sheet or otherwise) of CCI, ACC or any other party, nor was Boenning provided with any such appraisal or evaluation. Boenning did not estimate, and expressed no opinion regarding, the liquidation value of any entity or business. Boenning did not undertake independent analysis of any potential or actual litigation, regulatory action, possible unasserted claims or other contingent liabilities, to which EMRISE, CCI or ACC was or may be a party or was or may be subject, or of any governmental investigation of any possible unasserted claims or other contingent liabilities to which EMRISE was or may be a party or is or may be subject.

Boenning s opinion is necessarily based on financial, economic, market and other conditions as in effect on, and the information made available to it as of, the date of its opinion. Boenning did not undertake, and is under no obligation, to update, revise, reaffirm or withdraw its opinion, or otherwise comment on or consider events occurring after the date of its opinion.

Boenning s opinion was furnished for the use and benefit of the Board of Directors of EMRISE (solely in its capacity as such) in connection with its consideration of the Transaction and may not be used for any other purpose without Boenning s prior written consent. Boenning s opinion should not be construed as creating any fiduciary duty on Boenning s part to any party. Boenning s opinion is not intended to be, and does not constitute, a recommendation to the Board of Directors of EMRISE, EMRISE, any stockholder of EMRISE or any other person as to how to act or vote with respect to any matter relating to the Transaction.

Boenning s opinion only addresses the fairness to EMRISE, from a financial point of view, of the consideration and does not address any other aspect or implication of the Transaction or any agreement, arrangement or understanding entered into in connection therewith or otherwise including, without limitation: (i) the underlying business decision of EMRISE or any other party to proceed with the Transaction, (ii) the terms of any arrangements, understandings, agreements or documents related to, or the form or any other portion or aspect of, the Transaction or otherwise (other than the consideration to the extent expressly specified herein) and whether such terms were the best attainable under the circumstances, (iii) the fairness of any portion or aspect of the Transaction to the holders of any class of securities, creditors or other constituencies of EMRISE, or to any other party, (iv) the relative merits of the Transaction as compared to any alternative business strategies that might exist for EMRISE, CCI and/or ACC or the effect of any other transaction in which EMRISE, CCI and/or ACC might engage, (v) the solvency, creditworthiness or fair value of EMRISE, CCI and/or ACC or any other party to the Transaction, or any of such their respective assets, under any applicable laws relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance or similar matters, or (vii) the fairness, financial or otherwise, of the amount, nature or any other aspect of any consideration received by EMRISE s, CCI s and/or ACC s officers, directors or employees or any class of such persons relative to the consideration to be received

Table of Contents

by the shareholders of ACC and CCI in the Transaction, if any, or with respect to the fairness of such compensation. Furthermore, no opinion, counsel or interpretation is intended in matters that require legal, regulatory, accounting, insurance, tax or other similar professional advice. It is assumed that such opinions, counsel or interpretations have been or will be obtained from the appropriate professional sources. Furthermore, Boenning relied, with the consent of EMRISE, on the assessments by EMRISE and its advisors, as to all legal, regulatory, accounting, insurance and tax matters with respect to EMRISE and the Transaction. The issuance of this opinion was approved by a committee authorized to approve opinions of this nature.

In preparing its opinion to the Board of Directors of EMRISE, Boenning performed a variety of analyses, including those described below. The summary of Boenning s valuation analyses described below is not a complete description of the analyses underlying Boenning s opinion. The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex process involving various quantitative and qualitative judgments and determinations with respect to the financial, comparative and other analytic methods employed and the adaptation and application of those methods to the unique facts and circumstances presented. As a consequence, neither Boenning s opinion nor the analyses underlying its opinion are readily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. Boenning arrived at its opinion based on the results of all analyses undertaken by it and assessed as a whole and did not draw, in isolation, conclusions from or with regard to any individual analysis, analytic method or factor. Accordingly, Boenning believes that its analyses must be considered as a whole and that selecting portions of its analyses, analytic methods and factors, without considering all analyses and factors or the narrative description of the analyses, could create a misleading or incomplete view of the processes underlying its analyses and opinion.

In performing its analyses, Boenning considered business, economic, industry and market conditions, financial and otherwise, and other matters as they existed on, and could be evaluated as of, the date of its opinion. No company, transaction or business used in Boenning s analyses for comparative purposes is identical to ACC or the Transaction. While the results of each analysis were taken into account in reaching its overall conclusion with respect to fairness, Boenning did not make separate or quantifiable judgments regarding individual analyses. In addition, any analyses relating to the value of assets, businesses or securities do not purport to be appraisals or to reflect the prices at which businesses or securities actually may be sold, which may depend on a variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control and the control of Boenning. Much of the information used in, and accordingly the results of, Boenning s analyses are inherently subject to substantial uncertainty.

The following is a summary of the material valuation analyses performed in connection with the preparation of Boenning s opinion rendered to the Board of Directors of EMRISE on June 6, 2010. The analyses summarized below include information presented in tabular format. The tables alone do not constitute a complete description of the analyses. Considering the data in the tables below without considering the full narrative description of the analyses, as well as the methodologies underlying and the assumptions, qualifications and limitations affecting each analysis, could create a misleading or incomplete view of Boenning s analyses.

Comparable Company Analysis

Boenning reviewed financial and stock market information of the Company and the following six selected publicly traded companies with similar products, similar operating and financial characteristics and servicing similar markets:

- Anaren Inc.
- Applied Signal Technology

Table of Contents

- Herley Industries Inc.
- Micronetics Inc.
- Spectrum Control Inc.

Boenning reviewed, among other things, enterprise values of the selected companies, calculated as fully-diluted equity value based on closing stock prices on June 1, 2010, plus debt, minority interest and preferred stock, less cash and equivalents, as a multiple of latest 12 months, calendar year 2010 estimated and calendar year 2011 estimated revenue. Estimated financial data of the selected companies were based on publicly available research analysts estimates. Estimated financial data of ACC were based on estimates of EMRISE s management.

Although the selected companies were used for comparison purposes, none of those companies is directly comparable to the Company. Accordingly, an analysis of the results of such a comparison is not purely mathematical, but instead involves complex considerations and judgments concerning differences in historical and projected financial and operating characteristics of the selected companies and other factors that could affect the public trading value of the selected companies or ACC.

Comparable Transactions Analysis

Boenning reviewed the transaction values of the following ten transactions involving similar businesses with disclosed financial metrics. Due to global asset valuation adjustments over the course of 2008, Boenning only used 2008-2010 precedents:

Acquiror Target

Francisco Partners Management	EF Johnson Technologies, Inc.
Comtech Telecommunications Corp.	CPI International, Inc.
Microsemi Corp.	White Electronic Designs Corp.
Chemring Group plc	Allied Defense Group Inc.
Crane Co.	Merrimac Industries Inc.
Microsemi Corp.	Endwave Defense Systems, Inc.
Astronics Corp.	DME Corporation
Teledyne Limited	Filtronic Defense Ltd.
Cobham Defense Electronic Systems	M/A-Com, Inc.
Comtech Telecommunications Corp.	Radyne Corp.

Boenning reviewed, among other things, transaction values in the selected transactions, calculated as the purchase prices paid for the target companies, as a multiple of revenue. Financial data of the selected transactions were based on publicly available information at the time of announcement of the relevant transaction. Financial data of ACC were based on publicly available information.

Although the selected transactions were used for comparison purposes, none of those transactions is directly comparable to the merger and none of the companies in those transactions is directly comparable to ACC. Accordingly, an analysis of the results of such a comparison is not purely mathematical, but instead involves complex considerations and judgments concerning differences in historical financial and operating characteristics of the companies involved and other factors that could affect the acquisition value of such companies or ACC.

Table of Contents

Terms of Engagement; Other Matters

Boenning is regularly engaged to render financial opinions in connection with mergers and acquisitions, financial restructurings, tax matters, ESOP and ERISA matters, corporate planning and for other purposes. Boenning has also acted as financial advisor to EMRISE in connection with, and has participated in certain of the negotiations leading to, the Transaction and certain related transactions and will receive an aggregate fee of \$ for such services, a substantial portion of which is contingent upon the consummation of the Transaction. In addition, Boenning is entitled to receive a fee of \$250,000 for rendering its opinion, which is not contingent upon the successful completion of the Transaction. EMRISE has agreed to reimburse certain of Boenning s expenses and to indemnify Boenning and certain related parties for certain potential liabilities arising out of its engagement.

Boenning has in the past, including over the last two years, provided and is currently providing investment banking, financial advisory and other financial services to EMRISE, for which Boenning has received, and may receive, compensation, including, among other things, having provided financial advisory services to EMRISE in connection with the sale of RO Associates. Boenning and certain of its affiliates may provide investment banking, financial advisory and other financial services to EMRISE, Aeroflex, other participants in the Transaction or certain of their respective affiliates in the future, for which Boenning and such affiliates may receive compensation.

Certain Effects of the Transaction

If the Purchase Agreement is approved and adopted by the Company s stockholders and certain other conditions to the closing of the Transaction are satisfied, ACC will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Buyer. EEC and EMRISE will use a majority of the net proceeds to pay the obligations to its Lender under the Credit Agreement which will satisfy the obligations owed to Lender. Subject to certain terms and conditions and in connection with the Transaction, the Lender has agreed to waive all accrued fees, which totaled approximately \$240,000 as of June 1, 2010, and to accept a note in the principal amount of \$1.0 million (which equals 8% of the \$12.5 million total debt outstanding as of June 1, 2010). The note will be payable interest only on a monthly basis for the first 17 months, with equal monthly payments of principal plus interest due thereafter through maturity. The note will be payable at a rate of 12.5% per annum during the first 12 months and 15.5% per annum thereafter until paid in full, plus any applicable default rate or late fees. The Company will use a portion of the proceeds to pay approximately half of the approximately \$6.6 million debt owed to the holders of the Seller Notes and one Noteholder will accept \$450,000 worth of Company common stock as partial payment on his contingent note, which will leave a balance owed to Seller Noteholders of approximately \$2.85 million.

The Transaction will not effect the rights granted by nor the validity of stockholders common stock in EMRISE.

Table of Contents

NYSE Arca, Inc. Compliance

On May 24, 2010, EMRISE received notice from the staff of the NYSE Arca, Inc. (the NYSE Arca) that the Company was no longer in compliance with the minimum total net tangible assets and net worth amounts required for continued listing on the NYSE Arca under NYSE Arca Equities Rule 5.5(h)(3). The Company no longer complies with such continued listing requirements because it had total net tangible assets of less than \$500,000 and net worth of less than \$2 million at both December 31, 2009 and March 31, 2010. Subsequent to the Transaction, EMRISE believes it will be in compliance with these requirements.

On January 5, 2010, the Company received a similar notice that it was no longer in compliance with the minimum \$1.00 per share price required for continued listing on the NYSE Arca under NYSE Arca Equities Rule 5.5(h)(4). On January 11, 2010, the Company notified the staff of the NYSE Arca of its intent to cure such deficiency by selling certain assets of the Company and retiring substantially all of its debt, including debt to the Company s current lender and other debtholders. The NYSE Arca accepted such request and plan on March 1, 2010 and the Company has already implemented certain of the steps outlined in that plan. After our announcement of acceptance of the plan and the initial implementation of such steps, the price of our common stock has increased. With the improvements to our balance sheet, we are hopeful that we will be able to come into compliance with the continued listing requirement of NYSE Arca Equities Rule 5.5(h)(4), but there can be no assurance that we will be able to meet such continued listing requirements.

Table	αf	Contents

Strategy for Expanding Business

EMRISE, post the ACC divestiture, will primarily pursue two core strategies. The first is to capitalize on the Company s edge network timing and synchronization technology through both organic and strategic transaction based growth. The second is to refocus efforts to drive strong growth and cash flow contribution from its global European based Aerospace & Defense business units, especially with the anticipation of an improved economy providing expected growth to the European military markets. We believe a narrow focus on these two strategies, combined with the significantly reduced debt levels this transaction provides us, will provide us with the best chance of maximizing value for our stockholders.

The Communications Equipment and Edge Networking Business

The Company s edge network and central office timing technology, managed through its CXR Larus business in the United States, provides EMRISE a highly differentiated business with marketable products in a high growth industry. CXR Larus designs and develops timing and synchronization systems that are essential for the efficient operation of the world s digital telecommunication infrastructure. CXR Larus is one among a small select group of manufacturers with the technical resources and knowledge to produce these complex systems. With the growing proliferation of streaming video and ever expanding needs of homeland security, the Company believes these specialized robust timing technologies will enjoy strong growth. The Company believes the Larus technology has already been validated in the market as evidenced by recent customer wins with a number of key U.S. carriers and a large U.S. Federal agency.

The Company believes that the true market opportunity available with its timing and synchronization technology could be much larger if it could overcome some specific challenges. In particular, the Company believes that a significant portion of the business opportunities in this space exist outside the United States, but Larus, due primarily to its size and resources, has only had limited success in penetrating these international markets. In addition, while the Company believes the Larus technology has been validated through recent customer installations, large networking organizations are always cautious of partnering with smaller firms due to the perceived risk of such companies. Accordingly, EMRISE believes that if it can overcome these two issues through a possible strategic transaction, then significant growth could follow.

Electronic Devices and the U.S. and European Aerospace and Defense Business

EMRISE believes the industry is ripe for consolidation, including consolidation that can deliver the scale needed to drive much larger revenue growth in these markets and also possibly tap into specific large international markets. The Company has identified a target list of potential, complementary partners and has already had preliminary discussions with some of those potential partners. Successfully joining with other players in this field will be a core focus going forward to drive growth and cash flow in this segment.

Even though our remaining Aerospace and Defense businesses are based in the U.K., more than 60 percent of their business comes from customers in the U.S. and is denominated in U.S. dollars. The list of customers for this business includes L3 Communications, BAE Systems, GE Aviation, General Dynamics, Lockheed Martin, Raytheon, Panasonic Avionics, ITT, Rockwell Collins, Thales, Siemens, EDS, Alcatel, MBDA Missile Systems, EADS, and a number of other such customers in Europe, Asia and North America.

The Company s core strategic focus for its electronic devices business going forward is to organically drive growth and cash flow contributions from its global European-based aerospace and

Table of Contents

defense divisions. While the U.S. military markets have generally remained robust, the European military markets have experienced slower growth in 2010, primarily due to the economic downturn and timing of certain long term contracts. However, EMRISE believes these businesses will enjoy stronger growth in the coming years, especially since the Eurofighter and other such long term programs are anticipated to grow in comparison to recent history. EMRISE also anticipates that the in-flight entertainment market in the U.S. and Europe will expand as the economy improves. EMRISE believes that by focusing its U.K. divisions in these U.S. and European markets, capitalizing on their strong brand name, validated technology and high quality customer base, they can deliver solid organic growth and deliver robust profit contributions.

EMRISE has differentiated and highly validated technology platforms, strong engineering and management teams, and as a result of the anticipated Transaction, a much improved balance sheet due to the lower debt levels resulting from the anticipated pay down of debt. As a result, the Company expects to be able to better support its working capital and growth needs, and to facilitate strategic transactions. EMRISE believes that it will now be well focused on the execution of its defined strategic plan, which the Company anticipates will provide the best chance of maximizing value for stockholders following the sale of ACC.

While these two core strategies will be the focus of the Company, EMRISE will stay vigilant with regard to other possibilities to improve its financial condition and grow the Company. For example, the Company will continue to monitor the market for conditions that might allow for a successful equity raise or a recapitalization transaction. Many factors could prevent the Company from successfully executing on these strategies. Subsequent to the sale of ACC, the Company anticipates a negative cash flow from its operations. If the Company is not able to reverse this trend and cannot increase revenue and EBITDA over the near term, the Company may be forced to sell additional assets to further pay down debt or to liquidate the Company.

Interests of the Company s Directors and Executive Officers in the Transaction

No director, director nominee or executive officer has a substantial interest, whether direct or indirect, in the Transaction. In connection with the Transaction, the Company is amending the employment arrangements with its three executive officers. Under the current employment arrangement with the executives, the executives were entitled to a lump sum payment equal to a multiple of their base salary (grossed up for taxes) in the event of a change in control (whether or not their employment was terminated and whether or not they received severance). The Transaction falls within the definition of change in control and therefore would have triggered aggregate payments well in excess of \$3 million. In addition, after closing the Transaction, the Company revenues will be materially reduced, which follows the recent disposition of other material assets of the Company. The executives and the Compensation Committee worked together closely to fashion an arrangement that provided, on the one hand, a proper incentive to the executives to close a Transaction, to reward them for the dedication required to close such a major Transaction as well as the other divestitures closed in the recent history of the Company, and to compensate them for releasing the right to receive these change in control payments, while balancing carefully on the other hand the reduced need for executive management of the smaller operations and the Company s anticipated cash needs. As further described herein, based on modified arrangements agreed to by the Company and the executives, upon the earlier of the closing of the Transaction or the first of any other change in control event, (a) Mr. Oliva will receive a lump sum payment of \$85,000 and additional monthly payments for four months aggregating \$135,000 and (b) Mr. Jefferies will receive a lump sum payment of \$80,000 and additional monthly payments for four months aggregating \$105,000. Upon the closing of the Transaction, the role of a separate chief financial officer may be eliminated and the employment of Mr. Donovan may be terminated and severance would be paid in the approximate amount of \$370,000. The aggregate payments to be made to the executives based on the closing of the Transaction

Table of Contents

or the first of any other change in control event is approximately \$775,000 which is a fraction of the potential payout well in excess of \$3 million if no modifications had been agreed to. The Company intends to promote current members of its finance team to meet the finance and accounting needs of the Company going forward. Mr. Jefferies is also entitled to receive retention payments. Please see Executive Compensation and Related Information for a full description of these payments, the employment arrangement modifications and the consideration for the same.

Fees and Expenses

Whether or not the Transaction is completed, in general, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Transaction will be paid by the party incurring those fees and expenses. Fees and expenses incurred or to be incurred by EMRISE in connection with the merger are estimated at this time to be as follows:

Description	Amount (In thousands)
Legal fees and expenses	\$
Financial advisory fee and expenses	
Printing, proxy solicitation and mailing costs	
Filing fees	
Miscellaneous	
Total	\$

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences

In connection with the Transaction, EMRISE expects that it will recognize taxable losses in an amount of the difference of EMRISE s tax basis for the shares of CCI and ACC it is selling to Buyer over the sales price paid by Buyer. EMRISE anticipates that it will generate capital loss carry forwards at a Federal and state level on any such losses that it recognizes from the Transaction. The stockholders of EMRISE will not personally owe any taxes nor will they receive any tax benefits as a result of the Transaction.

Regulatory Approvals

Under the Purchase Agreement, Seller is required to make and comply with all filing requirements of the New Jersey Industrial Site Recovery Act, N.J.S.A. 13:1K-6 et. seq., including, without limitation, the General Information Notice, with respect to its New Jersey Properties.

Summary of the Stock Purchase Agreement

The summary of the terms of the Purchase Agreement set forth below and elsewhere in this proxy statement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Purchase Agreement, a copy of which is attached to this proxy statement as <u>Annex A</u> and which we incorporate by reference into this document. We encourage you to read carefully the Purchase Agreement in its entirety.

The Purchase Agreement has been included to provide investors and stockholders with information regarding its terms. It is not intended to provide any other factual information about ACC, Seller, CCI, Buyer or their respective subsidiaries or affiliates.

43

Table of Contents

As described in further detail below under Representations and Warranties, the Purchase Agreement contains representations and warranties by Seller, on the one hand, and by Buyer, on the other hand, made solely for the benefit of the other and should not be relied on by any persons as characterizations of the actual state of facts about such parties to the Purchase Agreement at the time they were made or otherwise.

Purchase and Sale of ACC Common Stock

In exchange for 100% of the common stock of ACC and CCI, Buyer has agreed to pay Seller \$20 million in cash. Seller shall create an escrow account for the payment of indemnification claims in the amount of \$1 million. The purchase price may also be adjusted based on the level of net working capital of ACC at Closing.

Representations and Warranties

The Purchase Agreement contains representations and warranties made by Seller to Buyer, and representations and warranties made by Seller to Buyer. These representations and warranties (and the assertions embodied therein) have generally been made for purposes of allocating risk to one of the parties if those statements prove to be inaccurate, rather than for the purpose of establishing matters as facts and may be subject to important qualifications and limitations agreed by the parties in connection with negotiating its terms. Certain representations and warranties in the Purchase Agreement were made as of a specified date, may be subject to a contractual standard of materiality different from what might be viewed as material to stockholders, or may have been used for the purpose of allocating risk between Buyer, on the one hand, and Seller, on the other hand. In addition, information concerning the subject matter of the representations and warranties may change after the date of the Purchase Agreement, which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in the Company s public disclosures. The representations and warranties contained in the Purchase Agreement may or may not have been accurate as of the date they were made and we make no assertion in this proxy statement that they are accurate as of the date of this proxy statement.

The representations and warranties made by Seller, each of which is subject, in some cases, to specified exceptions and qualifications, relate to, among other things:

- its organization, qualification to do business, good standing and corporate power and authority to enter into the Purchase Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement;
- authorization of the execution, delivery and performance of the Purchase Agreement;
- consents and approvals of governmental entities as a result of the Transaction;

•	the capitalization of CCI and ACC;
• a result of entering into	the absence of any violation of or conflict with their organizational documents, applicable law or certain agreements as the Purchase Agreement and consummating the Transaction;
•	the absence of certain changes, events or litigation;
•	its financial statements, books and records, operations, material contracts, government contracts and prior activities;
	44

Table of Contents

•	the title and condition of its assets and its inventories;
•	taxes and accounts receivable;
•	matters relating to environmental issues, labor and employee benefits;
•	product warranties, defects and liabilities;
•	customers, suppliers and backlog data;
•	the approval of the Lender and the freedom from indebtedness at the closing of the Transaction; and
•	various other items relating to Seller, CCI and ACC.
	stomary representations and warranties in the Purchase Agreement, which are subject, in some cases, to specified ations. Buyer s representations and warranties relate to, among other things:
• consummate the transac	its organization, good standing and corporate power and authority to enter into the Purchase Agreement and to etions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement;
• distribute the shares of	its intent to enter into the Purchase Agreement for its own account, for investment and without any view to resell or ACC;
•	consents and approvals of governmental entities as a result of the merger;
• a result of entering into	the absence of any violation of or conflict with their organizational documents, applicable law or certain agreements as the Purchase Agreement and consummating the Transaction;

•	the absence of undisclosed broker s fees;	
•	its financial capability; and	
•	the absence of litigation.	
Conditions to the Comp	pletion of the Transaction	
Completion of the Transaction is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of specified conditions, including the conditions set forth below. All of these conditions may be waived. Neither party to the Purchase Agreement has agreed at present to waive any of these conditions.		
	45	

Table of Contents

	Conditions	to Buv	er s Ob	ligations
--	------------	--------	---------	-----------

• actions under the Purch	All consents, approvals and actions of, filings with and notices to any Governmental Authority necessary to permit the asse Agreement shall have been obtained, including approval of the Transaction by Seller s Lender.
• Purchase Agreement.	No law or action shall be in effect that would prevent or restrain consummation of the transactions contemplated by the
•	The representations and warranties of Seller shall be true and correct.
• or made in connection v	Buyer shall have obtained all consents, approvals, permissions or acknowledgements or notices required to be obtained with the Transaction.
•	Each officer and member of the Board of Directors of ACC and CCI shall have resigned.
•	No material adverse effect shall have occurred.
•	Buyer shall have received confirmation that certain indebtedness has been repaid in full.
• identification number a	Seller shall have executed and delivered to Buyer an affidavit of Seller stating Seller s United States taxpayer nd that Seller is not a foreign person.
•	Seller shall deliver to Buyer a copy of each agreement in connection with the Transaction.
•	Seller shall have made and complied with all filing requirements of the New Jersey Industrial Site Recovery Act.
•	Seller shall have paid the deferred purchase price obligations and paid the employee retention bonuses.

Conditions to Seller s Obligations

• actions under the Purch	All consents, approvals and actions of, filings with and notices to any governmental authority necessary to permit the nase Agreement shall have been obtained.
• Purchase Agreement.	No law or action shall be in effect that would prevent or restrain consummation of the transactions contemplated by the
•	The representations and warranties of Buyer shall be true and correct.
•	Buyer shall have paid the payment under the Purchase Agreement.
•	Buyer shall have paid certain indebtedness.
• the purpose of approving such transactions.	EMRISE shall have duly called, convened and held a meeting of its stockholders, in accordance with Delaware law, fo and voting on the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement and such stockholders shall have approved
	46

Table of Contents
Additional Covenants
Conduct of the Business Covenant
Seller has agreed in the Purchase Agreement that, from and after the date of the Purchase Agreement to the closing of the Transaction, Seller shall cause CCI and ACC not to:
• change any of ACC s accounting methods, principles or practices;
• revalue any of the assets, including writing off receivables or reserves, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
• establish or increase the benefits payable under any employee plan or establish any new bonus, insurance, severance, deferred compensation, pension, retirement, profit sharing or other employee benefit plan for personnel, or otherwise increase the compensation payable or to become payable to any personnel, except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or as may be required by law;
• enter into any employment or consulting agreement with any Personnel that would provide for payments to such Personnel in excess of \$50,000 in any calendar year;
• make, pay or declare any dividend or distribution with respect to either ACC common stock or the shares of CCI or any other equity securities of ACC or CCI, respectively, other than in a manner consistent with past practice, cash dividends to Seller or its affiliates, or redeem or repurchase any of ACC common stock or the shares of CCI or any other equity securities of, or owned by, ACC or CCI, respectively;
• change or amend the articles of incorporation, bylaws, or any other governance document of ACC or CCI;
• enter into, extend, materially modify, terminate or renew any material contract; provided, however, that Buyer s consenshall not be unreasonably withheld with respect to ACC s entry into any new material contract or any renewal, amendment, modification or termination of any material contract;

	(A) sell, assign, transfer, convey, lease, mortgage, piedge or otherwise dispose of or encumber any assets or any for sales of finished goods inventory, obsolete assets or assets replaced in the ordinary course of business consistent with assign or transfer any assets to Seller or its affiliates;
• otherwise acquire any n	acquire by merger or consolidation with, or merge or consolidate with, or purchase substantially all of the assets of, or naterial assets or business of, any person, business, business unit or division or facility;
• personnel of ACC;	make any loans or advances to any person, or, except for expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business, to any
•	pay accounts payable other than in the ordinary course of business;
• cause any representation	willfully do any other act or fail to take any reasonable action, which act or failure to take reasonable action would nor warranty of Seller in the Purchase
	47

Table of Contents

Agreement (without giving effect	to any materiality limitations set forth the	erein) to become untrue in any material respect;
		mend any tax returns of CCI or ACC, enter into any agreement in or consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period
• incur, cr	eate or otherwise become liable for any in	ndebtedness; or
• enter int	o any agreement, or otherwise become ob	ligated, to do any action prohibited under the Purchase Agreement.
intact the business organization o	f ACC, keep available to Buyer the service	to use its commercially reasonable efforts to preserve substantially ces of the key personnel and preserve the current relationships of ACC e significant business relationships with, ACC.
Other Covenants		
The parties to the Purchase Agree limited to:	ement have agreed to various other covena	ants in the Purchase Agreement. The covenants include, but are not
business hours, to the books and regarding ACC s assets and business purpose Agreement and to facilitate the co	records of ACC, to provide Buyer with su ness, to permit Buyer reasonable access, c and to make available to Buyer the persor	of ACC to provide Buyer with reasonable access, during normal ach additional financial and operating data and other information during normal business hours, to ACC s offices and other facilities formel to assist Buyer in fulfilling its obligations under the Purchase lated by the Purchase Agreement, so long as Buyer does not
transactions contemplated thereb		nent with respect to the terms of the Purchase Agreement or the other parties, except as required by law or by the rules and regulations eir affiliates are listed;
contemplated by the Purchase Ag	reement, including without limitation, the	Is required under the Purchase Agreement to effect the transactions approval of Seller's stockholders, or that are advisable in order that the closing of the Transaction and without giving rise to any right to

termination, cancellation or acceleration or loss of any right or benefit;

• using reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all reasonable actions, and to do, or cause to be done, all things reasonably necessary, proper or advisable to bring about the satisfaction of all conditions to the other party s obligations to complete the transactions contemplated thereby;

48

Table of Contents

inaccurate and (b) any f	giving prompt notice to the other party of (a) the occurrence, or failure to occur, of any event which occurrence or use Seller s or Buyer s respective representations or warranties contained in the Purchase Agreement to be untrue or failure of Seller or Buyer to comply with or satisfy any of its respective covenants, conditions or agreements to be sed by it under the Purchase Agreement;
•	preparing and timely filing all tax returns of ACC;
• to, any person concerni	not encouraging, soliciting, initiating or participating in discussions or negotiations with, or providing any information ng an acquisition proposal, or entering into any agreement with respect to any such proposal;
• necessary to be paid in the Transaction;	delivering to Buyer a payoff letter signed by the lenders, lessors and other financing sources setting forth all amounts order to fully pay off certain amounts of ACC s indebtedness, as required by the Purchase Agreement, at the closing of
•	terminating all contracts, commitments or transactions between ACC, CCI and Seller or any of its affiliates;
•	for a period of four (4) years, neither Seller nor its affiliates may compete with Buyer, CCI or ACC;
•	obtaining the secrecy and confidentiality of certain proprietary information and intellectual property;
Jersey facility and comp	preparing any necessary filings pursuant to the New Jersey Industrial Site Recovery Act in connection with ACC s New plying with all other obligations under such act; and
•	assigning certain non-disclosure and non-competition agreements to Buyer.
Indemnification	
From and after the close	ing of the Transaction, Seller shall indemnify Buyer against any and all losses or claims relating to:

any inaccuracies in or breaches of Seller's representations and warranties;
 any nonfulfillment of, or failure to comply with, any covenant of Seller set forth in the Purchase Agreement;
 any additional taxes, penalties or interest payable by ACC or CCI; and
 any deficiency payment pursuant to the Purchase Agreement which results from the working capital adjustment.
 Seller shall not have liability under the indemnification provisions until the aggregate amount of the losses of Buyer exceeds \$250,000. The indemnification losses to be paid by Seller are further capped at \$5,000,000.

Table of Contents Buyer shall indemnify Seller against any losses resulting from any inaccuracies in or breaches of Buyer s representations and warranties; any nonfulfillment of, or failure to comply with, any covenant of Buyer set forth in the Purchase Agreement; and any and all Losses relating to the ownership of the CCI common stock. Buyer shall not have liability under the indemnification provisions until the aggregate amount of the losses of Seller exceeds \$250,000. The indemnification losses to be paid by Buyer are further capped at \$5,000,000. Settlement of Claims and Escrow Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Seller shall create an escrow account for the payment of claims covered by the indemnification provisions of the agreement. Such escrow account shall be in the amount of \$1 million. The funds in the escrow account are only intended to satisfy any indemnification obligation made by Seller under the Purchase Agreement. Termination of the Purchase Agreement The Purchase Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the closing of the Transaction: by mutual written agreement of the parties to the Purchase Agreement; by any party if the closing of the Transaction shall not have occurred on or before July 31, 2010; provided that the delay

• by any party if there shall be any law that makes consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby illegal or otherwise prohibited or if consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby would violate any nonappealable, final judgment, injunction,

in closing is through no fault of the terminating party;

order or decree of any court or governmental authority having competent jurisdiction; or

- by (i) Seller, if Buyer shall be in breach any of its representations and warranties or fails to perform any of its covenants or agreements contained herein in any material respect and if such failure to perform any of its covenants or agreements herein shall not have been cured within ten (10) days following delivery of a written notice of such violation from Seller to Buyer, or (ii) Buyer, if Seller shall be in breach of any of its representations and warranties, or fails to perform any of its covenants or agreements contained herein in any material respect and if such failure to perform any of its covenants or agreements herein shall not have been cured within ten (10) days following delivery of a written notice of such violation from Buyer to Seller, as the case may be; *provided, however*, that the party seeking termination pursuant to clause (ii), (iii) or (iv) (or any of their affiliates) is not then in breach of any of its representations and warranties or of its covenants or agreements contained herein as would justify the other party to terminate the Purchase Agreement;
- by Seller if a change in recommendation by EMRISE s Board of Directors shall have occurred; or

by Seller if, without a change in recommendation by EMRISE s Board of Directors, upon a vote at a duly held meeting

m	. 1		c	\sim			
Tal	hl	e	Ωt	\mathbf{C}	าท	te	nts

Questions and Answers About Proposal 1

of the stockholders of EMRISE held to obtain the stockholder approval for the consummation of the transactions set forth in the Purchase Agreement, such approval is not obtained.
Termination Fee
If the Purchase Agreement is terminated because (i) Seller initiates contact with a third party in violation of the covenants in the Purchase Agreement or (ii) the Board of Directors of EMRISE effects a change in the recommendation for stockholders to vote for the approval of the Purchase Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby, then, in consideration of the time and effort expended, the costs incurred, and the opportunity lost, Seller and/or EMRISE shall pay to Buyer within twenty (20) days after the effective date of such termination of the Purchase Agreement an amount equal to four percent (4%) of the purchase price (approximately Eight Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$800,000)), plus any out of pocket fees, costs and expenses actually incurred and paid by Buyer to third party advisors in connection with the Purchase Agreement, such as counsel, financial advisors, accountants and environmental experts, up to a maximum of Two Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$200,000).
Expenses
Unless specifically stated otherwise, whether or not the Transaction is completed, in general, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Transaction will be paid by the party incurring those fees and expenses, except as otherwise provided in the Purchase Agreement.
Governing Law
The Purchase Agreement is governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to conflicts of laws principles thereof.
Amendment; Waiver
The Purchase Agreement may be amended or waived by the parties if, but only if, such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed, in the case of an amendment, by each party, or in the case of a waiver, by the party against which the waiver is to be effective. After approval and adoption of the Purchase Agreement by the Company s stockholders, however, no amendment may be made which under applicable law requires the further approval of the Company s stockholders without such further approval.

The following questions and answers are intended to address briefly some commonly asked questions regarding the Transaction, the Purchase Agreement and the annual meeting. These questions and answers may not address all questions that may be important to you as a Company stockholder. Please refer to Summary and the more detailed information contained elsewhere in this proxy statement. Annex A to this proxy statement and the documents referred to or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement, which you should read carefully.

 Why an 	I receiving these	e materials?
----------------------------	-------------------	--------------

• EMRISE, a Delaware corporation, the owner of all of the issued and outstanding stock of Seller, is required to, in accordance with Delaware law, call, convene

Table of Contents

and hold a meeting of its stockholders for the purpose of approving and voting on the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement. The Transaction cannot be completed unless the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement are approved and adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding common stock (assuming a quorum is present). This proxy statement contains important information about the Transaction and the 2010 Annual Meeting of EMRISE stockholders. The Company is sending you these materials to provide you with important information about the annual meeting and to help you decide whether to approve and adopt the Purchase Agreement.

•	Am I entitled to exercise rights of dissent and appraisal in connection with the Transaction?
• Transaction. Under Del connection with the Tra	No, under Delaware law, holders of Company common stock are not entitled to dissenters rights in connection with the aware law, holders of EMRISE common stock also do not have rights to an appraisal of the fair value of their shares in nsaction.
•	What will happen to ACC and CCI as a result of the transaction?
•	ACC and CCI will become wholly-owned subsidiaries of Buyer.
•	How does the Company s Board of Directors recommend that I vote?
the proposal to ratify the statements for 2010, F solicit additional proxie	Our Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR the proposal to approve and adopt the Purchase Agreement, elect Laurence P. Finnegan, Jr. as a Class II director to serve a three-year term on the Company s Board of Directors, FOR e selection of BDO Seidman LLP, our independent registered public accountant, to audit our consolidated financial OR the proposal to approve the adjournment or postponement of the annual meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to s if there are insufficient votes at the time of the meeting to adopt the Purchase Agreement, and FOR the proposal to mess as may property come before the meeting.
• Agreement?	Why is our Board of Directors recommending that I vote FOR the proposal to approve and adopt the Purchase

After careful consideration, our Board of Directors has determined that the proposal, to approve and adopt the Purchase

Agreement and the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement is advisable and fair to, and in the best interests of, the Company and its stockholders. In the course of reaching its decision to approve and adopt the Purchase Agreement, the Company s Board of Directors consulted with the Company s legal and financial advisors and considered a number of factors, as described herein. As a result, our Board of

Directors has approved and adopted the Purchase Agreement.

- What vote of stockholders is required to approve and adopt the Purchase Agreement?
- The Transaction cannot be completed unless the Purchase Agreement is

52

Table of Contents

	y the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares outstanding present in person or by proxy at the annual meeting who ming a quorum is present).
•	What does it mean if I get more than one proxy card?
	If you have shares of the Company that are registered differently and are in more than one account, you will receive d. Please follow the directions for voting on each of the proxy cards you receive to ensure that all of your Company
•	How do I vote without attending the 2010 Annual Meeting?
proxy and vote your Cor	If you are a registered stockholder (that is, if you hold Company shares in certificated form), you may submit your mpany shares by signing and returning the enclosed proxy card in the postage-paid envelope provided, or by telephone by following the instructions included with the enclosed proxy card. If you are voting by telephone or via the Internet, must be received by on July , 2010.
•	Will there by any changes to my shares of EMRISE common stock as a result of the Transaction?
	No. All shares of EMRISE common stock will remain outstanding after the Transaction, and no changes will be made E common stock currently outstanding as a result of the merger.
•	Should I send in my EMRISE stock certificates with my proxy card?
	No. Please DO NOT send your EMRISE stock certificates with your proxy card. No changes will be made to shares of in the Transaction and you will not be asked to send your EMRISE stock certificates to anyone in connection with the

When is the Transaction expected to be completed?

- We are working to complete the Transaction as quickly as possible, and we anticipate that it will be completed by July 16, 2010. We cannot, however, predict the exact timing of the Transaction. In order to complete the Transaction, our stockholders must approve and adopt the Purchase Agreement and the other closing conditions under the Purchase Agreement must be satisfied or waived.
- Who can help answer my other questions?
- If you have more questions about the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or the Transaction, you should contact our proxy solicitor, Georgeson Inc., toll-free at (866) 295-3782, or EMRISE Corporation, 611 Industrial Way, Eatontown, New Jersey 07724, Attention: Secretary, or by telephone at (732) 389-0355. Banks and brokers may call Georgeson Inc. at (866) 295-3782.

m	. 1		c	\sim			
Tal	hl	e	Ωt	\mathbf{C}	าท	te	nts

Required Vote of Stockholders and Board Recommendation

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of our outstanding common stock entitled to vote at the 2010 annual meeting of stockholders will constitute stockholder approval of the Purchase Agreement.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR THE APPROVAL OF THE PURCHASE AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED THEREBY.

54

Table of Contents

PROPOSAL 2

ELECTION OF CLASS II DIRECTOR

Our bylaws provide that our Board of Directors shall consist of at least four directors. Our board is divided into three classes of directors: Class I, Class II and Class III. The term of office of each class of directors is three years, with one class expiring each year at our annual meeting of stockholders.

Our current board consists of one Class II director, Laurence P. Finnegan, Jr., whose term expires at our 2010 annual meeting, two Class III directors, Carmine T. Oliva and Richard E. Mahmarian, whose terms expire at our 2011 annual meeting and one Class I director, Otis W. Baskin, whose term expires at our 2012 annual meeting. Mr. Finnegan, Jr. is named as a nominee for election to serve a three-year term expiring at our 2013 annual meeting or until succeeded by another qualified director who has been duly elected.

The proxy holders intend to vote all proxies received by them in favor of the election of Mr. Finnegan, Jr. unless instructions to the contrary are marked on the proxy. If Mr. Finnegan, Jr. is unable or declines to serve as a director at the time of the annual meeting, an event not now anticipated, the proxies will be voted for any nominee designated by our present board. However, the proxy holders may not vote proxies for a greater number of persons than the number of nominees named on the proxy.

Required Vote of Stockholders and Board Recommendation

Directors are elected by a plurality vote of shares present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting. This means that the director nominee with the most votes for a particular slot on the board is elected for that slot. In an uncontested election for directors, the plurality requirement is not a factor.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE $\,$ FOR $\,$ THE ELECTION OF LAURENCE P. FINNEGAN, JR. AS A CLASS II DIRECTOR.

Table of Contents

PROPOSAL 3

RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT

Our audit committee has selected BDO Seidman, LLP (BDO), independent registered public accountants, to audit our consolidated financial statements for 2010, and our Board of Directors has concurred in this selection. Additional information regarding our relationship with our independent public accountants is contained in this proxy statement under the headings. Audit Committee Report, Principal Accountant Fees and Services, and Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services of Principal Accountants. We anticipate that a representative of BDO will be present at our 2010 annual meeting, will have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so at the meeting, and will be available to respond to appropriate questions at the meeting.

Change in Accountants

Effective April 30, 2009, we dismissed Hein, the independent registered public accounting firm that was engaged as the principal accountant to audit our consolidated financial statements. Effective the same date, we engaged BDO, an independent registered public accounting firm, as the principal accountant to audit our consolidated financial statements. The decision to change the independent registered public accounting firm was approved by our audit committee. The reason for the change was to allow us to engage an audit firm with a larger international network and one that has an office closer to our then largest U.S. subsidiary, Advanced Control Components, Inc. We believe that BDO is providing us a more cost effective and synergistic audit solution. In addition, we believed that BDO has adequate resources and experience to provide us with the global auditing and tax services we require.

Hein s reports on our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 did not contain an adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, and was not modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles. During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the subsequent interim period through April 30, 2009, there were no disagreements between us and Hein on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure which, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Hein, would have caused Hein to make reference to the matter in connection with its reports on our financial statements. During the two fiscal years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the subsequent interim period through April 30, 2009, there were no reportable events as described in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (Regulation S-K).

We did not consult with BDO during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 and the subsequent interim period through April 30, 2009 regarding either:

1. The application of accounting principles to any specific transaction, either completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on our financial statements, and neither a written report was provided to BDO nor oral advice was provided that BDO concluded was an important factor considered by us in reaching a decision as to the accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue; or

2. Any matter that was either subject of disagreement, as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K and the related instruction to Item 304 of Regulation S-K, or a reportable event, as that term is explained in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

Table of Contents

Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Fees and Services for 2009

The following table sets forth the aggregate fees billed to us by BDO Seidman, LLP, our principal accountant, for professional services rendered in connection with the audit of our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009. BDO Seidman, LLP did not bill us for professional services prior to the year ended December 31, 2009.

Fee Category	2009			
Audit Fees	\$	326,838		
Audit-Related Fees		30,000		
Tax Fees		5,000		
All Other Fees				
Total	\$	361,838		

<u>Audit Fees</u>. Audit fees consist of fees billed for professional services for (i) audit of our 2009 consolidated financial statements, (ii) review of the interim consolidated financial statements included in our 2009 quarterly reports, and (iii) services that are normally provided by an independent registered public accounting firm in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.

<u>Audit-Related Fees</u>. Audit related fees in 2009 consisted of fees billed for professional services performed with respect to a disposition completed in 2009 and equity transaction related activities.

<u>Tax Fees</u>. Tax fees for 2009 consisted of fees billed for professional services for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning. These services include assistance regarding federal, state and international tax compliance, tax audit defense, customs and duties, mergers and Transactions, and international tax planning.

All Other Fees. No other fees were incurred for 2009.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our audit committee pre-approves all services provided by our principal accountant. Our audit committee also considers in advance whether or not to approve any non-audit services to be performed by the independent accounting firm required to be approved by the audit committee pursuant to any applicable rules and regulations.

Required Vote of Stockholders and Board Recommendation

Although stockholder approval is not required, our Board of Directors has directed that this selection be submitted to our stockholders for ratification at our 2010 annual meeting. The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of our common stock entitled to vote at and present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting will constitute stockholder ratification of the selection. Abstentions but not broker non-votes will be treated as shares present and entitled to vote on this proposal. Applying that standard, an abstention will have the effect of a vote against this proposal, and a broker non-vote will reduce the absolute number (although not the percentage) of the affirmative votes needed for approval of this proposal. If stockholder approval of this proposal is not obtained, our audit committee

7D 1	1			_			
Tal	٦I	е	Λt	('	Λn	tei	1tc

and Board of Directors may reconsider our appointment of BDO Seidman, LLP as our independent registered public accountants.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR THE RATIFICATION OF THE SELECTION OF OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT TO AUDIT OUR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 2010.

Table of Contents

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

Pursuant to Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act, proposals by stockholders that are intended for inclusion in our proxy statement and proxy card and to be presented at our next annual meeting need to be received by us no later than 120 calendar days in advance of the one-year anniversary of the date of this proxy statement, or , in order to be considered for inclusion in our proxy materials relating to the next annual meeting. Proposals intended for inclusion in our proxy statement and proxy card for our 2011 annual meeting must be addressed to our secretary at our corporate headquarters and may be included in next year s annual meeting proxy materials if they comply with rules and regulations of the SEC governing stockholder proposals.

Proposals by stockholders that are not intended for inclusion in our proxy materials may be made by any stockholder who timely and completely complies with the notice procedures contained in our bylaws, was a stockholder of record at the time of giving of notice and is entitled to vote at the meeting, so long as the proposal is a proper matter for stockholder action and the stockholder otherwise complies with the provisions of our bylaws and applicable law. However, stockholder nominations of persons for election to our Board of Directors at a special meeting may only be made if our Board of Directors has determined that directors are to be elected at the special meeting.

To be timely, a stockholder s notice regarding a proposal not intended for inclusion in our proxy materials must be delivered to our Secretary at our corporate headquarters not later than:

- Typically in the case of an annual meeting, the close of business on the 45th day before the first anniversary of the date on which we first mailed our proxy materials for the prior year s annual meeting of stockholders, or , 2011. However, if the date of our 2011 annual meeting changes more than 30 days from the date of our 2010 annual meeting, in order for the stockholder s notice to be timely it must be delivered to our secretary a reasonable time before we mail our proxy materials for the current year s meeting. For purposes of the preceding sentence, a reasonable time coincides with any adjusted deadline we publicly announce.
- In the case of a special meeting, the close of business on the 7th day following the day on which we first publicly announce the date of the special meeting.

Except as otherwise provided by law, if the chairperson of the meeting determines that a nomination or any business proposed to be brought before a meeting was not made or proposed in accordance with the procedures set forth in our bylaws and summarized above, the chairperson may prohibit the nomination or proposal from being presented at the meeting.

OTHER MATTERS

The board knows of no matter to come before the annual meeting other than as specified in this proxy statement. If other business should, however, be properly brought before the meeting, the persons voting the proxies will vote them in accordance with their best judgment.

DELIVERY OF THIS PROXY STATEMENT

The SEC has adopted rules that permit companies and intermediaries (such as brokers) to satisfy delivery requirements for proxy statements with respect to two or more stockholders sharing the same address by delivering a single proxy statement addressed to those stockholders. This process, known as householding, potentially means extra convenience for stockholders and cost savings for companies. This year, a number of brokers with customers who are our stockholders will be householding our proxy materials unless contrary instructions have been received from the customers. We will promptly

Table of Contents

deliver, upon oral or written request, a separate copy of the proxy statement to any stockholders sharing an address to which only one copy was mailed. Requests for additional copies should be directed to our proxy solicitor, Georgeson Inc., 199 Water Street, 26th Floor, New York, NY 10038 or by toll-free telephone at (866) 295-3782, or to EMRISE Corporation, 611 Industrial Way, Eatontown, New Jersey 07724, Attention: Secretary, or by telephone at (732) 389-0355.

Once a stockholder has received notice from his or her broker that the broker will be householding communications to the stockholder s address, householding will continue until the stockholder is notified otherwise or until the stockholder revokes his or her consent. If, at any time, a stockholder no longer wishes to participate in householding and would prefer to receive separate copies of the proxy statement, the stockholder should so notify his or her broker. Any stockholder who currently receives multiple copies of the proxy statement at his or her address and would like to request householding of communications should contact his or her broker or, if shares are registered in the stockholder s name, our Secretary, at the address or telephone number provided above.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The Company files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any reports, proxy statements or other information that we file with the SEC at the following location of the SEC:

Public Reference Room Station Place 100 F Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20549

Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference rooms. You may also obtain copies of this information by mail from the Public Reference Section of the SEC, Station Place, 100 F Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549, at prescribed rates. The Company s public filings are also available to the public from document retrieval services and the Internet website maintained by the SEC at http://www.sec.gov. You may also retrieve this information from our website at www.pngaming.com. Information contained on our website is not incorporated in or made a part of this proxy statement.

A copy of our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 is being made available with this proxy statement.

Any person, including any beneficial owner, to whom this proxy statement is delivered may request copies of reports, proxy statements or other information concerning us, without charge, by written or telephonic request directed to us at EMRISE Corporation, 611 Industrial Way, Eatontown, New Jersey 07724, Attention: Secretary, or by telephone at (732) 389-0355, or by toll-free telephone at (800) 579-1639. If you would like to request documents, please do so by , 2010, in order to receive them before the annual meeting.

No persons have been authorized to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this proxy statement and, if given or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by us or any

other person. This proxy statement is dated June , 2010. You should not assume that the information contained in this proxy statement is accurate as of any date other than that date, and the mailing of this proxy statement to stockholders shall not create any implication to the contrary.

<u>Table of Contents</u>	
	ANNEX A
	Execution Cop
STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT	
by and between	
AEROFLEX INCORPORATED (or its designated Affiliate)	
(the Buyer)	
and	
EMRISE ELECTRONICS CORPORATION	
(the Seller)	
Dated June 7, 2010	

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS		A-1
1.1	Specific Definitions	A-1
1.2	Other Terms	A-1
1.3	Other Definitional Provisions	A-1
ARTICLE II PURCHASE AND SALE		A-2
2.1	The Shares	A-2
	Purchase Price; Manner of Payment	A-2
2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7	Closing	A-3
2.4	Deliveries of the Seller at Closing	A-3
2.5	Deliveries of Buyer at Closing	A-3
2.6	Closing Date Balance Sheet	A-4
2.7	Adjustment to the Purchase Price	A-5
2.8	Excluded Assets	A-5
ARTICLE III REPRESENTATIONS AND W	ARRANTIES OF THE SELLER	A-5
3.1	Organization and Qualification	A-5
3.2	Authorization	A-5
3.3	Capitalization of the Acquired Companies	A-6
3.4	Subsidiaries	A-7
3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7	No Conflict	A-7
3.6	Consents and Government Approvals	A-7
3.7	Financial Statements	A-8
3.8	Absence of Certain Changes or Events	A-8
3.9	Absence of Litigation	A-10
3.10	Compliance with Law	A-10
3.11	Stock Record and Minute Books; Directors and Officers; Books and Records	A-11
3.12	Material Contracts: Government Contracts	A-11
3.13	<u>Title and Condition of Assets</u>	A-15
<u>3.14</u>	Real Property	A-15
<u>3.15</u>	Intellectual Property Rights	A-17
<u>3.16</u>	<u>Taxes</u>	A-18
<u>3.17</u>	Accounts Receivable	A-20
3.18	<u>Inventories</u>	A-21
3.19	Environmental Matters	A-21
<u>3.20</u>	<u>Labor Matters</u>	A-23
<u>3.21</u>	Employee Benefit Matters	A-24
<u>3.22</u>	Brokers and Finders	A-26
<u>3.23</u>	Bank Accounts	A-26
<u>3.24</u>	Insurance	A-27
3.25	<u>Permits</u>	A-27
3.26	Product Warranties, Defects and Liabilities	A-28

Table of Contents

3.27	Customers and Suppliers	A-28
3.28	Affiliate Transactions	A-28
3.29	Backlog	A-29
3.30	Approval of Parent s Lender	A-29
3.31	Indebtedness Free Status of Company at Closing	A-29
3.32	No Prior Inemnification Claims; No Waiver	A-29
3.33	Disclosure	A-29
<u>5.55</u>	Disclosure	11-27
ARTICLE IV INTENTIONALLY OMITTE	<u>D</u>	A-30
ARTICLE V REPRESENTATIONS AND V	<u>VARRANTIES OF BUYER</u>	A-30
<u>5.1</u>	Incorporation and Authority	A-30
<u>5.2</u>	Investment Representation	A-30
<u>5.3</u>	Consents and Governmental Approvals	A-30
<u>5.4</u>	No Conflict	A-30
<u>5.5</u>	Brokers and Finders	A-30
<u>5.6</u>	Financial Capability and Commitment	A-31
5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 5.6 5.7	Absence of Litigation	A-31
ARTICLE VI CONDITIONS TO BUYER	S OBLIGATIONS	A-31
6.1	Governmental Consents	A-31
6.2	No Law or Action	A-31
6.3	Representations and Warranties; Covenants	A-31
6.4	Third Party Consents	A-31
6.5	Resignation of Officers and Directors	A-32
6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6 6.7 6.8 6.9	Material Adverse Effect	A-32
6.7	Satisfaction of Closing Date Indebtedness	A-32
6.8	FIRPTA Certificate	A-32
69	Delivery of Other Documents, Certificates and Agreements	A-32
<u>6.10</u>	ISRA	A-32
<u>6.11</u>	Deferred Purchase Price Obligations; Employee Retention Bonuses	A-33
<u>6.12</u>	Equipment Purchase Agreements	A-33
ARTICLE VII CONDITIONS TO THE SEI		A-33
<u>7.1</u>	Governmental Consents	A-33
7.2	No Law or Action	A-33
<u>7.3</u>	Representations and Warranties, Covenants	A-33
7.4	Closing Payment	A-33
7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6	Closing Date Indebtedness	A-34
<u>7.6</u>	Stockholders Meeting	A-34
ARTICLE VIII ADDITIONAL COVENAN		A-34
<u>8.1</u>	Conduct of the Business Prior to the Closing	A-34
8.1 8.2 8.3 8.4 8.5	Access to Information	A-36
<u>8.3</u>	Public Announcements; Confidentiality	A-36
<u>8.4</u>	Regulatory and Other Authorizations, Consents	A-36
<u>8.5</u>	Reasonable Efforts; Further Action	A-37
	A-ii	

Table of Contents

8.6 8.7 8.8 8.9 8.10 8.11 8.12 8.13 8.14 8.15 8.16 8.17	Notification of Certain Matters Tax Matters Exclusivity Payoff Letters Termination of Intercompany Accounts Covenant Not to Compete Proprietary Information, Confidential Records; Intellectual Property Rights ISRA Compliance Assignment of Non-Disclosure Agreements and Non-Competition Agreements Payment of Employee Retention Bonuses Assignment of Indemnification Rights Guarantee of Parent	A-37 A-41 A-42 A-42 A-43 A-45 A-46 A-46 A-46
ARTICLE IX INDEMNIFICATION		A-46
<u>9.1</u>	Survival	A-46
9.2	Indemnification	A-46
<u>9.3</u>	Method of Asserting Claims, etc.	A-48
9.4	Losses Net of Insurance, Third Party Recoveries	A-50
9.5	No Consequential Damages	A-50
ARTICLE X SETTLEMENT OF CLAIMS AND ESCRO	<u>w</u>	A-50
<u>10.1</u>	<u>Priorities of Payment</u>	A-50
<u>10.2</u>	Escrow Claim Payments	A-50
<u>10.3</u>	Outstanding Claims	A-50
<u>10.4</u>	<u>Distributions Out of the Escrow Account</u>	A-51
ARTICLE XI MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS		A-51
<u>11.1</u>	<u>Termination of the Agreement; Effect of Termination</u>	A-51
<u>11.2</u>	<u>Notice</u>	A-52
<u>11.3</u>	Entire Agreement	A-53
11.4	Assignment; Binding Agreement	A-53
11.5	Counterparts	A-53
11.6	Headings; Interpretation	A-53
11.7	Expenses Compared to the Compa	A-53
11.8	Specific Performance	A-53
11.9	Governing Law No Third Porty Peneficiaries	A-54
11.10 11.11	No Third Party Beneficiaries Amendments and Waivers	A-54 A-54
11.11	Severability	A-54
Exhibits		
A Definitions		

A-iii

Tabl	le of	Contents

STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of the 7th day of June, 2010 (the <u>Effective Date</u>), by and between Aeroflex Incorporated, a Delaware corporation, or its designated Affiliate (the <u>Buyer</u>), and Emrise Electronics Corporation, a New Jersey corporation (the <u>Seller</u>).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Seller owns, beneficially and of record, all of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock (the <u>Shares</u>) of Custom Components, Inc. (<u>CCI</u>). CCI owns, beneficially and of record, 80% of the issued and outstanding shares of the common stock of Advanced Control Components, Inc., a New Jersey corporation (the <u>Company</u>), and the Seller owns, beneficially and of record, 20% of the issued and outstanding shares of the common stock of the Company, (the <u>Seller s Company Sha</u>res , and together with the shares of the Company common stock owned by CCI, collectively, the <u>Company Common Stock</u>). The Company and CCI are sometimes referred to herein as the <u>Acquired Companies</u>);

WHEREAS, for the purpose of acquiring the Company and the Company Common Stock (the <u>Purpose</u>), the Buyer desires to purchase from the Seller and the Seller desires to sell to the Buyer, the Shares and the Seller s Company Shares on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein; and

WHEREAS, unless specifically indicated or the context otherwise requires, consistent with the Purpose, any reference to the Acquired Companies collectively shall be deemed to constitute a reference as well to each of CCI and the Company individually.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the representations and warranties and the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

- 1.1 Specific Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the terms identified on Exhibit A attached hereto shall have the meanings set forth or referred to in such Exhibit A.
- 1.2 Other Terms. Other terms may be defined elsewhere in the text of this Agreement and, unless otherwise indicated, shall have such meaning throughout this Agreement.

1.3 <u>Other Definitional Provisions.</u>

(a) The words hereof, herein, and hereunder and words of similar import, when used in this Agreement, shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement.

Table of Contents

from the Seller.

(b) Agreement, they sh	Whenever the words include, includes or including (or any variation thereof) are used in this nall be deemed to be followed by the words without limitation.
(c)	References herein to days, unless otherwise indicated, are to consecutive calendar days.
(d) unless specifically	References to specific Articles and Sections are to the Articles and Sections of this Agreement, stated otherwise.
(e) express terms of th	All accounting terms not specifically defined herein shall, to the extent not inconsistent with the is Agreement, be construed in conformity with GAAP consistently applied.
(f) and vice versa.	The terms defined in the singular herein shall have a comparable meaning when used in the plural,
(g)	All references to dollars or \$ shall mean U.S. dollars.
(h) Disclosure Schedu	All references herein to a particular Schedule shall mean such schedule as it is included in the les attached hereto.
	References to any United States legal term for any action, remedy, method of judicial proceeding, gal status, court, official or any legal concept or thing shall, in respect of any jurisdiction other than the semed to include what most nearly approximates in that jurisdiction to the United States legal term.
ARTICLE II PURCHASE AND SA	ALE
2.1 <u>1</u>	The Shares; Purpose. In reliance upon the representations and warranties by Seller and on the terms and subject to the

conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing, to effectuate and accomplish the Purpose, the Seller shall sell, assign, transfer and deliver the Shares and the Seller s Company Shares to the Buyer and the Buyer shall purchase and accept the Shares and the Seller s Company Shares

2.2 Purchase Price; Manner of Payment.

(a) The aggregate purchase price for the Shares and the Seller's Company Shares shall be Twenty Million (\$20,000,000) Dollars (the <u>Purchase Price</u>). The Buyer shall pay the Purchase Price at the Closing by delivering to the Seller (in the amounts and to the bank accounts directed in writing thereby) an amount of cash by wire transfer of immediately available funds equal to the Purchase Price *less*, to the extent outstanding as of the Closing (i) the aggregate amount of (A) the Indebtedness owed by Parent under a credit facility with GVEC Resource IV Inc. (the <u>Lender</u>) and all other Indebtedness owed to the Lender (the <u>Lender Indebtedness</u>), (B) that amount of the deferred purchase price payments owed by the Seller to the Brand Group Sellers under the Stock Purchase Agreement dated May 23, 2008, as amended (the <u>May 23, 2008 Agreement</u>), as set forth on <u>Schedule 2.2(b)</u> (the <u>Deferred Purchase Price</u>

Table of Contents

2.5

Closing, the Buyer shall:

Obligation , and together with the Lender Indebtedness, the Closing Date Indebtedness) and (ii) the sum of One Million (\$1,000,000) Dollars (the Escrow Deposit), to be delivered to the Escrow Agent and held and maintained in an interest bearing account (the Escrow Account) and released, disbursed and/or distributed therefrom by the Escrow Agent in accordance with the terms and provisions of Article X of this Agreement and the Escrow Agreement. The Escrow Account shall serve as a resource for the satisfaction of the Seller s indemnification obligations pursuant to Section 9.2(a) hereof, and, if necessary, at the Buyer s election, the recovery, in whole or in part, of the Deficiency Payment, if any. The Purchase Price less the Closing Date Indebtedness and the Escrow Deposit shall be referred to herein as the Closing Payment. The Purchase Price (but not the Escrow Deposit correspondingly) is subject to adjustment as provided in Section 2.7.

	the Closing, the Buyer will pay the Closing Date Indebtedness to the appropriate Persons by wire available funds pursuant to the Payoff Letters and wiring instructions furnished by such Persons, le 2.2(b).
Spahr LLP, 1735 Market S following the date on whic at such other time as may be	ng. The consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby (the <u>Closing</u>) shall take place at the offices of Ballard treet, 51st Floor, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103-7599, at 10:00 a.m. local time on the second (2nd) Business Day hall the conditions to Closing in <u>Articles VI</u> and <u>VII</u> are satisfied or waived, or at such other place, such other date or be mutually agreed upon in writing by the Parties (the day on which the Closing takes place being the <u>Closing Date</u>). To the contrary herein, the Closing will be deemed to have taken place at 12:01 a.m. on the Closing Date (the <u>Effective</u>)
	reries of the Seller at Closing. Subject to satisfaction of the conditions to the obligations of the Seller in Article VII, at I deliver or cause to be delivered to the Buyer the following:
	of the certificates evidencing the Shares and the Seller s Company Shares, each duly endorsed er or accompanied by a stock power duly executed in blank; and
(b) all forth in <u>Article VI</u> .	of the certificates, resignations, agreements, resolutions, documents and other instruments set

Table of Contents 121

Deliveries of Buyer at Closing. Subject to satisfaction of the conditions to the obligations of the Buyer in Article VI, at the

(a)	Pay the Closing Payment in accordance with <u>Section 2.2(a);</u>
• •	Pay the Closing Date Indebtedness to the appropriate Persons pursuant to the Payoff Letters (as ring instructions furnished by such Persons in accordance with <u>Sections 2.2 (b)</u> and the Escrow erow Agent pursuant to <u>Section 2.2 (a)</u> ; and
(c) <u>Article VII</u> hereof.	deliver to the Seller all of the certificates, agreements, documents and other instruments set forth in
	A-3

Table	of	Contents

2.6	Closing	Date	Balance	Sheet.

- (a) Within one hundred and twenty (120) days following the Closing Date, the Buyer shall prepare or cause to be prepared, at the Buyer's expense and in good faith, and submit to the Seller an unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Acquired Companies as of the Effective Date (the <u>Closing Date Balance Sheet</u>). The Closing Date Balance Sheet shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP consistent in all respects (including classification and presentation of line items) with the Company's Past Practices (the <u>Accounting Principles</u>). The Seller shall cooperate with the Buyer to the extent reasonably requested so that the Buyer may prepare or cause to be prepared the Closing Date Balance Sheet within the aforementioned 120-day time period.
- In the event the Seller disputes the Closing Date Balance Sheet as delivered by the Buyer, the Seller shall provide written notice (a Notice of Dispute) specifying in reasonable detail all points of disagreement with the Closing Date Balance Sheet to the Buyer within forty-five (45) days after receipt of the Closing Date Balance Sheet. If the Seller fails to deliver a Notice of Dispute within such 45-day period, then the Closing Date Balance Sheet as delivered by the Buyer shall be used for purposes of Section 2.7. If the Seller delivers a Notice of Dispute within such 45-day period, the Buyer and the Seller shall endeavor in good faith to resolve all specified points of disagreement within fifteen (15) days after the Buyer s receipt of the Notice of Dispute. If the dispute is not resolved within such 15-day period, either the Buyer or the Seller may refer the dispute to the CPA Firm, which shall act as an expert and not as an arbitrator, to finally determine, as soon as practicable, all points of disagreement with respect to the Closing Date Balance Sheet. For purposes of the foregoing, each of the Buyer and the Seller shall submit a proposed Closing Date Balance Sheet to the CPA Firm and to the other Party, accompanied by such additional information explaining its position with respect to the Closing Date Balance Sheet as it desires to submit within the applicable time period described below. Each of the Buyer and the Seller shall, prior to the time of such submission, be free to revise positions they have maintained in prior drafts of the Closing Date Balance Sheet and related discussions, but the Buyer and the Seller shall not be permitted to further

modify their proposed Closing Date Balance Sheet once these are submitted to the CPA Firm. The CPA Firm shall deliver its written determination within twenty (20) days following its receipt of the Seller's revised Closing Date Balance Sheet or such longer period of time as the CPA Firm determines necessary (not to exceed sixty (60) days). In making its determination hereunder, the CPA Firm shall apply the terms of this Section 2.6, and shall not make a determination that will result in the Seller or the Buyer receiving an amount greater than the amount sought by the Seller or the Buyer, as the case may be. The CPA Firm shall make its determination based solely on the presentations and supporting material provided by the Parties and not pursuant to any independent review or investigation. The fees and expenses of the CPA Firm incurred in connection with the determination of the Closing Date Balance Sheet in accordance with this Section 2.6 shall be allocated equally between the Buyer and the Seller. Each of the Parties shall bear responsibility for their own outside counsel and accounting fees and expenses. All determinations by the CPA Firm shall be final, conclusive and binding with respect to the Closing Date Balance Sheet.

(c) The Buyer and the Seller shall cooperate with each other in attempting to resolve any points of disagreement referred to in Section 2.6(b), including the Buyer making

Table of Contents

reasonably available to the Seller and its representatives, to the extent reasonably requested, all books, records, work papers related to, or relied upon by the Buyer in connection with, the preparation of the Closing Date Balance Sheet; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the Seller and its representatives shall conduct their work in a manner that does not unreasonably interfere with or disrupt the conduct of the Company after the Closing.

2.7 <u>Adjustment to the Purchase Price.</u>

The Purchase Price shall be subject to downward adjustment on a dollar for dollar basis in the event the Adjusted Net Working Capital based on the Closing Date Balance Sheet as finally determined (by agreement or otherwise) in accordance with Section 2.6 is less than the Adjusted Net Working Capital Target Amount. The Seller shall pay to the Buyer the amount of any such Purchase Price adjustment (a Deficiency Payment) under this Section 2.7 within five (5) Business Days after the amount of the Deficiency Payment has been finally determined. Any Deficiency Payment required under this Section 2.7 shall bear interest from the Closing Date to the date of payment at the Closing Date Interest Rate, which interest shall be calculated on the basis of a 365-day year and the actual number of days elapsed and such interest shall be paid on the same date and in the same manner as the Deficiency Payment. The Deficiency Payment shall be treated as an adjustment to the Purchase Price.

2.8 <u>Excluded Assets</u>. Prior to the Closing, the Seller shall cause the Company to pay or distribute to the Seller, as contemplated in Section 8.1(a)(v), effective immediately prior to the Closing, all of the cash of the Company (the <u>Excluded Assets</u>).

ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
OF THE SELLER

The Seller hereby makes the following representations and warranties to the Buyer:

- 3.1 Organization and Qualification. Each of the Acquired Companies has been duly incorporated or formed, is validly existing and in good standing (or its equivalent under Law) under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or formation, and has all requisite power (corporate or otherwise) and authority to own, operate or lease the properties and assets now owned, operated or leased by it and to carry on its business as currently conducted by such Acquired Company. Each Acquired Company is duly qualified or licensed to do business as a foreign corporation or other entity and is in good standing (or its equivalent under Law) in each jurisdiction where the character of its properties owned, operated or leased or the nature of its activities makes such qualification or license necessary. A complete and accurate list of the respective jurisdictions in which each of the Acquired Companies is qualified or licensed to do business as a foreign corporation or other entity are set forth on Schedule 3.1. True and complete copies of the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of each of the Acquired Companies (in each case, as amended to the date of this Agreement), have been made available by the Seller for review by the Buyer.
- 3.2 <u>Authorization</u>. The Seller has all requisite capacity and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Related Documents and to perform its obligations hereunder and

Table of Contents

thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. No other actions on the part of any other Person are necessary to authorize Seller's execution and delivery of this Agreement or any of the Related Documents and the performance of Seller's obligations hereunder and thereunder. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by the Seller, as applicable, and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Seller, as applicable, enforceable against the Seller in accordance with its terms, subject to the effect of applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar federal or state laws affecting the rights of creditors and the effect or availability of rules of law governing specific performance, injunctive relief or other equitable remedies (regardless of whether any such remedy is considered in a proceeding at law or equity (collectively, Bankruptcy Laws and Equitable Principles).

3.3 <u>Capitalization of the Acquired Companies.</u>

- (a). The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 2,500 shares of common stock, no par value, of which 100 shares are issued and outstanding and constitute the Company Common Stock as defined in the Recitals. The Company Common Stock constitutes all of issued and outstanding Equity Securities of the Company. The Company Common Stock (i) has been duly authorized and validly issued, (ii) is fully paid and nonassessable, (iii) has been issued in accordance with the Articles of Incorporation and bylaws of the Company, (iv) is not subject to any preemptive rights and (v) was issued in accordance with, and not in violation of, the Securities Act or any other applicable Laws (including state Blue Sky laws). CCI owns beneficially and of record 80% of the Company Common Stock free and clear of all Liens, and has the right, power and authority to sell and transfer such shares of the Company Common Stock to Buyer in the manner provided herein. Seller owns beneficially and as of record the Seller's Company Shares, representing 20% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company Common Stock, free and clear of all Liens and has the right, power and authority to sell and transfer the Seller s Company Shares to Buyer in the manner provided herein. None of the Seller, CCI or the Company has issued or granted any outstanding options, warrants, rights, calls or other securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of Company Common Stock or any other Equity Securities of the Company. There are no commitments or obligations of any kind or character providing for the issuance of additional shares of the Company Common Stock or any other Equity Securities of the Company, the sale of treasury shares, or the repurchase, redemption or other acquisition of shares of the Company Common Stock or any other Equity Securities of the Company, or any obligations arising from cancelled stock. There are no agreements or circumstances of any kind which may obligate CCI or the Company to issue, purchase, register for sale, redeem or otherwise acquire any of its Company Common Stock or any other Equity Securities of the Company. There are no voting trusts and no stockholder agreements, proxies or other agreements in effect to which the Seller, CCI or the Company is a party or by which any of them may be bound with respect to the voting or transfer of the shares of the Company Common Stock.
- (b) The authorized capital stock of CCI consists of 1,000 shares of common stock, of which 50 shares are issued and outstanding and comprise the Shares as defined in the Recitals. The Shares constitute all of the issued and outstanding Equity Securities of CCI. The Shares (i) have been duly authorized and validly issued, (ii) are fully paid and nonassessable, (iii) have been issued in accordance with the Articles of Incorporation and bylaws of CCI, (iv) are not

Table of Contents

subject to any preemptive rights and (v) were issued in accordance with, and not in violation of, the Securities Act or any other applicable Laws (including state Blue Sky laws). The Seller owns beneficially and of record the Shares free and clear of all Liens, and has the right, power an authority to sell and transfer the Shares to Buyer in the manner provided herein. Neither Seller nor CCI has issued or granted any outstanding options, warrants, rights, calls or other securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of common stock of CCI or any other Equity Securities of CCI. There are no commitments or obligations of any kind or character providing for the issuance of additional shares of common stock or any other Equity Securities of CCI, the sale of treasury shares, or the repurchase, redemption or other acquisition of shares of common stock or any other Equity Securities of CCI, or any obligations arising from cancelled stock. There are no agreements or circumstances of any kind which may obligate the Seller or CCI to issue, purchase, register for sale, redeem or otherwise acquire any of its common stock or any other Equity Securities of CCI. There are no voting trusts and no stockholder agreements, proxies or other agreements in effect to which the Seller or CCI is a party or by which any of them may be bound with respect to the voting or transfer of the Shares.

3.4 <u>Subsidiaries.</u> The only subsidiary of CCI is the Company. The Company has no subsidiaries.

3.5 No Conflict. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the Related Documents nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby will, with the passage of time or notice or both, directly or indirectly (i) violate or conflict with any provisions of the incorporation or organizational documents, as applicable, of either of the Acquired Companies or of the Seller, or any resolution adopted and still in force and effect by the board of directors or the stockholders of any of the Seller, CCI, the Company or Parent (ii) result in a breach of any of the terms or provisions of, or constitute a violation or default under, or conflict with, any Law applicable to the Seller, Parent or the Acquired Companies or any judgment, decree, Order or award of any Governmental Authority or arbitrator to which any one or more of the Seller, Parent or the Acquired Companies is a party or may be bound, (iii) violate, or be in conflict with, or constitute a default under, or result in the termination of, accelerate the performance required by, cause the acceleration of the maturity of any liability or obligation, or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien upon the Shares, the Seller s Company Shares, the Company Common Stock or the Assets under any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, license, lease, contract, commitment, understanding, or other agreement to which any one or more of the Seller, CCI, the Company or Parent is a party (including the Material Contracts) or to which any one or more of the Seller, CCI the Company or Parent may be bound or affected or to which the Shares or the Assets may be subject; (iv) cause the Buyer to become subject to, or liable for, the payment of any Tax; (v) violate or conflict with the terms of, or result in the right of a Governmental Authority to terminate, suspend or materially modify any Permit or other authorization of any Governmental Authority relating to the Company in the conduct of the Business.

3.6 <u>Consents and Government Approvals.</u> Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.6</u>, no consent, waiver, approval, authorization, license, Order or permit of, or declaration, filing or registration with, novation by, or notification to, any Governmental Authority, or any other Person, is required to be made or obtained by the Seller or either of the Acquired Companies or any of their respective Affiliates in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of

A-7

Table of Contents 127

<u>Table of Contents</u>
this Agreement or the Related Documents or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.
3.7 <u>Financial Statements</u> .
(a) Attached as Schedule 3.7(a) are true and complete copies of the (i) Financial Statements and (ii) Interim Financial Statements. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.7(a), all such financial statements (i) were prepared in accordance with GAAP, applied on a basis consistent with Past Practice for the periods involved, (ii) fairly present the financial condition, results of operations of the Company as of the respective dates thereof and for the respective periods covered thereby, and (iii) accurately and correctly reflect in all material respects the books of account and other financial records of the Company.
(ii) CCI Interim Financial Statements. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.7(b), all such financial statements (i) were prepared in accordance with GAAP, applied on a basis consistent with Past Practice for the periods involved, (ii) fairly present the financial condition, results of operations of the CCI as of the respective dates thereof and for the respective periods covered thereby, and (iii) accurately and correctly reflect in all material respects the books of account and other financial records of CCI
(c) Neither CCI nor the Company has any liabilities of any kind (known or unknown, fixed, accrued,
absolute or contingent) other than liabilities: (i) reflected and reserved against in, respectively, the CCI Interim Financial Balance Sheet or the Interim Financial Balance Sheet; or (ii) incurred, in the case of CCI, since the CCI Interim Balance Sheet Date and in the case of the Company, since the Interim Balance Sheet Date, in the Ordinary Course of Business, consistent with CCI s or the Company s Past Practice, as the case may be.
(d) The respective books of account and other financial records of the Acquired Companies are complete and accurate in all material respects and have been properly maintained in all material respects in accordance with applicable Law.
3.8 <u>Absence of Certain Changes or Events</u> . Since the CCI Interim Balance Sheet Date and the Interim Balance Sheet Date, respectively, except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.8</u> , each of CCI and the Company has conducted its business and affairs only in the Ordinary Course consistent with Past Practice and with respect to either or both, there has not been any:

(a) Material Adverse Effect or any action taken or events or circumstances occurring or existing which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;

(b) (i) except for normal periodic increases in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with Past Practice, increase in the compensation payable or to become payable by the Acquired Companies to any of their respective Personnel, (ii) bonus, incentive compensation, service award or other like benefit granted, made or accrued, contingently or otherwise, for or to the credit of any of their respective Personnel, except in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with Past Practice, (iii) welfare, pension, retirement, profit-sharing, incentive compensation or similar plan, program, payment or arrangement adopted, made or agreed to by the Acquired Companies for any of their respective Personnel except pursuant to the

Table of Contents

	ans described on <u>Schedule 3.21(a)</u> or (iv) new employment, severance or change of control agreements entered into ich either of the Acquired Companies is a party or otherwise bound;
(c) accordance with th	addition to, or modification of, the Employee Plans, other than contributions to such plans made in e normal practices of the Acquired Companies;
	(i) sale, assignment or transfer of any Assets other than sales of finished goods inventory, obsolete eplaced in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with Past Practice, or (ii) any sale, assignment assets to the Seller or its Affiliates;
(e)	waiver of any rights of substantial value to the Acquired Companies;
(f) material to the Acq	entry into, cancellation, termination or amendment of any Material Contract or other instrument uired Companies;
(g)	capital expenditures (or commitment to make a capital expenditures);
	failure to operate the business of the Company in the Ordinary Course so as to use reasonable such business intact, to keep available the services of the Personnel of each, and to preserve the pliers, customers and others having business relations with the Company;
(i)	change in accounting methods or practices by the Acquired Companies;
(j) or revaluing invent	revaluation by the Company of any of its Assets, including writing off notes or accounts receivable ory;

Table of Contents 130

(k) c Equity Securities of th	declaration, setting aside for payment or payment of dividends or distributions in respect of any he Company or CCI;
	issuance or reservation for issuance by CCI or the Company of, or commitment (including any stock -incentive award) to issue or reserve for issuance of, any Equity Securities of CCI or the Company,
respect of Taxes, incl	ling of any amended Tax Return, making of any Tax election or entering into any agreement in uding the settlement of any Tax controversy, adoption or change of any accounting method in sent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to any claim or assessment in
	ermination or threatened termination of, or any substantial modification to, the relationship of the aterial customer or supplier;
	reation, incurrence or assumption of any Indebtedness or mortgage on, or pledge of, or action taken γ lien, pledge, security interest, conditional sales
	A-9

Table of Contents
contract or other encumbrance of any nature whatsoever, except Permitted Liens, any of the Assets;
(p) material change in the form or manner of the distribution of the Company s products or services or in the manner in which deliveries or performance of services are made or effected in connection with the backlog of the Company s orders other than in the Ordinary Course;
(q) material change in the Company s practice of pricing, discounting for sales of finished goods, ordering supplies and raw materials, shipping finished goods, accepting returns and honoring warranty obligations, invoicing customers, and collecting receivables;
(r) action taken other than in the Ordinary Course of the business of CCI or the Company; or
(s) agreement by CCI or the Company to do any of the foregoing.
3.9 <u>Absence of Litigation</u> . (i) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.9(i), there is no Action pending or, to the Seller s Knowledge, threatened against the Company, CCI or the Seller or involving any of the Shares, the Company Common Stock or the Assets; (ii) the Company, CCI or any of the Assets are not subject to any Order; and (iii) the Acquired Companies are not now, and during the past five (5) years have not been, the subject of any pending or, to the Seller s Knowledge, threatened investigation by any Governmental Authority. There is no action pending or, to the Seller s Knowledge, threatened, which is reasonably likely to have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal, or otherwise interfering with any of the transactions contemplated herein. There is no Order to which the Company or CCI or any of the assets owned or used by the Company or CCI is subject.
3.10 <u>Compliance with Law.</u>
(a) Each of the Acquired Companies is, and at all times during the three year period prior to the Effective Date, has been, in compliance with all Laws. Neither the Seller nor either of the Acquired Companies has received any notice to the effect that the Company or CCI, as the case may be, is not in compliance with any Law applicable to the Company or CCI or any of their respective operations or Assets. Neither the Company or CCI has, since its incorporation, conducted any internal investigation in connection with which the Company or CCI retained outside local.

counsel for the purpose of conducting or assisting with such investigation with respect to any actual, potential or alleged

violation of any Law by the Company or CCI or any of their respective Personnel.

(b) Each of the Acquired Companies is, and at all times during the three year period prior to the Effective Date, has been, in compliance with all statutory and regulatory requirements under the Arms Export Control Act (22 U.S.C. 2778), the International Traffic in Arms Regulations (22 C.F.R. §§ 120 et seq.), the Export Administration Regulations (15 C.F.R. §§ 730 et seq.) and associated executive orders, and the Laws implemented by the Office of Foreign Assets Controls, United States Department of the Treasury (collectively, the Export Control Laws). Except as set forth on Schedule 3.10(b), the Acquired Companies have not received any communication that alleges that either CCI or the Company is not, or may not be, in

compliance with, or has, or may have, any liability under, the Export Control Laws or are there any facts or circumstances or other basis of

Table of Contents

which the Seller has knowledge which could reasonably be expected to result in such liability or which would have required either of the Acquired Companies (or the Seller or Parent derivatively) to have made a voluntary disclosure thereunder.		
(c) Neither the Company, CCI nor any of their Affiliates or any other Persons acting on their behalf has, in connection with the operation of their respective businesses, (i) used any corporate or other funds for unlawful contributions, payments, gifts or entertainment, or made any unlawful expenditures relating to political activity to government officials, candidates or members of political parties or organization or established or maintained any unlawful or unrecorded funds in violation of Section 104 of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or any other similar applicable foreign, Federal or state law, (ii) paid, accepted or received any unlawful contributions, payments, expenditures or gifts, or (iii) violated or operated in noncompliance with any export restrictions or controls, anti-boycott regulations, embargo regulations or other applicable domestic or foreign Laws and regulations.		
(d) controls to compl	Since August 20, 2008, the Company has designed and taken steps to implement a system of internal accounting by, in all material respects, with all legal and accounting requirements applicable to the Company.	
(e)	Since August 20, 2008, the Acquired Companies have not received any complaints, allegations, assertions or claims	

- 3.11 Stock Record and Minute Books; Directors and Officers; Books and Records. The stock record books and minute books of each of the Acquired Companies are true, correct and complete and have been maintained in all material respects in accordance with applicable Law. True, correct and complete copies of the certificate of incorporation and other organizational documents of the Company and CCI (and all amendments thereto), stockholder and board of directors minutes of meetings (or unanimous consents taken in lieu of meetings) conducted during the last three (3) years and the certificates evidencing the Shares and the Company Common Stock, have been previously furnished to the Buyer. Schedule 3.11 lists the directors and officers of CCI and the Company.
- 3.12 <u>Material Contracts: Government Contracts.</u>

that the Company or CCI has engaged in questionable accounting practices.

- (a) CCI has no Material Contracts. <u>Schedule 3.12(a)</u> is a true, complete and correct list of the Contracts to which the Company is a party or by which the Assets are bound which are material to the Business (each such Contract required to be disclosed on <u>Schedule 3.12(a)</u>, a <u>Material Contract</u>):
- (i) any Contract, other than agreements with vendors and suppliers, that the Company reasonably anticipates will involve aggregate payments by or to the Company of more than \$50,000;

(ii)

any lease, including the Leases, or license of real property;

Table of Contents

(a)

(iii)	any lease or license of personal property involving annual lease payments in excess of \$50,000;
(iv) line of business or	any Contract containing covenants limiting the freedom of the Company or any of its respective Personnel to engage in an compete with any Person or to maintain the confidentiality of any confidential information;
(v) on thirty (30) caler	any distribution, franchise, license, sales, commission, consulting agency or advertising Contract which is not cancelable adar days notice without payment or penalty;
(vi)	any Contract relating to, or instrument evidencing, any Indebtedness of the Company;
(vii) Assets replaced in	any Contract relating to the sale or disposition of Assets (other than the sale of inventory or obsolete or worn-out Assets or the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with Past Practice);
(viii)	any Contract relating to Intellectual Property Rights that are used or held for use in the operation of the Business;
(ix) named) involving	any joint venture Contract, partnership agreement, or limited liability company agreement or other Contract (however a sharing of profits, losses, costs, or liabilities by the Company with any other Person;
(x)	any Contract providing for capital expenditures after the date hereof;
	any written warranty, guaranty or other similar undertaking of payment or performance extended or provided by the with respect to contractual performance or obligations of another Person, and any guarantee or undertaking of payment or ded or provided by another Person with regard to the contractual performance or obligations of the Company or CCI;
(xii)	any Contract with any labor union or other representative of Personnel;
(xiii) business, business	any Contracts relating to the purchase of any business or Person (or all or any substantial portion of the assets of any unit, facility or Person);

CCI has no Material Contracts. Schedule 3.12(a) is a true, complete and correct 1836 of the G

(xiv)	any Contract for any charitable or political contribution;
-	any Contract with any present or former stockholder, director, officer, employee or consultant or for the employment of any gany consultant; any Contract providing for the right of any current or former employee to receive benefits of any kind by apployee s employment with the Company;
	A-12

Table of Contents

(xvi) any Contract which contains a change in control clause which would give rise to severance obligations or termination rights and any Contract that provides for the payment of any monies dependent upon either the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein or the consummation of any prior transaction involving the transfer of ownership of the Company s stock;
(xvii) any Contract with take or pay provisions, or requirements provisions committing a Person to provide the quantity of goods or services required by another Person;
(xviii) any Contract with any sales agents or representatives or distributors;
(xix) any Contract with any of CCI, Seller, Parent or any other Affiliate of the Company;
(xx) (xx) any Contract with any vendor or supplier involving payments in full or on an annual basis in an amount exceeding \$200,000; and
(xxi) any other Contract which is material to the operation of the Business or ownership of the Assets.
The Company has delivered to the Buyer true, correct and complete copies of all of the Material Contracts listed or required to be listed on Schedule 3.12(a), including all amendments and supplements and schedules thereto.
(b) The Company is not and, to the Seller's Knowledge, no other Person is in breach or violation of, or default under, any of the Material Contracts. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.12(b), each Material Contract is in full force and effect and: (i) is a valid agreement, arrangement or commitment of the Company which is a party thereto, enforceable against the Company, subject to Bankruptcy Laws and Equitable Principles; and (ii) to the Seller's Knowledge, is a valid agreement, arrangement or commitment of each other party thereto, enforceable against such party, subject to Bankruptcy Laws and Equitable Principles. No condition exists or event has occurred which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default by the Company or, to the Seller's Knowledge, any other Person under any Material Contract. Except for those consents or approvals that have been obtained by the Company or are listed on Schedule 3.12(b), the failure of the Company to obtain the consent or approval of any party to any Contract listed or required to be listed on Schedule 3.12(a) will not result in a default, termination, breach, price re-determination, renegotiation or acceleration of any of such Material Contracts.
(c) CCI has no Government Contracts. For purposes of this Agreement, the term <u>Government Contract</u> means any Contract, bid or proposal between the Company and any (i) Governmental Authority, including any facilities contract for the use of government-owned facilities or (ii) third party relating to a Contract with any Governmental Authority. A true and complete list of the Government Contracts is set

forth in Schedule 3.12(c) and the Company has made available to the Buyer as of the date hereof, true and correct copies of each such

Government Contract. With respect to each Government Contract (A) the Company has

Table of Contents

complied with all terms and conditions of such Government Contract, including all clauses, provisions and requirements incorporated expressly by reference, or by operation of law therein; (B) the Company has complied with all requirements of all applicable Laws, or agreements pertaining to such Government Contract, including where applicable the Cost Accounting Standards disclosure statement of the Company; (C) all representations and certifications executed, acknowledged or set forth in or pertaining to such Government Contract were complete and correct as of their effective dates and the Company has complied with all such representations and certifications; (D) neither the United States government nor any prime contractor, subcontractor, vendor or other Person who is a party to a Government Contract has notified the Company that the Company has breached or violated any Laws, certification, representation, clause, provision or requirement pertaining to such Government Contract; (E) the Company has not received any notice of termination for convenience, notice of termination for default, cure notice, show cause or notice pertaining to such Government Contract; (F) no cost incurred by the Company pertaining to such Government Contract has been questioned or challenged, is the subject of any audit (other than routine cost incurred audits) or investigation or has been disallowed by any Governmental Authority; and (G) no payments due to the Company pertaining to such Government Contract have been withheld or set off, nor has any claim been made to withhold or set off money, and the Company is entitled to all progress or other payments received with respect thereto.

- (d) Neither the Company nor any of its current or former directors, officers, or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, its current employees, consultants or agents is or has been under (i) any civil or criminal investigation or indictment by any Governmental Authority or (ii) material administrative investigation or material audit by any Governmental Authority, in either case with respect to any alleged improper act or omission arising under or relating to any Government Contract.
- (e) There exist (i) no outstanding claims against the Company, either by any Governmental Authority or by any prime contractor, subcontractor or vendor or other Person who is a party to a Government Contract, arising under or relating to any Government Contract, and (ii) no disputes between the Company and the United States government under the Contract Disputes Act, as amended, or any other federal statute, or between the Company and any prime contractor, subcontractor or vendor that is party to a Government Contract arising under or relating to any Government Contract The Company has no liability in respect of any pending claim against any prime contractor, subcontractor or vendor arising under or relating to any Government Contract that would or would reasonably be expected to, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (f) The Company has not been determined to be a responsible party or been debarred or suspended from participation in the award of contracts with the United States government or any other Governmental Authority (excluding, for this purpose, ineligibility to bid on certain contracts due to generally applicable bidding requirements). To the Knowledge of the Seller, there exist no facts or circumstances that would warrant the institution of suspension or debarment proceedings or the finding of non-responsibility or ineligibility on the part of the Company or any of its directors, officers or employees.

Table of Contents

3.13 Title and Condition of Assets.

- (a) Except for 80 shares of the Company Common Stock and other than items specifically described on <u>Schedule 3.13(a)</u>, CCI does not own any Assets. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.13(a)</u>, the Shares are owned by CCI, and the Seller s Company Shares by Seller, respectively, free and clear of all Liens.
- (b) Except as set forth on Schedule 3.13(b), the Company owns and has good and marketable title to all items of machinery, equipment, lab equipment, office equipment, tools, spare parts, furniture and fixtures, leasehold improvements, automobiles and other fixed assets reflected as owned by the Company on the Interim Balance Sheet (the <u>Machinery and Equipment</u>), in each case free and clear of any Liens, except for Permitted Liens. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.13</u>, each item of Machinery and Equipment and each tangible asset that is leased or licensed by the Company is in good operating condition and repair (subject to normal wear and tear), to the extent applicable, has been maintained in accordance with the requirements of any lease or other agreement relating thereto, and is suitable for the purposes for which it is currently or has historically been used. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.13(b), none of Machinery and Equipment is subject to any license or lease or other agreement granting to any Person any right to the use and enjoyment thereof. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.13</u>, the Company owns, or, in the case of leases and licenses, has valid, enforceable and subsisting leasehold interests or licenses in, all of the assets and properties of whatever kind (whether real or personal, tangible or intangible) used in the Business, in each case free and clear of any Liens, except for Permitted Liens. All of the Machinery and Equipment and other tangible assets licensed and leased by the Company are sufficient to carry on the Business as conducted as of the Closing Date including the performance of the Material Contracts and the Government Contracts in effect on the Closing Date.

3.14 Real Property.

(a) The Acquired Companies do not own any interest in real property. The Acquired Companies do not license any real property and CCI does not lease any real property. Schedule 3.14(a) is a true, complete and correct list of the name of the record owner of all real property leased for use by the Company (the Leased Real Property) and a description of all of the related leases entered into by the Company (the Leases). With respect to such Leases, except as set forth on Schedule 3.14(a): (i) the Company does not owe, and will not in the future owe, any brokerage commissions or finder s fees with respect to any such Lease; (ii) the other party to each such Lease is not an Affiliate of, and otherwise does not have any economic interest in the Company; and (iii) the Company has not collaterally assigned or granted any other security interest in such Lease or any interest therein. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.14(a), the Company has a valid leasehold interest in, and enjoys peaceful and undisturbed possession (consistent with historical use and pursuant to the terms of the applicable Lease), of all Leased Real Property, in each case free and clear of all Liens, except for Permitted Liens. All of the Leases are in full force and effect, all rent and other charges payable by the Company as a tenant or subtenant thereunder are and will be current as of the Closing Date, no notice of default or termination is outstanding and to the Knowledge of the Seller, no event has occurred and no condition exists which, with the giving of notice or the lapse of time or both, would constitute such a default or termination event or condition. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.14(a), each

A-15

3.14 Real Property. 141

Table of Contents

Lease will continue to remain in full force and effect on the same terms immediately after the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein. There are no leases, subleases, licenses, occupancy agreements, options, rights, concessions or other agreements or arrangements, written or oral, granting to any Person (other than the Company) the right to use or occupy any of the Leased Real Property or restricting the right of the Company to use any of the Leased Real Property so as to interfere with the operation of the Business. The Leased Real Property is all of the real property used in the Business.

Company has obta Property required f easement or other the Leased Real Pr Real Property and or, to the Seller s I Improvement, or th	All Improvements owned, leased, or used by the Company on the Leased Real Property are in good ir (subject to normal wear and tear), and such Improvements are free from structural defects. The ined all Permits from any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over any of the Leased Real for the occupancy and use of any of the Leased Real Property by the Company, and any agreement, right from any other Person, necessary to permit the lawful use and operation of the Improvements and operty or any driveways, roads and other means of egress and ingress to and from any of the Leased each such Permit, agreement, easement or other right is in full force and effect, and there is no pending Knowledge, threatened Action which could result in the modification or cancellation thereof. No se operation or maintenance thereof, violates any restrictive covenant, or encroaches on any property of any other Person.
	The Leased Real Property and the Improvements are sufficiently supplied with such water, storm and s, electric, cable, telephone facilities and other utilities and services as are reasonably necessary for ich Leased Real Property and Improvements as currently operated.
	The Company has not received written notice of any special assessment relating to any Leased Real rtion thereof, and no such special assessment is pending or, to the Seller s Knowledge, threatened. ng or, to the Seller s Knowledge, threatened condemnation or eminent domain Action with respect to Real Property.
(e) title policies and su Property.	The Company has delivered or made available to the Buyer true and correct copies of all title reports, urveys currently in the possession of the Seller or the Company with respect to any of the Leased Real

(f) The Company has not received any written notice that, nor to the Seller s Knowledge is, the Leased Real Property, the Improvements or the current uses or operations conducted on the Leased Real Property in violation in any material respect of the Lease or the current zoning, building, fire, safety, health and sanitation Laws (whether in the form of ordinances, regulations, rules or otherwise). There is no pending or, to the Seller s Knowledge, contemplated rezoning of the Leased Real Property.

Table of Contents 142

(g) The Company has not filed, and has not retained anyone to file, any notice of protest against, or to commence action to review, any real property Tax assessment against the Leased Real Property or any portion thereof, which protest or action to review continues to be outstanding.

Table of Contents

(h) to restore the Lea	There currently are no liabilities greater than \$25,000 under any Lease for dilapidations or otherwise sed Real Property at the end of the term of such Lease.
3.15	Intellectual Property Rights.
correct list of all I Software used or Schedule 3.15(a) (the Company Trusch Intellectual I of any pending or or ownership of spursuant to a Mat measures (includ other Persons wit Company Trade Sconfidentiality or disclosed by the	CCI does not own, have or possess the right to use any Intellectual Property Rights, including nts, Copyrights, Domain Names, Inventions, and Software. Schedule 3.15(a) is a true, complete and Patents, registered and unregistered Trademarks, registered Copyrights, Domain Names, Inventions and held for use by the Company. With respect to each item of the Intellectual Property Rights listed on that is identified as owned by the Company and any Trade Secrets used or held for use by the Company rade Secrets), (i) the Company is the sole owner of, and possesses all right, title and interest in and to, Property Rights, free and clear of any Liens, except for Permitted Liens, (ii) such item is not the subject to the Seller s Knowledge, threatened Action challenging the validity, enforceability, registration, use uch item in the listed jurisdiction and (iii) no other Person has the right to use any such item, except erial Contract that has been identified and provided. The Company has taken all reasonable security ing entering into appropriate confidentiality and nondisclosure agreements with all Personnel and any the access to the Company Trade Secrets) to protect the secrecy, confidentiality and value of the secrets. To the Seller s Knowledge, there has not been any breach by any party to any such nondisclosure agreement. To the Seller s Knowledge, the Company Trade Secrets have not been Company to any Person other than Personnel who had a need to know and use the Company Trade urse of performing services for the Company.
notices have been	To the Seller s Knowledge, the Company s Intellectual Property Rights do not infringe upon, rotherwise violate the intellectual property rights of any other Person. No proceedings are pending or neceived by the Company since its incorporation alleging that the Company has engaged in any at that infringes upon, misappropriates or otherwise violates any Intellectual Property Rights of another
any activity that h	With respect to the Intellectual Property Rights that are owned by the Company that are material to lectively, Owned Intellectual Property), to the Knowledge of the Seller, no Person has or is engaged in as infringed the Owned Intellectual Property. The Company has not exclusively licensed any Owned rty to any Person.
Intellectual Prope	To the Knowledge of the Seller, no Owned Intellectual Property has been developed by any employee ng, in whole or in part, without authorization or in derogation of any contractual restrictions, the rty Rights of a third Person, including a former employer, and all current and former employees of, and subcontractors to, the Company have executed an agreement or are subject to an agreement under

which, in accordance with applicable Law, all rights, title and ownership in any of the Owned Intellectual Property have

been validly assigned or transferred to the Company.

Table of Contents

(e) Schedule 3.15(e) is a true, correct and complete list of all (i) licenses by any Person of the Intellectual
Property Rights to the Company (In Licenses), and (ii) licenses by the Company of the Intellectual Property Rights to
any other Person (Out Licenses and together with In Licenses, collectively, the Licenses). Each such License is a
binding agreement and in full force and effect in accordance with its terms except as such enforceability is affected by
Bankruptcy Laws and Equitable Principles. Each License will continue to be valid, legally binding and enforceable and in
full force and effect on identical terms subsequent to the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein. The
Company is currently not in default of any License and there has not occurred any event or circumstance that with the
giving of notice or lapse of time or both would constitute such a default on the part of the Company or to the Knowledge
of the Seller any other party thereto. To the Knowledge of the Seller, no Person has engaged in any activity that infringes
on any exclusive rights granted to the Company under any In License, and, to the Knowledge of the Seller, the Company,
by utilizing the Intellectual Property Rights granted to it under any In License, is not infringing on the rights of any
Person.

(f)	Schedule 3.15(f) is a true, complete and correct list of all identifiable Information Technology owner
or used by the	Company in connection with the Business. All of the Information Technology currently used by the
Company and	required to carry on the Business and fullfill the Material Contracts and Government Contracts is either
owned by, or v	validly leased or licensed to, the Company, and all such Information Technology is in good working
condition and	currently has, and after the Closing Date will have, the capability to fulfill the functions and requirements it
was intended	to, and currently performs, as necessary for the conduct of the Business.

3.16 <u>Taxes</u>.

Each of the Acquired Companies has (i) timely and properly filed with the appropriate Governmental Authority all Tax Returns required to be filed (taking into account any extensions of the time for filing such Tax Returns) and (ii) paid in full all Taxes required to have been paid prior to the date of this Agreement (except where such Taxes are subject to a good faith dispute as identified on Schedule 3.16(a) and an adequate reserve shall have been made therefor in the CCI Financial Statements, the CCI Interim Financial Statements, the Financial Statements and the Interim Financial Statements, and to the extent required by GAAP). The liability of the Company or CCI for any Taxes not yet due does not exceed the reserve for current Tax liability (rather than any reserve for deferred Taxes established to reflect timing differences between book and Tax income) set forth, respectively, in the Financial Statements and the Interim Financial Statements and the CCI Financial Statements and CCI Interim Financial Statements as adjusted for the passage of time through the Closing Date in accordance with the Past Practice of the Company and CCI in filing their respective Tax Returns. All Tax Returns filed or caused to be filed by the Acquired Companies are true, correct and complete. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.16(a), there are no facts or circumstances which will require the Company or CCI to amend any of its Tax Returns for any prior year which will result in the payment of any additional Taxes, including penalties and interest.

(b) Each of the Acquired Companies has complied with all Laws relating to the withholding and collecting of Taxes and the payment and remittance thereof and has timely and properly withheld from employee wages and other sources and paid over to the proper

Governmental Authority all amounts required to be withheld and paid over under Law. Neither the Company nor CCI currently engages any
individuals who have been improperly classified as independent contractors under applicable Tax Laws and the Acquired Companies do not
have any liability under the Code or any applicable Tax Laws arising out of the classification of any individual as an independent contractor
rather than as an employee.

- (c) Neither the Company nor CCI has waived any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect to any Tax assessment or deficiency, which waiver or extension has not expired.
- notice of any potential future examination or audit pertaining to, or claims for, Taxes or assessments against the Company or CCI by any Governmental Authority. No claims have been made by a Governmental Authority in a jurisdiction where the Company or CCI does not file a Tax Return that the Company or CCI may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction. No deficiency for any material amount of Tax has been asserted or assessed by any Governmental Authority against the Company or CCI (or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, has been threatened or proposed in writing), except for deficiencies which have been satisfied by payment, settled or withdrawn or which are being contested in good faith and the amount of which is included in accordance with GAAP in the reserves for Taxes on the Interim Balance Sheet or the CCI Interim Balance Sheet.
- (e) True, correct and complete copies of the federal and New Jersey state income Tax Returns of the Company and CCI set forth on <u>Schedule 3.16(e)</u> and all written communications to or from Governmental Authorities relating to any examinations or statements of deficiencies against or agreed to by the Company or CCI since January 1, 2005 have been furnished to the Buyer prior to the date hereof and, if made on or subsequent to the date hereof, prior to the Closing.
- (f) No deductions by the Company or CCI for severance payments are or will be subject to limitation based on the golden parachute provisions of Code Section 280G in connection with or resulting from the transactions contemplated hereby.
- Neither of the Acquired Companies has (i) consented at any time under former Section 341(f)(1) of the Code to have the provisions of former Section 341(f)(2) of the Code apply to any disposition of any assets; (ii) agreed, or is required, to make any adjustment under Section 481(a) of the Code by reason of a change in accounting method or otherwise; (iii) made an election, or is required, to treat any asset as owned by another Person pursuant to the provisions of former Section 168(f) of the Code or as tax-exempt bond financed property or tax-exempt use property within the meaning of Section 168 of the Code; (iv) acquired or owns any assets that directly or indirectly secure any debt the interest on which is tax exempt under Section 103(a) of the Code; (v) distributed the stock of any corporation or had its stock distributed by another Person in a transaction that was reported in a Tax Return as a transaction satisfying the requirements of Section 355 of the Code or (vii) made any of the foregoing elections, adjustments, acquisitions or distributions or was required to apply any of the foregoing rules under any comparable foreign, state or local Tax provision.

Table of Contents

(h) Neither of the Acquired Companies is a party to any Tax-sharing agreements or similar arrangements (including indemnity arrangements) pursuant to which it would have any obligation to make payments after the Closing.
(i) Neither of the Acquired Companies has been a member of any affiliated group of corporations within the meaning of Section 1504 of the Code or of any group that has filed a combined, consolidated or unitary state or local return (other than a member of an affiliated group of which the common parent is the Parent or Seller (such affiliated group, the <u>Group</u>). Neither of the Acquired Companies has any liability for the Taxes of any other Person under Treasury Regulation Sections 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local, or foreign law), as a transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise (other than for Taxes of other members of the Group).
(j) Neither of the Acquired Companies is or has been a United States real property holding corporation within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2) of the Code during the applicable period specified in Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code.
(k) Neither of the Acquired Companies will be required to include in a Post-Closing Tax Period taxable income attributable to income of the Company or CCI that accrued in a Pre-Closing Tax Period but was not recognized in any Pre-Closing Tax Period for any reason, including (i) the installment method of accounting, (ii) the long-term contract method of accounting, (iii) the inclusion of any amounts of income pursuant to Section 951 of the Code or (iv) a closing agreement as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any provision of any foreign, stated or local Tax law having similar effect).
(I) Neither of the Acquired Companies has participated in a reportable transaction within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4(b). Each of the Acquired Companies has disclosed on its U.S. federal income Tax Returns all positions taken therein that could give rise to an understatement of federal income Tax within the meaning of Section 6662 of the Code.
(m) The charges, accruals and reserves with respect to Taxes on the books of each of the Acquired Companies are, as determined in accordance with GAAP, at least equal to the liability for Taxes of the Company and CCI.
(n) Neither of the Acquired Companies has made or is obligated to make a payment that would not be deductible by reason of Sections 162 and 280G of the Code.
3.17 Accounts Receivable. CCI conducts no business operations and, accordingly, does not have any Accounts Receivable. All of the accounts receivable reflected in the December 31, 2009 Balance Sheet and the Interim Balance Sheet (whether shown as billed or unbilled) and any accounts receivable arising between the date of such Interim Balance Sheet and the Closing Date arose or will have arisen in the Ordinary Course of Business and represent (or will represent) bona fide obligations owing to the Company from the applicable account debtor in the booked amounts. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.17, such accounts receivable are not and will not be on the Closing Date subject to any valid counterclaim, set-off, defense or Lien, except for Permitted Liens. The reserve for doubtful accounts set forth on the Interim Balance Sheet

is

Table of Contents

adequate and has been established in accordance with GAAP in a manner consistent with Past Practice. No account receivable is contingent upon the performance of the Company of any obligation or Contract other than normal warranty repair and replacement.

3.18 Inventories. CCI does not own or possess any inventory. Schedule 3.18 sets forth the inventory of the Company as of the date of the Interim Balance Sheet, as reflected on the Interim Balance Sheet. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.18, there are no physical inventories held or owned by the Company at any location other than the Leased Real Property and no inventory is held by Company on consignment from others. Any obsolete items and items of below standard quality have been written off or written down to net realizable value in the December 31, 2009 Balance Sheet. Except for the foregoing, the Company s inventory as described in Schedule 3.18 and all additions thereto and on hand as of the Closing Date (i) is and will be of good and merchantable quality and of such a quality as would satisfy the quality control standards of the Company, (ii) is or will be saleable in the Ordinary Course of Business and fit for the purpose for which it was procured (iii) exists and will exist (whether raw materials, work in process or finished goods) in quantities which do not exceed levels which are reasonable in the present circumstances of the Business. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.18, the Company has good and marketable title to the entire inventory of the Company free and clear of all Liens other than Permitted Liens. All inventory on the December 31, 2009 Balance Sheet not written off has been valued, consistent with Past Practice, as follows: (i) raw materials, on the lower of cost or market, assuming a first in, first out flow of goods, and (ii) work in process and finished goods, at the lower of (A) the actual cost of production (including material, labor and manufacturing overhead expenses) and (B) the current estimated realizable market value of the Inventory. Reserves for inventory on the December 31, 2009 Balance Sheet and in the accounting records of the Company as of the Closing Date are and will have been determined in accordance with GAAP in a manner consistent with Past Practice. The Company has no agreements relating to the sale of inventory at less than the Company s normal gross margin.

3.19 <u>Environmental Matters.</u> Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.19(a)</u>:

- (a) Each of the Acquired Companies is, and at all times during the three year period prior to the Effctive Date, has been, in compliance with, and has no liability under, any Environmental Laws. The Company is in compliance with all Permits issued to it under Environmental Laws, and all instances of past noncompliance have been cured, settled, and resolved.
- (b) All Permits required under Environmental Laws for the ownership and operation of the Company, the Business and the Leased Real Property have been obtained by or on behalf of the Company, are final, and remain in full force and effect, and there are no pending Actions by any Governmental Authority that could reasonably be expected to result in the termination, revocation, or adverse modification of any such Permit.
- (c) No conditions were created at any facility currently or formerly owned, leased or operated by either of the Acquired Companies prior to or during the period of the ownership, lease or operation of such facility by the Company or CCI, as the case may be, including the Release of Substances, which require Remedial Action to comply with any

Environmental Law or to comport with applicable remediation criteria of the applicable Governmental Authorities or otherwise result in liability.
(d) Neither of the Acquired Companies has received any notice or demand which is currently pending under any Environmental Law as a result of the transportation, storage or disposal of any Substances by the Company or CCI or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, including the Release of Substances by the Company or CCI into, on or under any properties other than the Leased Real Property or the transportation, storage or disposal of any Substances by the Company or CCI.
(e) Neither of the Acquired Companies has placed or caused to be placed on any facilities currently or formerly owned, leased, occupied or operated by the Company or CCI any underground storage tanks. To the Seller s Knowledge, no other Person has placed any underground storage tanks on or underneath any of such facilities at any time.
(f) Neither of the Acquired Companies has received any written request for information, or been notified in writing that it is a potentially responsible party, under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (<u>CERCL</u> A), or any similar state, local or foreign law with respect to any Leased Real Property or any other location used in the Business.
(g) Neither of the Acquired Companies has received any notice of any violation or alleged violation of any Environmental Law, or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, are there any facts and circumstances which constitute a material violation of Environmental Law.
(h) There are no writs, injunctions, decrees, Orders or judgments to which either of the Acquired Companies is a party that are outstanding, and there are no Actions or investigations to which the Company or CCI is a party that are pending or, to the Seller s Knowledge, threatened, relating to the compliance by the Company or CCI with, or the liability of the Company or CCI under, any Environmental Laws.
(i) None of the Leased Real Property or any real property previously owned, leased or operated by the Company or CCI, is listed or, to the Seller's Knowledge, proposed for listing on the National Priorities List under CERCLA, or on the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Information System maintained by the United States Environmental Protection Agency or any similar list of a Governmental Authority of sites requiring investigation or cleanup.
(j) Except for ISRA, the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein will not impose any obligation for site investigation or clean up or to notify or obtain the consent of any Governmental Authority or third parties under applicable Environmental Laws.
(k) The Seller has provided the Buyer with true and correct copies of all environmental assessment reports (such as Phase I or Phase II reports) and any other environmental studies in the possession of the Company and CCI relating to the Business, any real property owned, leased or operated by the Company or to any Handling of Substances.

Table of Contents

3.20	Labor Matters.

- (a) CCI does not have or has it had in the ten year period prior to the Effective Date, any employees. Schedule 3.20(a) sets forth a true and correct list of (i) all collective bargaining agreements and other labor agreements to which the Company is a party and (ii) all written employment or severance agreements to which either the Company is a party with respect to any Personnel (current or former) and which may not be terminated at will, or by giving notice of thirty (30) days or less, without cost or penalty. The Company has not entered into any severance or similar arrangement in respect of any Personnel (current or former) that will result in any obligation (absolute or contingent) of the Company to make any payment to any Personnel (current or former) of the Company following termination of employment or upon a change in control of the Company. The Company has not, within the last three (3) years, engaged in any unfair labor practice and there are no complaints against the Company pending before the National Labor Relations Board or any similar state or local labor agency by or on behalf of any Personnel (current or former). Except as disclosed on Schedule 3.20(a), there are no arbitration proceedings, labor strikes, slow downs or stoppages, grievances or other labor disputes pending or, to the Seller s Knowledge, threatened with respect to the Personnel, and during the past five (5) years, the Company has not experienced any strike, work stoppage, lock-out, slow-down or other labor dispute. To the Seller s Knowledge, in the prior three (3) year period, no labor organization or group of employees of the Business has filed any representation petition or made any written demand for recognition.
- (b) Schedule 3.20(b) is a true, correct and complete list of all Personnel and, as applicable, their respective job titles, dates of employment, current rates of compensation (including any increases in compensation since December 31, 2009), accrued paid leave, if any, participation in any Employee Plans and benefits, citizenship, and location. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.20(b), the employment of all employees employed by the Company is terminable at will, without any penalty or severance obligation of any kind on the part of the Company. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.20(b), there are no agreements under which the Company will be required after the Closing Date to make any payments based on the successful consummation of the transactions contemplated herein. Neither the Company nor CCI will be obligated to pay, nor will it have any liability for, any earned but unpaid Employee Retention Bonuses.
- (c) To the Knowledge of the Seller, no key employee and no group of employees of the Company have any plans to terminate their status as an employee or employees of the Company (including upon consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby).
- (d) The Company currently is in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws relating to employment, equal employment opportunity, fair employment practices, nondiscrimination, immigration, wages, hours, benefits, workers compensation, unemployment compensation, the payment or withholding of social security and similar Taxes; occupational safety and health and working conditions. The Company or CCI is not liable and, to the Knowledge of the Seller, no current or former employee of the Company or CCI has any claim for, the payment of any compensation, damages, taxes, fines penalties, interest or other amounts, however designated, by reason of the failure by the Company or CCI to comply with any of the foregoing Laws.

A-23

3.20 Labor Matters. 154

(e) benefits in the future	No retired employee or director of the Company or CCI or their dependents receives benefits or is scheduled to receive from the Company or CCI.
(f) accepted, where the i	No offer of employment has been made by the Company or CCI to any individual that has not been accepted yet or if ndividual s employment has not started.
obligation accordingle any relationship or ar	Except as set forth on Schedule 3.20(g), the Company has not failed to pay when due, and there is no outstanding y for, any wages, bonuses, commissions, benefits, penalties, or assessments owed to, or arising out of the employment of crangement with, any officer, director, employee, sales representative, contractor, consultant or agent except where the d upon a bona fide dispute regarding the existence of such payment obligation.
3.21 <u>E</u>	mployee Benefit Matters.
with respect to which sponsored by, or enfo	CCI does not sponsor any Employee Plans or is it a party to any Benefit Arrangements. Schedule 3.21(a) contains a list of (i) each Employee Plan and (ii) each Benefit Arrangement, in either instance, to which the Company is a party or a, the Company has, or may be reasonably expected to have, any obligation or which are maintained, contributed to or or or cable against, the Company for the benefit of any current or former employee, consultant, officer or director of the ly, the Company Employee Plans).
forth the terms of the amendments thereto a 5500 and certified firms.	The Seller has delivered or made available to the Buyer true and complete copies of the following documents which set Company Employee Plans, as applicable: (i) the most recent plan document and trust agreement (including any and prior plan documents, if amended within the last two years), (ii) the most recent IRS determination letter; (iii) Forms nancial statements for the most recently completed three (3) fiscal years for each Company Employee Plan; and (iv) the nor plan descriptions furnished to the participants and beneficiaries regarding each Company Employee Plan.
Statements and the Ir	The Company has performed in all material respects all of its respective obligations under or in connection with all of the Plans. The Company has made appropriate entries in its financial records and financial statements, including the Financial sterim Financial Statements, for all obligations and liabilities under such Company Employee Plans and for obligations that Each Company Employee Plan has been administered in accordance with its terms and applicable Law.
(d)	Intentionally Omitted.

(e) <u>Employee Plans</u>.

(i) No Employee Plan is a defined benefit plan (as such term is defined in Section 3(35) of ERISA) or subject to Section 412 or 430 of the Code, Section

A-24

(e) Employee Plans. 156

Table of Contents

302 of Title I of ERISA or Title IV of ERI withdrawn from any such plan.	ISA and neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has ever terminated or partially or fully
	is a multiemployer plan (as such term is defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA) or a multiple employer Code), and neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has ever contributed to or had an obligation to espect of a contribution to, any such plan.
Section 501 of the Code has received or is	intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code and each corresponding trust exempt under the subject of a current favorable determination or opinion letter from the IRS and nothing has ceted to cause the loss of such qualification.
(iv) All Employee Plans h including ERISA and the Code.	have been administered in all material respects in accordance with their terms and applicable Laws,
	claim, suit, complaint, Order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree outstanding or governmental audit or its under any Employee Plan that is pending or, to the Seller s Knowledge, threatened against the an routine claims for benefits.
created thereunder, nor any trustee or adm connection with which the Company or ar Section 409 or 502(i) of ERISA or a tax in	wledge, neither the Company, nor any of its ERISA Affiliates, nor any of the Employee Plans, any trust inistrator thereof has either: (i) engaged in a transaction or has taken or failed to take any action in my ERISA Affiliate could be subject to any liability for either a civil penalty assessed pursuant to mposed pursuant to Section 4975(a) or (b), 4976 or 4980B of the Code; or (ii) engaged in a breach of I of ERISA, in either case that could reasonably be expected to give rise to any liability of the
(f) <u>Company Emp</u>	ployee Plans.
	aployee Plan that is a nonqualified deferred compensation plan within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and all applicable regulations and Internal Revenue Service guidance promulgated or issued
(ii) No Company Emplo	oyee Plan provides, or reflects or represents any liability to provide post-termination or retiree welfare

benefits to any Person for any reason, except as may be required by COBRA or other similar Law.

(iii) No Company Employee Plan that is an employee welfare benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA) is funded by a trust or subject to Section 419 or 419A of the Code.

(g) Except as provided in <u>Schedule 3.21(g)</u> , neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Seller nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will result in the acceleration of the time of payment or vesting, or increase the amount of compensation due to any Personnel (including the acceleration of the accrual or vesting of any benefits under any Company Employee Plan or the acceleration or creation of any rights under any severance, parachute or change in control agreement or the right to receive any transaction bonus or other similar payment).
(h) No payment made as a result of, or in connection with, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will fail to qualify for a deduction as a result of Section 280G of the Code, or be subject to tax under §4999 of the Code. No payment that is owed or due to any director, officer, employee, or agent of the Company as of the Effective Time is or when paid, will be, subject to Tax under §409A of the Code.
(i) With respect to each Company Employee Plan sponsored or maintained by the Company, other that restrictions under the Code and ERISA, and restrictions under the terms of the Employee Plan that preclude amendments that would adversely affect benefits already accrued, credited or granted at the time of the amendment, (A) there are no restrictions on the ability of the sponsor of such Employee Plan to amend or terminate such Employee Plan, (B) the sponsor of the Employee Plan has expressly reserved for itself the right to amend, modify or terminate such Employee Plan or any portion of it, without the payment of any additional contribution amount and without the vesting or acceleration of any benefits promised by such Employee Plan, and the Company has made no material written representations which would conflict with or contradict such reservation or right.
(j) All contributions (including all employer contributions and employee salary reduction contributions or premium payments required to have been made under the terms of any Company Employee Plan or in accordance with applicable Law, as of the Effective Date and as of the Closing Date have been or will have been made except as otherwise reflected on the Interim Financial Statement in accordance with GAAP. No accumulated funding deficiency as defined in Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, whether or not waived, exists with respect to any Employee Plan and no event has occurred or circumstance exists that may result in an accumulated funding deficiency as of the last day of the current plan year for any such Employee Plan.
(k) Since the Interim Balance Sheet Date, no new Company Employee Plans have been established and there have been no amendments to any existing Company Employee Plans.
3.22 <u>Brokers and Finders</u> . No finder, broker, agent, consultant or other intermediary, acting on behalf of the Company, CCI or the Seller, is entitled to a commission, fee or other compensation in connection with the negotiation or consummation of this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby for which the Buyer or either of the Acquired Companies will be responsible.
3.23 <u>Bank Accounts.</u> Schedule 3.23 contains an accurate and complete list of (i) the names and addresses of each bank or other financial institution in which the Company or CCI

Table of Contents

has an account: (ii)	the account numbers	of such accounts	: and (iii)) the authorized	signatories c	on each such account.

3.24 <u>Insurance</u>.

- (a) Schedule 3.24(a) contains a complete and accurate list of all policies of property, fire and casualty, product liability, workers compensation, and other forms of insurance relating to the Company or CCI or to which either of the Acquired Companies is a party or a named insured. True, correct and complete copies of such insurance policies have been provided to the Buyer.
- (b) All policies listed on <u>Schedule 3.24(a)</u> (i) are valid, outstanding, and enforceable policies, (ii) provide adequate insurance coverage for the Assets and the operation of the Business for all risks normally insured against by a Person carrying on the same business as the Company and (iii) will not terminate or lapse by reason of the transactions contemplated hereby. All premiums due with respect to such policies have been timely paid.
- (c) Except for policies replaced in the Ordinary Course of Business, neither of the Acquired Companies has received (i) any notice of cancellation of any policy listed or required to be listed on <u>Schedule 3.24(a)</u> or refusal of coverage thereunder, (ii) notice that any issuer of such policy has filed for protection under applicable bankruptcy laws or is otherwise in the process of liquidating or has been liquidated, or (iii) any other notice that such policies are no longer in full force or effect or that the issuer of any such policy is no longer willing or able to perform its obligations thereunder.
- (d) To the Knowledge of the Seller, there is no basis for any material claim to be made by the Company or CCI under any of the policies listed in <u>Schedule 3.24(a)</u>.
- (e) Schedule 3.24(e) sets forth (i) any self insurance arrangement by, or affecting either of the Acquired Companies, including any reserves established thereunder; (ii) any Contract or arrangement, other than a policy of insurance, for the transfer or sharing of any risk by each of the Acquired Companies; and (iii) the obligations of the Acquired Companies to third Persons with respect to insurance (including obligations under Leases and service agreements) and identifies the policy under which such coverage is provided.
- (f) All policies of insurance to which either of the Acquired Companies is a party or that provide coverage to CCI, the Company or any officer, director or employee of either of the Acquired Companies, are sufficient for compliance with all applicable Laws and Contracts to which either the Company or CCI is a party or by which it is bound and all of the Company Employee Plans for which such insurance coverage is required.

3.24 Insurance. 161

3.25 <u>Permits. Schedule 3.25</u> sets forth a true and correct list of each of the Permits held by the Company or CCI or issued by any Governmental Authority with respect to any of the Assets or the Business. Such Permits constitute all of the Permits required for the conduct of the Business. Each such Permit is valid, binding and in full force and effect and the Company is not in default (or with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both, would not be in default) under any such Permit. To the Knowledge of the Seller, all such Permits will remain valid and in full force and effect immediately after the Closing Date. There are no Actions pending nor, to the

Table of Contents

Seller s Knowledge, threatened, that seek the revocation, cancellation, suspension or adverse modification of any such Permit. All required filings with respect to such Permits have been timely made and all required applications for renewal thereof have been timely filed.

- 3.26 Product Warranties, Defects and Liabilities. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.26, there exists no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, threatened, Action, inquiry, or investigation by or before any Governmental Authority relating to any product alleged to have been manufactured, distributed or sold by the Company or CCI and alleged to have been defective or improperly designed or manufactured or in breach of any express or implied product warranty, and, to the Knowledge of the Seller, there exists no latent defect in the design or manufacture of any of the products of the Business. To the Knowledge of the Seller, there is no factual basis that could result in the recall, withdrawal or suspension by Order of any Governmental Authority of any of the products manufactured and sold by the Business. There exists no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, threatened, product liability or warranty claims against the Company, except to the extent reserved for specifically on the Interim Balance Sheet and to the Knowledge of the Seller, there is no reasonable basis for any such suit, inquiry, Action, proceeding, investigation or claim. Schedule 3.26 sets forth the standard product and service warranties given by the Company in connection with the sale of its products and services, and except as set forth on Schedule 3.26, there are no other express product or service warranties relating to the Company s products or services.
- 3.27 <u>Customers and Suppliers.</u> Schedule 3.27 sets forth, by monetary amount, a list of the ten largest customers and ten largest suppliers of the Business for the twelve months ended December 31, 2009. For the purposes of this Section, customer shall mean any Person to whom the Company sold products or services, whether such products were sold under current part numbers or predecessor part numbers. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.27, there exists no actual, and the Seller has no Knowledge of any threatened, termination, cancellation or limitation of, or any material change in, the business relationship of the Business with any material customer or supplier (including as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby). To the Knowledge of the Seller, no material customer or supplier has experienced any work stoppage or other material adverse circumstance or condition that is reasonably likely to jeopardize or adversely affect the future relationship of the Business with any such customer or supplier. There are no pending disputes or controversies with any material customer or supplier of the Business which, to the Seller s Knowledge, would materially affect the continuation of business with such customer. To the Knowledge of the Seller, no customer of the Business has any right to any credit or refund for products or services sold by the Company pursuant to any Contract, understanding or practice of the Company other than pursuant to the normal course return policy of the Company. No sales incentives, rebates or trade-ins have been offered to any of the customers of the Business which differ substantially from what have been granted or offered to such customers in the Ordinary Course consistent with Past Practice, and otherwise there are no special post shipment obligations or acceptance provisions that exist with regard to any sales arrangements with the customers of the Business.
- 3.28 <u>Affiliate Transactions</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.28</u>, neither of the Acquired Companies is a party to, or bound by, any Contract with any of its officers, directors, stockholders or other Affiliates, other than on arms-length terms which are no less favorable to the Company or CCI, as the case may be, than those which could be obtained with a third party

which is not an Affiliate. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.28</u> , no Affiliate of the Company or CCI owns or otherwise has any rights to or interests in any of the properties and Assets of CCI or the Company.
3.29 <u>Backlog. Schedule 3.29</u> sets forth, truly and accurately, the backlog of orders for the products and services of the Company as of a date five (5) Business Days prior to the Effective Date. The backlog is based on valid and existing orders received from customers of the Company and does not include blanket orders that do not specify a definite quantity and specific delivery dates. None of the orders included in the backlog have been cancelled or materially modified, and, to the Knowledge of the Seller, no customer is intending to cancel or materially modify any of such orders. To the Knowledge of the Seller, each of the orders comprising the backlog, when fully performed is reasonably expected to result in a profit to the Company.
3.30 <u>Approval of Parent s Lender.</u> The transactions contemplated herein have been approved by Parent s senior lender (and any Trustee, acting on behalf of such senior lender and with the approval of the pertinent Governmental Authority to the extent necessary), subject only to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Article VII.
3.31. <u>Indebtedness Free Status of Company at Closing</u> . Upon the payment of the Closing Date Indebtedness at the Closing in the manner contemplated in Section 2.2, and the elimination of any intercompany account Indebtedness pursuant to Section 8.10, the Company will be free of all Indebtedness, including, without limitation, any residual liability for taxable income resulting from the termination of intercompany accounts contemplated in Section 8.10.
3.32. No Prior Indemnification Claims; No Waiver. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.32, the Seller has not made any claims for indemnification under, or in connection with, the May 23, 2008 Agreement or are there any events or circumstances which, without regard to the Aggregate Basket (as defined therein), individually or in the aggregate, currently constitute, or with notice or the lapse of time or both, would constitute, the predicate for any such claim. The Seller herein did not waive compliance with the conditions set forth in either of Sections 7.1 or 7.2 of the May 23, 2008 Agreement in order to consummate its purchase of the Company Shares and the Parent Shares (as defined therein).
3.33 <u>Disclosure</u> . No representation or warranty made by the Seller in this Agreement or any certificate or document contemplated hereby or thereby contains any untrue statement of material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained herein or therein not misleading in light of the circumstances under which they were made.
A-29

Table of Contents
ARTICLE IV [Intentionally Omitted]
ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER
The Buyer hereby makes the following representations and warranties to the Seller:
Incorporation and Authority. The Buyer is a corporation, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the Delaware. The Buyer has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Related Documents, to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution and delivery by the Buyer of this Agreement, the performance by it of its obligations hereunder and the consummation by it of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly and validly authorized by the board of directors of the Buyer and its parent company, with no other action on the part of the Buyer or its parent company being necessary. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by the Buyer and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Buyer enforceable against the Buyer in accordance with its terms, subject to Bankruptcy Law and Equitable Principles.
5.2 <u>Investment Representation</u> . The Buyer is acquiring the Shares for its own account, for investment and without any view to resale or distribution of the Shares or any portion thereof. The Buyer is an accredited investor as that term is defined in Rule 501 of Regulation D under the Securities Act.
5.3 <u>Consents and Governmental Approvals</u> . No consent, waiver, approval, authorization, license, Order or permit of, or declaration, filing or registration with, novation by, or notification to, any Governmental Authority, or any other Person, is required to be made or obtained by the Buyer in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, except for such consents, approvals or authorizations as have been obtained by the Buyer prior to the date hereof.

No Conflict. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the Related Documents nor the consummation of the transactions

contemplated hereby or thereby will (i) violate or conflict with any provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Buyer, (ii) result in a breach of any of the terms or provisions of, or constitute a violation or default under, or conflict with, any Law applicable to the Buyer or any judgment, decree, Order or award of any Governmental Authority or arbitrator to which the Buyer is a party or may be bound, or (iii) violate, or be in conflict with, or constitute a default under, or result in the termination of, accelerate the performance required by, or cause the acceleration of the maturity of any liability or obligation, under any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, license, lease, contract,

commitment, understanding, or other agreement to which the Buyer is a party.

5.5 <u>Brokers and Finders</u>. No finder, broker, agent, consultant or other intermediary, acting on behalf of Buyer, is entitled to a commission, fee or other compensation in connection

Table of Contents

with the negotiation or consummation of this Agreement or the Related Documents or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby for which the Seller will be responsible.

- 5.6 <u>Financial Capability and Commitment</u>. Buyer has sufficient funds or binding financing in place to purchase the Shares on the terms and conditions contained in this Agreement and will have such funds on the Closing Date.
- 5.7 <u>Absence of Litigation.</u> There is no Action pending, or to the Buyer s Knowledge, threatened, which would be reasonably likely to adversely affect the Buyer s ability to consummate the transactions contemplated herein.

ARTICLE VI

CONDITIONS TO BUYER SOBLIGATIONS

The obligations of the Buyer at Closing shall be subject to the satisfaction, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions (unless waived in writing by the Buyer):

- 6.1 <u>Governmental Consents.</u> All consents, approvals and actions of, filings with and notices to any Governmental Authority necessary to permit the Buyer and the Seller to perform their respective obligations under this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby shall have been duly obtained, made or given and shall be in full force and effect, and all terminations or expirations of waiting periods imposed by any Governmental Authority necessary for the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby shall have occurred.
- 6.2 No Law or Action. No Governmental Authority shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Law which is in effect and has the effect of making any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement illegal or otherwise prohibiting consummation of such transactions. There shall be no Action brought by any Governmental Authority pending or threatened and seeking to (i) prevent or restrain consummation of any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (ii) cause any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement to be rescinded after the Closing.
- Representations and Warranties; Covenants. (i) The representations and warranties of the Seller contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct (without giving effect to any materiality limitations set forth therein) in all material respects, in each case as of the date hereof and as of the Closing, with the same force and effect as if made as of the Closing (except, in the case of representations and warranties of the Seller which address matters only as of a particular date, then as of such date and only such date); (ii) the covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement to be complied with by the Seller at or prior to the Closing shall have been complied with in all material respects; and (iii) the Buyer shall have received a certificate from the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of the Seller as to the matters set forth in clauses (i) and (ii) above and Section 6.6.

6.4 <u>Third Party Consents</u>. The consents, approvals, permissions or acknowledgments or notices listed on <u>Schedule 6.4</u> shall have been obtained or made, and the Buyer shall have received reasonably acceptable written evidence thereof.

7D 1	1			_			
Tal	٦I	е	Λt	('	Λn	tei	1tc

- 6.5 <u>Resignation of Officers and Directors</u>. Each officer and member of the board of directors of CCI and the Company shall have resigned effective as of the Closing Date.
- 6.6 <u>Material Adverse Effect</u>. Between the date hereof and the Closing Date, a Material Adverse Effect shall not have occurred.
- 6.7 <u>Satisfaction of Closing Date Indebtedness</u>. The Buyer shall have received confirmation satisfactory to the Buyer that (i) the transactions contemplated herein were approved by the Lender (and the Trustee acting on its behalf with the approval of such Governmental Authority as may be required) (ii) that all of the Lender Indebtedness has been repaid in full in accordance with the Payoff Letters and otherwise and (iii) that with the payment of the Closing Date Indebtedness, all Indebtedness-Securing Liens have been fully released on the Shares, the Company Common Stock and the Assets, or there shall have been delivered to the Buyer such documents and instruments (including, without limitation, UCC-3s) that, when duly recorded or filed as the case may be, will cause all such Indebtedness-Securing Liens to be fully released under applicable Law.
- 6.8 <u>FIRPTA Certificate</u>. The Seller shall have executed and delivered to the Buyer an affidavit of the Seller in form satisfactory to counsel to the Buyer stating, under penalties of perjury, the Seller s United States taxpayer identification number and that the Seller is not a foreign person for purposes of Section 1445 of the Code.
- Delivery of Other Documents, Certificates and Agreements. Seller shall have executed and/or delivered to Buyer all such agreements, certificates, instruments, consents and other documents as Buyer's counsel shall reasonably require to effect the transactions contemplated herein, including, without limitation, the Related Documents, good standing certificates, and certificates, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Buyers, signed by the Secretary of each of Parent and the Seller as appropriate, and dated as of the Closing Date, certifying that: (i) in full force and effect as of that date and attached thereto are copies of: resolutions adopted by the respective boards of directors of each of Parent and Seller which (A) authorize and approve this Agreement and the Related Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and (B) ratify and approve all prior transactions engaged in by the Seller and its officers and directors. Seller also shall have delivered to Buyer, in form satisfactory to Buyer, a certification executed by Parent that, to the extent required by applicable Law, Parent duly convened a meeting of its stockholders and obtained the stockholders approval to consummate the transactions contemplated herein.
- 6.10 <u>ISRA</u>. The Seller shall have made all filings that are required to be made prior to Closing pursuant to ISRA in connection with the Company s New Jersey Leased Real Property and shall have complied with all obligations under ISRA in connection with such filings that are required to be made prior to Closing. In connection therewith, the Seller shall have signed and submitted the necessary forms, including, without limitation, the General Information Notice together with the appropriate funding source and funding amount, if such source is required pursuant to ISRA, and otherwise paid all fees and costs in satisfaction of any such filing requirements to enable the transactions contemplated herein to be consummated.

Table of Contents

- 6.11 <u>Deferred Purchase Price Obligation; Employee Retention Bonuses.</u> The Seller shall have paid or cause to be paid in the manner described on <u>Schedule 2.2(b)</u>, the Deferred Purchase Price Obligation, including, in connection therewith and otherwise, prior to, or as of, the Closing Date, and all of the Employee Retention Bonuses pursuant to the Employee Retention Bonus Agreements as set forth on <u>Schedule 6.11</u>.
- 6.12 <u>Equipment Purchase Agreements</u>. The Equipment Purchase Agreements between the Company and, respectively, Charles Brand and Erich von Harten, each dated June 4, 2010, and the Equipment Purchase Agreement between the Company and Pascall, dated June 6, 2010, shall have been consummated in all respects, including all payments due thereunder having been made in full.

ARTICLE VII

CONDITIONS TO THE SELLER SOBLIGATIONS

The obligations of the Seller at Closing shall be subject to the satisfaction, at or prior to the Closing, of the following conditions (unless waived in writing by the Seller):

- 7.1 Governmental Consents. All consents, approvals and actions of, filings with and notices to any Governmental Authority necessary to permit the Buyer and the Seller to perform their respective obligations under this Agreement and the Related Documents and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby shall have been duly obtained, made or given and shall be in full force and effect, and all terminations or expirations of waiting periods imposed by any Governmental Authority necessary for the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and under the Related Documents shall have occurred.
- 7.2 No Law or Action. No Governmental Authority shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Law which is in effect and has the effect of making any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement illegal or otherwise prohibiting consummation of such transactions. There shall be no Action brought by any Governmental Authority pending or threatened and seeking to (i) prevent or restrain consummation of any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (ii) cause any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement to be rescinded after the Closing.
- 7.3 Representations and Warranties, Covenants. (i) The representations and warranties of the Buyer contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct (without giving effect to any materiality limitation set forth therein) in all material respects, in each case as of the date hereof and as of the Closing, with the same force and effect as if made as of the Closing (except, in the case of representations and warranties of the Buyer which address matters only as of a particular date, then as of such date and only such date); (ii) the covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement to be complied with by the Buyer at or prior to the Closing shall have been complied with in all material respects; and (iii) the Seller shall have received a certificate of the Buyer as to the matters set forth in clauses (i) and (ii) above signed by a duly authorized officer of the Buyer.
- 7.4 <u>Closing Payment</u>. The Buyer shall have paid the Closing Payment to the Seller in accordance with <u>Section 2.2(a)</u>.

DD 11		c	\sim		
Lab	e.	ΩŤ	CO	ntents	

7.5	Closing Date Indebtedness.	The Buyer shall have pa	id the Closing Date In	Indebtedness in accordance with	n Sections 2.2(b).
-----	----------------------------	-------------------------	------------------------	---------------------------------	--------------------

7.6 <u>Stockholders Meeting</u>. At a meeting convened for such purpose, Parent shall have obtained by the requisite vote of its stockholders, approval for the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

ARTICLE VIII

ADDITIONAL COVENANTS OF THE PARTIES

- 8.1 Conduct of the Business Prior to the Closing.
- Between the Effective Date and the Closing Date, the Seller shall cause the Company (or where indicated, CCI) to conduct its business in the Ordinary Course and consistent with Past Practice. Without limiting the foregoing, except for such actions as are expressly contemplated by this Agreement, the Seller shall cause the Company to use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve in all material respects its business organization, to maintain its Assets and properties in good repair and condition (subject to ordinary wear and tear), to maintain capital expenditure levels consistent with Past Practice, to retain the services of its current officers and directors and to preserve and foster in all material respects its current relationships with customers, suppliers, key Personnel and other Persons with whom the Company has material business relations, in each case in the Ordinary Course and in a manner consistent with Past Practice. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, except as contemplated by any other provision of this Agreement or as otherwise required by applicable Law, from the Effective Date to the Closing Date, the Seller, will not permit the Company (or CCI if applicable) in the conduct of the operations and affairs of its Business, to do or cause to be done or occur or otherwise allow, except with the prior written consent of the Buyer, any of the actions described in Section 3.8 as if such Section were applicable to such period, including, without limitation,
- (i) change any of the Company s accounting methods, principles or practices;
- (ii) revalue any of the Assets, including writing off receivables or reserves, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with Past Practice;
- (iii) establish or increase the benefits payable under any Employee Plan or establish any new bonus, insurance, severance, deferred compensation, pension, retirement, profit sharing or other employee benefit plan for Personnel, or otherwise increase the compensation payable or to become payable to any Personnel, except in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with Past Practice or as may be required by Law;

(iv) \$50,000	enter into any employment or consulting agreement with any Personnel that would provide for payments to such Personnel in excess of in any calendar year;
(v) pay or c	except for cash dividends to the Seller or an Affiliate in a manner consistent with Past Practice as contemplated in Section 2.8, make, declare any
	A-34

(a) Between the Effective Date and the Closing Date, the Seller shall cause the Company (or where Indicated

Table of Contents

respectiv	or distribution with respect to either the Company Common Stock or the Shares or any other Equity Securities of the Company or CCI ely, or redeem or repurchase any of the Company Common Stock or the Shares or any other Equity Securities of, or owned by, the y or CCI, respectively;
(vi)	change or amend the articles of incorporation, bylaws, or any other governance document of the Company or CCI;
	enter into, extend, materially modify, terminate or renew any Material Contract; <u>provided, however</u> , that the Buyer s consent shall no sonably withheld with respect to the Company s entry into any new Material Contract or any renewal, amendment, modification or on of any Material Contract;
	(A) sell, assign, transfer, convey, lease, mortgage, pledge or otherwise dispose of or encumber any Assets or any interests therein, or sales of finished goods inventory, obsolete Assets or Assets replaced in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with Past Practice II, assign or transfer any Assets to the Seller or its Affiliates;
(ix) acquire a	acquire by merger or consolidation with, or merge or consolidate with, or purchase substantially all of the assets of, or otherwise my material assets or business of, any Person, business, business unit or division or facility;
(x) the Com	make any loans or advances to any Person, or, except for expenses incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business, to any Personnel of pany;
(xi)	pay accounts payable other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;
	except as set forth on Schedule 8.1(a) (xiii), willfully do any other act or fail to take any reasonable action, which act or failure to take le action would cause any representation or warranty of the Seller in this Agreement (without giving effect to any materiality limitation therein) to become untrue in any material respect;
(xiii) of Taxes any Tax	make or change any election in respect of Taxes, amend any Tax Returns of CCI or the Company, enter into any agreement in respect, including the settlement or compromise of any Tax claim, or consent to any extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to claim;
(xiv)	incur, create or otherwise become liable for any Indebtedness; or

- (xv) enter into any agreement, or otherwise become obligated, to do any action prohibited hereunder.
- (b) Nothing in Section 8.1(a) gives or shall be deemed to give the Buyer, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the operations or financial affairs of CCI or the Company or its Business prior to the Closing Date, and, accordingly, prior to the Closing Date,

A-35

Table of Contents

the Seller, CCI and the Company, consistent with the terms of this Agreement, shall exercise complete dominion and control over the business operations and financial affairs of CCI and the Company and its Business.

Access to Information. From the Effective Date until the Closing, upon reasonable notice, the Seller shall cause the Personnel, auditors and agents of the Company and CCI to (i) afford the officers, employees and authorized agents and representatives of the Buyer reasonable access, during normal business hours, to the books and records of the Company, (ii) furnish to the officers, employees and authorized agents and representatives of the Buyer such additional financial and operating data and other information regarding the Assets and the Business (including the work papers prepared by the Company and its independent auditor in connection with such auditor s review of the Financial Statements), (iii) permit the officers, employees and authorized agents and representatives of the Buyer reasonable access, during normal business hours to the Company s offices and other facilities for any reasonable business purpose (iv) make available to the Buyer the Personnel, as the Buyer may from time-to-time reasonably request in order to assist the Buyer in fulfilling its obligations under this Agreement and to use commercially reasonable efforts to facilitate the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, including using commercially reasonable efforts to facilitate introductions and afford the Buyer opportunities for access to customers and suppliers of the Business on terms mutually agreed to by Buyer and Seller; provided, however, that the Buyer shall not unreasonably interfere with any of the businesses or operations of the Company.

8.3 <u>Public Announcements; Confidentiality.</u>

- No Party to this Agreement shall issue any press release or make any public statement with respect to the terms of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby without the prior written consent of the other Parties, except as required by Law, any Governmental Authority or by the rules and regulations of any national securities exchange or quotation system on which the securities of a Party or their Affiliates are listed; provided, however, that, if a disclosure is determined by a Party to be required by Law, by any Governmental Authority or by the rules and regulations of any national securities exchange or quotation system on which the securities of such Party or its Affiliates are listed, such Party shall notify the other Parties as soon as possible in advance of such disclosure and, to the extent practicable, give the other Parties a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on such disclosure, including, without limitation, Seller s obligation to provide a substantially complete draft of the Preliminary Proxy Statement to the Buyer, for its review and comment, at least two (2) days prior to the filing thereof by Parent with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
- (b) The Buyer's obligations under the Confidentiality Agreement, dated February 26, 2010 (the <u>Confidentiality Agreement</u>) shall remain in full force and effect; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that effective upon the Closing, such Confidentiality Agreement shall terminate with respect to information relating to the Company, the Shares, the Company Common Stock, the Assets and the Business.
- 8.4 <u>Regulatory and Other Authorizations, Consents</u>. Each Party shall cooperate in obtaining all consents and approvals required under this Agreement to effect the transactions contemplated hereby, including without limitation, the approval of the stockholders of the Seller,

A-36

(a) No Party to this Agreement shall issue any press release or make any public statement with respect to the

Table of Contents

or that are advisable in order that all agreements, Contracts and commitments of the Company remain in effect after the Closing and without giving rise to any right to termination, cancellation or acceleration or loss of any right or benefit. In addition, each Party shall otherwise use its reasonable best efforts to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and shall fulfill their obligations under this Agreement. Each of the Buyer and the Seller shall, and the Seller shall cause the Company to, diligently make and cooperate with the other in using its reasonable best efforts to obtain or cause to be obtained prior to the Closing Date all such consents without any change in the terms or conditions of any Contract or license that could reasonably be expected to be materially less advantageous to Buyer or the Company following the Closing than those pertaining under the Contract or license as in effect on the date of this Agreement. The Seller shall advise, or cause the Company to advise, Buyer of any difficulties experienced in obtaining any of the consents and of any conditions proposed, considered, or requested for any of the consents. The Buyer agrees to use its reasonable best efforts to assist the Company and the Seller in obtaining such consents, and to take such reasonable actions necessary or desirable to obtain such consents, including executing such instruments and other documents as may be required in connection with obtaining such consents.

- 8.5 Reasonable Efforts; Further Action. Between the Effective Date and the Closing Date, each of the Parties shall use their respective reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all reasonable actions, and to do, or cause to be done, all things reasonably necessary, proper or advisable to bring about the satisfaction of all conditions to the other Party s obligations to complete the transactions contemplated hereby. Subject to the terms and conditions herein provided, the Parties shall use their respective reasonable best efforts to deliver or cause to be delivered such documents and other papers and to take or cause to be taken such further actions as may be necessary, proper or advisable under Law or otherwise to consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated hereby.
- 8.6 Notification of Certain Matters. From the Effective Date through the Closing, the Seller shall give prompt notice to the Buyer and the Buyer shall give prompt notice to the Seller of (a) the occurrence, or failure to occur, of any event which occurrence or failure would be likely to cause the Seller s or the Buyer s respective representations or warranties contained in this Agreement to be untrue or inaccurate and (b) any failure of the Seller or the Buyer to comply with or satisfy any of its respective covenants, conditions or agreements to be complied with or satisfied by it under this Agreement; provided, however, that such disclosure shall not be deemed to cure any breach of a representation, warranty, covenant or agreement, or to satisfy any condition or constitute a waiver thereof.
- 8.7 <u>Tax Matters</u>.
- (a) The Seller shall prepare and timely file (taking into account extensions granted), or cause to be prepared and timely filed, all Tax Returns of the Company and CCI required to be filed for any Pre-Closing Tax Period (other than for a Straddle Period) (the Pre-Closing Returns) and pay, or cause to be paid, any Taxes due and owing in respect of the Pre-Closing Returns; provided, however, that the Buyer shall pay, or cause to be paid, to the Seller no later than five (5) Business Days prior to the due date for the payment of any Taxes with respect to Pre-Closing Returns (giving effect to extensions, if any) any Taxes accrued on the Closing Date Balance Sheet which, to the extent taken into account in determining Adjusted Net

Table of Contents

(a)

Working Capital, results in a Deficiency Payment, but only to the extent of the amount of such Deficiency Payment. The Seller shall make the Pre-Closing Returns available for review sufficiently in advance of the due date for filing the Pre-Closing Returns in order to provide the Buyer with a meaningful opportunity to analyze and comment on such Pre-Closing Returns before filing. The Seller shall be liable to the Buyer for, and shall hold the Buyer, CCI and the Company harmless from and against, (i) any and all Taxes due or payable by the Company or CCI for any Pre-Closing Tax Period, except to the extent such Taxes have been accrued on the Closing Date Balance Sheet and when taken into account in determining Adjusted Net Working Capital, resulted in a Deficiency Payment, to the extent of the amount of such Deficiciency Payment (ii) the Seller s responsibility for the payment of Transfer Taxes pursuant to Section 8.7(j), and (iii) any Losses arising out of, or in connection with, any breach by the Seller of any of the provisions of this Section 8.7.

- **(b)** The Buyer shall prepare and timely file (taking into account extensions granted), or cause to be prepared and timely filed, any Tax Return of the Company and CCI for taxable periods other than those covered by the Tax Returns prepared by the Seller as provided in Section 8.7(a). The Buyer shall make any such Tax Returns that relate to Tax for which the Seller could be liable available for review sufficiently in advance of the due date for filing such Tax Returns to provide the Seller with a meaningful opportunity to analyze and comment on such Tax Returns before filing. The Buyer shall make such changes and revisions to such Tax Returns as requested by the Seller to the extent that (i) such changes and revisions relate to Taxes for a Pre-Closing Tax Period, (ii) such changes and revisions are consistent with applicable Law and (iii) such changes could not reasonably be expected to have an adverse effect on the Buyer or the Company in any Post-Closing Tax Period. No later than five (5) Business Days prior to the due date for the payment of any Taxes with respect to any such Tax Return (giving effect to extensions, if any), the Seller shall pay to the Buyer an amount equal to the portion of Taxes attributable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period, except to the extent such Taxes are accrued on the Closing Date Balance Sheet and taken into account in determining Adjusted Net Working Capital. The Buyer shall be liable to the Seller for, and shall hold the Seller harmless from and against, (i) any and all Taxes due or payable by the Company or CCI for any Post-Closing Tax Period and any and all Taxes for any Pre-Closing Tax Period to the extent such Taxes have been accrued on the Closing Date Balance Sheet and, when taken into account in determining Adjusted Net Working Capital, resulted in a Deficiency Payment, to the extent of the amount of such Deficiency Payment, and (ii) any Losses arising out of, or relating to, any breach by the Buyer of any of the provisions of this Section 8.7.
- In the case of any Straddle Period, subject to the provisions of Section 8.7(a), (b) and (d), the amount of any Taxes for the Pre-Closing Tax Period allocated to the Seller and for which the Seller shall be responsible are to be determined as follows: (i) in the case of corporate income Taxes (Income Taxes), based on the actual operations of the Company or CCI during the portion of such period ending on the Closing Date, using an interim closing of the books method and applying the Accounting Principles, with all exemptions, allowances or deductions that are calculated on an annual basis, such as depreciation, apportioned on a per diem basis; (ii) other than Income Taxes, Taxes which are determined on the basis of specific transactions, (including, without limitation, ad valorem, sales, goods and services, payroll and use Taxes) the full amount of the Taxes applicable or attributable to such transactions as have taken place during the period through and including the Closing Date; and

Table of Contents

(c)

- (iii) for all other Taxes other than Income Taxes and those Taxes described in (ii) (including, without limitation, license, real and personal property, franchise and doing business Taxes), the full amount of such Taxes for the entire Straddle Period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar days during the Straddle Period ending on the Closing Date and the denominator of which is the total number of calendar days in the Straddle Period.
- Any refunds of Taxes that were paid with regard to a Pre-Closing Tax Period (or regarding Taxes for which the Buyer otherwise would be entitled to indemnification in accordance with Section 8.7(a)) (Seller s Refunds), shall be held for the account of the Seller (except as set forth in the next sentence of this Section 8.7(d)). The preceding sentence in this Section 8.7(d) shall not apply to any Refunds (or credits) to the extent such Refunds (or credits) were included, in each case, as a current asset on the Closing Date Balance Sheet for purposes of calculating Adjusted Net Working Capital, all of which Refunds or credits shall be for the account of the Buyer. Any refunds of Taxes that were paid in respect of a Post-Closing Tax Period (or regarding Taxes for which the Seller otherwise would be entitled to indemnification pursuant to Section 8.7 (b)) (Buyer s Refunds , and together with Seller s Refunds , Refunds), shall be for the account of the Buyer. The Buyer or the Seller, as applicable, shall pay the amount of any such Refunds to the other Party within five (5) Business Days after receipt thereof.
- (e) If the Buyer or the Company becomes aware of any assessment, official inquiry, examination or proceeding that could result in an official determination with respect to any Tax for which the Seller could be liable pursuant to Section 8.7(a), the Buyer shall promptly notify the Seller in writing thereof; provided, however, that the failure to notify the Seller shall not relieve the Seller of its obligation under Section 8.7(a) unless, and only to the extent that, such failure results in actual prejudice to the Seller. If the Seller become aware of any official inquiry, examination or proceeding that could result in an official determination with respect to Taxes related to the Company, the Seller shall promptly notify the Buyer in writing thereof; provided, however, that the failure to notify the Buyer shall not relieve the Buyer of its obligation under Section 8.7(b) unless, and only to the extent that, such failure results in actual prejudice to the Buyer.
- Subject to the penultimate sentence of this Section 8.7(f), the Seller shall have the right to exercise control over the contest and/or settlement of any issue raised in any official inquiry, examination or proceeding that relates only to Taxes for which the Seller is liable to the Buyer under Section 8.7(a) and the Seller shall pay any expenses incurred in connection therewith; provided, however, that the Seller may not settle or compromise any issue that could affect the liability of the Buyer or the Company for any Post-Closing Tax Period without the prior written consent of the Buyer, which such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. The Buyer shall cooperate with the Seller, as the Seller may reasonably request at Seller s cost, in any such inquiry, examination or proceeding. If the Seller does not notify the Buyer within thirty (30) days after receipt of notice of any such inquiry, examination or proceeding, that the Seller elects to exercise control over the contest and/or settlement thereof (and acknowledge its obligation to indemnify the Buyer with respect thereto pursuant to Section 8.7(a)), the Buyer shall exercise such control, and the Seller shall pay any reasonable expenses in connection therewith. No settlement of any inquiry, examination or proceeding over which the Buyer shall exercise control and with respect to which the Seller has

acknowledged its obligation to indemnif	y the Buyer pursuant to	Section $8.7(a)$) sha	Il be made without the	e prior written consent	of the Seller,
which consent shall not be unreasonably	withheld, conditioned of	or delayed.			

- Except as provided in Section 8.7(f), the Buyer shall have the right to exercise control over the contest and/or settlement of any issue raised in any official inquiry, examination or proceeding with respect to Taxes related to the Company; provided; however, that the (i) Buyer shall keep the Seller informed of all material developments with respect to such inquiry, examination or proceeding if it relates to any Tax for which the Seller could be liable under Section 8.7(a) and (ii) Buyer shall not settle or compromise any such inquiry, examination or proceeding that relates to any Tax with respect to which the Seller has acknowledged its obligation to indemnify the Buyer pursuant to Section 8.7(a), except after good faith consultation with the Seller concerning such settlement or compromise. Any reasonable expenses incurred in connection therewith shall (y) be paid by the Seller to the extent that they relate to any Tax for which the Seller could be liable under Section 8.7(a) (including any Tax for a period deemed to be a Tax period under Section 8.7(c)) and (z) shall be paid by the Buyer to the extent that such expenses relate to a Tax for which Buyer could be liable pursuant to Section 8.7(b) (including any Tax for a period deemed to be a Tax period under Section 8.7(c)). The Seller shall cooperate with the Buyer, as the Buyer may reasonably request, in any such inquiry, examination or proceeding.
- (h) The Seller and the Buyer shall provide each other with any information reasonably necessary to prepare and file complete and accurate Tax Returns and/or to pursue Refunds, as the case may be.
- (i) In the event of any conflict between the indemnification procedures under this <u>Section 8.7</u> and the indemnification procedures under <u>Article IX</u>, with respect to any indemnification pursuant to this <u>Section 8.7</u>, the indemnification procedures under this <u>Section 8.7</u> shall govern.
- (j) All excise, sales, use, value added, transfer, stamp, documentary, filing, recordation, registration and other similar Taxes which are imposed or arise as a result of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein, together with any interest, fines, penalties, additions and costs and expenses (collectively, Transfer Taxes) shall be the responsibilty of, and paid by, the Seller.
- (k) Tax records in the possession of the Seller with regard to the Company or CCI shall be delivered to the Buyer on or before the Closing Date; *provided, however*, Seller shall be entitled to make and retain copies of such Tax records.
- (I) All tax sharing or tax allocation agreements or arrangements with respect to or involving the Company or CCI shall be terminated as of the Closing Date, and all amounts due thereunder, if any, shall be settled as of the Closing Date. After the Closing Date, neither the Company, CCI nor the Buyer shall be bound by or have any liability thereunder.
- (f) Subject to the penultimate sentence of this Section 8.7(f), the Seller shall have the right to exertage control

Table of Contents

8.8 Exclusivity.

- From the Effective Date through the Closing Date or the date of any termination of this Agreement pursuant to (a) Section 11.1 (whichever first occurs), the Seller shall not, and shall cause the Company and its respective Affiliates, stockholders, officers, directors, employees, representatives and agents not to, directly or indirectly, encourage, solicit, initiate or participate in discussions or negotiations with, or provide any information to, any Person or group of Persons (other than the Buyer or any of its Affiliates) concerning any Acquisition Proposal or enter into any agreement with respect to any Acquisition Proposal; provided, however, that, at any time prior to the Closing, if Parent or Seller receives a bona fide Acquisition Proposal that was not solicited after the date of this Agreement and otherwise did not, directly or indirectly, result from a breach of this Section 8.8, the Company and its Affiliates may furnish, or cause to be furnished, non-public information with respect to the Company to the Person who made such Acquisition Proposal and may participate in discussions and negotiations regarding such Acquisition Proposal if (A) the board of directors of Parent (the Board), or any committee thereof to which the power to consider such matters has been delegated, determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel, that the failure to do so would be reasonably likely to be inconsistent with the Board s fiduciary duties to Parent s stockholders under applicable Law, (B) prior to taking such action, the Company enters into a confidentiality agreement with respect to such Acquisition Proposal that contains provisions no less restrictive than the Confidentiality Agreement, and (C) the Board determines in good faith, after consultation with its financial advisors, that such Acquisition Proposal is reasonably likely to constitute a Superior Proposal. The Seller shall and shall cause its Affliates to immediately notify the Buyer (orally and in writing) of the material terms of any Acquisition Proposal received by any of the Seller or Parent.
- (b) Prior to the Closing, the Board may not (i) withdraw, qualify or modify in a manner material and adverse to the Buyer, the Board's approval or recommendation, or if applicable, the approval or recommendation of any committee of the Board, of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement, (ii) approve or recommend, or propose publicly to approve or recommend, an Acquisition Proposal or (iii) authorize, permit or cause the Company to enter into any definitive agreement with respect to an Acquisition Proposal (clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) collectively, a Change in Recommendation of unless, in each such case, a Superior Proposal has been made and (x) the Board determines in good faith, after consultation with outside counsel, that failure to take such action would be reasonably likely to be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties to Parent's stockholders under applicable Law, and (y) the Seller and its counsel (A) have provided the Buyer with not less than three (3) days notice of the Board's intention to effect a Change in Recommendation, specifying the material terms and conditions of such Superior Proposal and (B) have negotiated with Buyer in good faith to make such adjustments in the terms and conditions of this Agreement as would enable the Seller to proceed with the transactions contemplated hereby without violating the Board's fiduciary obligations to Parent's shareholders. In the event that the Board makes such determination, the Seller (or, in the case of a sale of substantially all of the Assets, the Company) may enter into a definitive agreement to effect a Superior Proposal, but not prior to two (2) Business Days after the Seller has provided the Buyer with written notice that the Seller has elected to terminate this Agreement.
- (c) For purposes hereof, <u>Superior Proposal</u> means an Acquisition Proposal which the Board determines in good faith, after consultation with its counsel and financial advisors, will be more favorable to Parent s stockholders than the transaction contemplated by

A-41

8.8 Exclusivity. 182

Table of Contents

this Agreement taking into account all legal, financial and regulatory aspects and other terms and conditions of the Acquisition Proposal and the Person making such Acquisition Proposal (including the break up fee payable hereunder, the expense reimbursement provisions and conditions to, and the likelihood of, consummation of such Acquisition Proposal; provided, however, that any proposal to purchase the Company which was presented to, and considered by, Parent and/or the Board or any of Parent s Affiliates prior to the execution by Parent of the Exclusivity Agreement with the Buyer (<u>Prior Proposals</u>), shall not be deemed to constitute a Superior Proposal.

- (d) If (i) the Board effects a Change in Recommendation and this Agreement is terminated thereafter pursuant to Section 11.1(a)(vi), or (ii) the Seller or any of its Affiliates breaches the covenants set forth in Section 8.8(a) and this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 11(a)(vi)(B), in either of which events the transactions contemplated in this Agreement are not consummated, then, in consideration of the time and effort expended, the costs incurred, and the opportunity lost, Seller and/or Parent (and/or any successor in interest to either of them), shall pay to Buyer as liquidated damages within ten (10) days after the effective date of such termination, a sum equal to four (4%) percent of the Purchase Price by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by Buyer (the __Termination Fee__), plus any and all fees, costs and expenses actually incurred out of pocket by Buyer in connection with the structuring of the transaction, the conduct of due diligence and the negotiation, preparation, execution, performance and termination of this Agreement as are reasonable in amount and documented, including, without limitation, all fees and expenses of counsel, financial advisors, accountants and environmental experts in connection with the transactions described in this Agreement in an amount not to exceed Two Hundred Thousand (\$200,000) Dollars (the __Termination Expenses__).
- 8.9 <u>Payoff Letters</u>. No less than three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, the Seller shall cause the Company to deliver to the Buyer one or more payoff letters (collectively, the <u>Payoff Letters</u>) signed by the Lenders, lessors and other financing sources with respect to all Closing Date Indebtedness setting forth, in the aggregate, all amounts necessary to be paid in order to fully pay off all of the Closing Date Indebtedness on the Closing Date and providing that, upon such payment, the Closing Date Indebtedness will be extinguished and all Liens (including the Indebtedness-Securing Liens) relating thereto will be released.
- 8.10 <u>Termination of Intercompany Accounts</u>. The Seller hereby agrees that at or immediately prior to the Closing, it shall take all necessary action to cause all Contracts, commitments or transactions, including all amounts payable or receivable resulting therefrom, between the Company or CCI, on the one hand, and the Seller or any of its Affiliates, on the other hand, to be terminated and cancelled and of no further force and effect without any further liability or obligation and without creating any liability on the part of either CCI or the Company for taxable income as a consequence.
- 8.11 <u>Covenant Not to Compete</u>.
- (a) For a period of four (4) years from the Closing Date, neither the Seller nor any of its Affiliates shall, (i) engage in, directly or indirectly, whether independently or in association with any other Person, own any equity or other ownership interest in, be employed

Table of Contents

by, consult or work as an independent contractor or agent for, any Person engaged in any Covered Business or otherwise participate in any Covered Business or (ii) own, manage, operate, finance, control or participate in the ownership, management, operation, financing or control of any business or enterprise that engages in the Covered Business. The restrictions set forth in this Section 8.11 shall not be construed to prohibit or restrict any investment by the Seller in any class of publicly traded debt securities or Equity Securities of any company engaged in a Covered Business so long as (x) the Seller together with its Affiliates does not hold at any time during such period more than one percent (1%) of the issued and outstanding voting securities of such publicly traded company, or one percent (1%) of the aggregate principal amount of such class outstanding and (y) consistent with this Section 8.11, the Seller or its Affiliates does not otherwise engage in any other activities with respect to such company (whether as a director, officer, employee, agent, representative, consultant or otherwise).

- (b) For a period of two (2) years after the Closing Date, neither the Seller nor its Affiliates shall, directly or indirectly, without the Buyer s prior written consent, solicit or hire, or cause or encourage any other Person to solicit or hire, any officer or employee of the Company or employed by the Buyer with respect to the Business.
- In the event any of the terms of this <u>Section 8.11</u> shall be determined in any Action by any court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable by reason of its extending for too great a period of time or over too great a geographical area or by reason of its being too extensive in any other respect, it will be interpreted to extend only over the maximum period of time for which it may be enforceable, and/or over the maximum geographical area as to which it may be enforceable and/or to the maximum extent in all other respects as to which it may be enforceable, all as determined by such court in such Action.
- None of the provisions of this <u>Section 8.11</u> shall operate to prohibit, hinder, impede or restrict any unaffiliated Person, which, by way of takeover, acquisition, merger, combination or similar transaction, acquires a controlling interest in Parent or any of its Affiliates, including Pascall, from engaging in a Covered Business in the same manner as such Person did prior to such acquisition, takeover, merger, combination, or similar transaction; *provided, however*, in no event or under any circumstance shall such Person be entitled to use any of the Proprietary Information in any manner or for any purpose in connection with its Covered Business operations.
- 8.12 <u>Proprietary Information, Confidential Records; Intellectual Property Rights.</u>
- (a) <u>Proprietary Information.</u> The Seller acknowledges that it and its Affiliates, including Parent and certain of their respective officers, directors and employees have had access to, and use of, Proprietary Information and Confidential Records (as each such term is defined below). The Seller covenants that subsequent to the Closing Date, without written authorization from the Buyer, it and its respective Affiliates shall not at any time hereafter, directly or indirectly, use for its or their own purpose or for the benefit of any Person other than the Buyer, any Proprietary Information, or disclose any Proprietary Information to any Person. For purposes of this Agreement, the term <u>Proprietary Information</u> shall mean all Intellectual Property Rights, as well as all information, that pertains to, is necessary for the operation of, or is used in or by the Business, including: (i) the names and addresses of customers and vendors and

Table of Contents

information concerning transactions or relations therewith; (ii) information concerning any product, technology or procedure not generally known to its customers, vendors or competitors, or under development by or being tested but not at the time offered generally to its customers or vendors; (iii) information relating to Information Technology, computer software and systems other than off-the-shelf software and systems furnished by third party vendors; (iv) business plans, budgets, advertising and marketing plans, pricing and marketing methods, sales margins, cost of goods, cost of material, capital structure, operating results, and borrowing arrangements; (v) information belonging to customers and vendors and any other Person which by agreement is held in confidence; (vi) other information which is generally regarded as confidential or proprietary; and (vii) all written, graphic and other material relating to any of the foregoing. Information that is not novel or copyrighted or patented may nevertheless be Proprietary Information. The term Proprietary Information shall not include (A) information which is now or becomes generally available to, or known by, the public or the industry in which the Business operates (other than by reason of a breach of this Agreement), (B) becomes available to the Seller or its Affiliates subsequent to the Closing Date on a non-confidential basis from a source (other than a party to this Agreement or the Related Documents or any Affiliate or representative of such Party) that is not bound by a confidentiality agreement with regard to such information. Nothing in this Section is intended to limit the use of any Proprietary Information which as of the Effective Time is being used by any of Seller s Affiliates in connection with their business from continuing to use such Proprietary Information in the same manner and to the same extent as they do currently in connection with their business but not in any other manner or for any other purpose. The Seller shall be responsible for the breach of this Section 8.12 (a) by any of its Affiliates and its and their officers, directors and employees who have had access to such Proprietary Information. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the restrictions in this Section 8.12(a) shall not prevent the use of the Proprietary Information described in <u>Schedule 8.12(a)</u> by Pascall for the limited purpose indicated in such Schedule.

- (b) <u>Confidentiality and Surrender of Records.</u> The Seller and its Affiliates shall not at any time, directly or indirectly, publish, make known or in any fashion disclose any Confidential Records to, or permit any inspection or copying of any Confidential Records by, any Person. For purposes hereof, <u>Confidential Records</u> means all records and similar items that relate to or are connected with the Company and its Business and contain any Proprietary Information, including all correspondence, memoranda, files, manuals, books, lists, financial records, operating or marketing records, magnetic tape, or electronic or other media or equipment of any kind which may be in the Seller s possession or under its control or accessible to it. All Confidential Records shall be and remain the sole property of the Buyer from and after the Closing Date.
- (c) <u>Certain Permitted Disclosures and Uses.</u> <u>Sections 8.12(a) and (b)</u> shall not prevent any disclosure required by Law or Order of a Governmental Authority or as may be required in connection with the preparation or audit of Seller or its Affiliates Tax returns or financial statements provided that in connection with disclosure pursuant to Law or Order of a Governmental Authority, the Seller or its Affiliates, as the case may be, shall, prior to any such disclosure, give the Buyer prompt notice of any such requirement, and cooperate with the Buyers in obtaining a protective Order or other means of protecting the confidentiality of the Proprietary Information and Confidential Records of the Company and its Business. The Seller

Table of Contents

(or its Affiliates) shall disclose only that information or provide such documents as are legally required or compelled to be disclosed or provided if the Buyer either fails to obtain such protective Order or a comparable remedy or waive the right to do so. In producing such documents and disclosing such information, the Seller (or its Affiliates), as the case may be, shall exercise, or cause their legal representatives to exercise, reasonable best efforts to obtain assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded such disclosed information and records.

(d) Remedies. It is recognized and acknowledged by the Seller that a breach or threatened breach of the covenants contained in Section 8.11 and this Section 8.12 will cause irreparable damage to the Buyer and the Company, the exact amount of which may be difficult or impossible to ascertain, and that the remedies at law for any such breach will be inadequate. Accordingly, the Seller agrees that in the event of a breach or threatened breach of any of the covenants contained in Section 8.11 or this Section 8.12, in addition to any other remedy which may be available at law or in equity, including damages, the Buyer will be entitled to specific performance and injunctive relief, without the requirement of posting a bond or a deposit in connection therewith.

8.13 <u>ISRA Compliance</u>.

- (a) Prior to the Closing, the Seller shall, at its sole cost and expense, undertake to achieve compliance with ISRA with regard to the New Jersey Leased Real Property as described in Section 6.10, including, giving the appropriate notice of this transaction if, as and when required to NJDEP, filing all of the requisite documents and certifications, paying applicable fees and oversight costs to NJDEP and, if required pursuant to ISRA, posting of financial assurance or a remediation funding source and executing a remediation agreement such that the Closing may take place in compliance with ISRA.
- (b) In furtherance of, and consistent with, the foregoing, on and after the Closing, the Seller shall, on a timely basis, make all filings and take all actions required to achieve compliance with ISRA Without limiting the foregoing, the Seller shall, at its sole cost and expense and as may be required to comply with its obligation to achieve compliance with ISRA, pay all ISRA Compliance Costs and prepare, perform, and/or submit, as the case may be, all required preliminary assessments, site investigations, work plans and reports and undertake and complete all Remedial Actions, if any, pursuant to, and in compliance with, ISRA, with respect to the New Jersey Leased Real Property. The Seller shall perform all of the foregoing in a manner consistent with the Lease for the New Jersey Leased Real Property and this Section 8.13(b).
- 8.14 <u>Assignment of Non-Disclosure Agreements and Non-Competition Agreements</u>. The Seller shall assign or cause or arrange for the assignment to Buyer at the Closing of (i) any confidentiality or non-disclosure agreements involving or pertaining to the Proprietary Information that it or any of its Affiliates, including Parent, entered into with a putative purchaser of CCI or the Company or the Business or Assets provided that such confidentiality or non-disclosure agreements may be assigned without the prior consent of such putative purchaser and (ii) the Non-Competition Agreements, provided that such Non-Competition Agreements may be assigned without consideration.

Table of Contents

- 8.15 <u>Payment of Employee Retention Bonuses</u>. The Seller shall pay or cause to be paid, all of the Employee Retention Bonuses pursuant to the Employee Retention Bonus Agreements as set forth on Schedule 6.11, and shall obtain from each of the recipients of such Employee Retention Bonuses, a release in favor of the Company with regard to the Company s obligations under the pertinent Employee Retention Bonus Agreement.
- 8.16 <u>Assignment of Indemnification Rights</u>. At the request of the Buyer, upon, and in connection with, the assertion by the Buyer Indemnified Parties of a claim against Seller for indemnification pursuant to Section 9.2(a)(viii) of this Agreement, the Seller shall assign to Buyer (or allow Buyer to enforce the same on its own behalf in the name of Seller) all of its rights to seek indemnification correspondingly therefor, from and against the Majority Owners and the Sellers, as the case may be, under and pursuant to Sections 10.2 and 10.3, respectively, of the May 23, 2008 Agreement.
- 8.17 <u>Guarantee of Parent</u>. Parent guarantees the performance and payment of the Seller's obligation to indemnify, defend and hold the Buyer Indemnified Parties harmless from and against any Losses relating to, or arising out of, the matters described in Section 9.2(a), subject to the Basket Amount and Cap Amount as provided therein.

ARTICLE IX

INDEMNIFICATION

- 9.1 Survival. The representations and warranties contained in this Agreement shall survive the Closing and remain in full force and effect (a) for a period expiring thirty (30) days after the expiration of the statute of limitations (giving effect to any tolling thereof) with respect to the matters covered by Section 3.16 (Taxes) and Section 3.21 (Employee Benefit Matters), (b) for a period of five (5) years after the Closing Date with respect to the matters covered by Section 3.19 (Environmental Matters), (c) subject to clauses (d) and (e) below, for a period of eighteen (18) months after the Closing Date with respect to all other representations and warranties, (d) for an indefinite period with respect to the matters covered by Section 3.1 (Organization and Qualification), Section 3.2 (Authorization), Section 3.3 (Capitalization of the Acquired Companies), Section 3.5 (No Conflict), the first sentence of Section 3.13 (b) (Title and Condition of Assets), Section 3.22 (Brokers and Finders), Section 5.1 (Incorporation and Authority of Buyer), Section 5.3 (No Conflict) and Section 5.4 (Brokers and Finders) and (e) for an indefinite period with respect to any willful breach of any representation or warranty in this Agreement or for any claim based upon fraud.
- 9.2 <u>Indemnification</u>.
- (a) From and after the Closing Date and subject to Section 9.1, the Seller shall indemnify and hold harmless the Buyer, its Affiliates and their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, stockholders, representatives, successors and assigns (the Buyer Indemnified Parties) against and in respect of any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, demands, actions, causes of action, costs and expenses, dimunition in value, fees, deficiencies, taxes, penalties and fines (including, interest, penalties, damages, costs and expenses, including

Table of Contents

reasonable legal, accountants , investigators and experts fees and expenses, court costs and all amounts paid in investigation, defense or settlement of any of the foregoing) (Losses), whether or not arising out of a third party claim, resulting or arising from, based upon or otherwise relating to (i) any inaccuracies in or breaches of the Seller s representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement or any certificate, schedule or exhibit with respect thereto or (ii) any nonfulfillment of, or failure to comply with, any covenant of the Seller set forth in this Agreement, (iii) all Pre-Closing Export Control Laws Liabilities; (iv) any breach of Section 8.7 (Tax Matters); (v) any additional Taxes, penalties or interest payable by the Company or CCI in connection with, or as a result of, any matters identified on Schedule 3.16(a); (vi) any Tax liability on the part of CCI or the Company in connection with the termination or cancellation of the intercompany accounts; (vii) any liabilities under or in connection with any of the Employee Retention Bonus Agreements, (viii) the Prior Claim and (ix) the Deficiency Payment. The Seller shall not have liability under Section 9.2(a)(i) unless and until the aggregate amount of the Losses of the Buyer Indemnified Parties in respect of all indemnification claims exceeds \$250,000 (the Basket Amount), in which case the Buyer Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to all of their Losses, including the Basket Amount, up to \$5,000,000 (the <u>Cap</u> Amount). The Basket Amount and the Cap Amount shall not be applicable to:(A) Losses pursuant to Sections 9.2(a)(ii) through (ix), (B) Losses pursuant to Section 9.2(a)(i) with respect to any of the representations and warranties made in Section 3.16 (Taxes) or with respect to any Fundamental Representation or with respect to the second sentence of Section 3.17 (Accounts Receivable), (C) Losses pursuant to Section 8.7 (Tax Matters), and (D) Losses with respect to any claim for indemnification based on willful misrepresentation or fraud.

- (b) From and after the Closing Date and subject to Section 9.1, the Buyer shall indemnify and hold harmless the Seller and its Affilliates and their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns (the Seller Indemnified Parties) against and in respect of any and all Losses resulting or arising from, based upon or otherwise relating to (i) any inaccuracies in or breaches of the Buyer is representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement or any certificate, schedule or exhibit with respect thereto (ii) any nonfulfillment of, or failure to comply with, any covenant of the Buyer set forth in this Agreement, and (iii) any and all Losses relating to the ownership of the Shares or the Assets or the operation of the Business after the Closing Date; provided, however, that (A) the Buyer shall not have any liability under Section 9.2(b)(i) unless and until the aggregate amount of the Losses of the Seller Indemnified Parties in respect of all indemnification claims exceeds \$250,000 in which case the Seller Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to all of their Losses and (B) Buyer is aggregate liability under Section 9.2(b) shall not exceed \$5,000,000; provided, further, that the limitations set in the preceding clauses (A) and (B) shall not apply to a breach of a representation and warranty set forth in Section 5.1 (Incorporation and Authority of the Buyer), Section 5.4 (No Conflict) or Section 5.5 (Brokers and Finders) or Losses pursuant to Section 9.2(b)(ii) and (iii).
- (c) Any payments pursuant to this <u>Article IX</u> shall be treated as an adjustment to the Purchase Price.
- (d) Any claims for indemnification for Taxes shall be governed by <u>Section 8.7</u>, to the extent indicated therein; *provided, however*, any claim by the Buyer Indemnified Parties in respect of breaches by the Seller of the representations and warranties contained in

n 1	1		0			
Tal	٦le	• U.	† ('	on	ten	ŧ٩

Section 3.16 (which shall no	≀t be in duplication of a	ny indemnification un	der <u>Section 8.7</u>), shal	I be governed exclusively by
the provisions of this Artic	le IX.			

- (e) Any indemnification claims for Pre-Closing Export Control Laws Liabilities must be asserted, if at all, not later than the third anniversary of the Closing Date.
- (f) Each Party shall be entitled to rely upon the representations and warranties of the other Party or Parties set forth herein regardless of any investigation or audit conducted before or after the Closing Date or the decision of any Party to complete the Closing.
- 9.3 Method of Asserting Claims, etc.
- (a) All claims for indemnification by any Party seeking indemnification (an <u>Indemnified Party</u>) against the Buyer or the Seller, as applicable (the <u>Indemnifying Party</u>), hereunder shall be asserted and resolved as set forth in this Section 9.3.
- (b) In order for any Indemnified Party to make a claim for indemnification pursuant to Section 9.2, such Indemnified Party shall notify the Indemnifying Party of such claim or demand and the amount or the estimated amount thereof (the Claimed Amount) to the extent then feasible (which estimate shall not be conclusive of the final amount of such claim and demand) (the Claim Notice). The Claim Notice additionally shall set forth a reasonable description of the representation, warranty, or covenant with respect to which the claim is made and the facts giving rise to an alleged basis for the claim.
- (c) In the case of any claim or demand for indemnification based upon the assertion of a claim or the institution of an action by a third party against the Indemnified Party (<u>Third Party Claims</u>), the Indemnified Party shall notify the Indemnifying Party promptly upon receipt of such Third Party Claim; *provided, however*, the failure to notify the Indemnifying Party promptly shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party of its obligations hereunder, except to the extent such failure shall have prejudiced the Indemnifying Party. In connection with all Third Party Claims, the Indemnifying Party shall have thirty (30) days from the personal delivery or mailing of the Claim Notice (the <u>Notice Period</u>) to notify the Indemnified Party whether or not it desires to assume the defense of the Indemnified Party against such claim or demand; <u>provided</u>, that the Indemnifying Party shall not have the right to assume control of any defense, if the claim which the Indemnifying Party seeks to assume control (i) seeks non-monetary relief, (ii) involves criminal or quasi-criminal allegations or (iii) may, in the reasonable belief of the Indemnified Party, be detrimental to or injure the Indemnified Party s relationship with any material customer. The Indemnifying Party shall not be entitled to assume the defense of such claim or demand unless it shall have first entered into an agreement with the Indemnified Party (in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party) pursuant to which the Indemnifying Party agrees to be fully responsible (with no reservation of rights) for all Losses relating to such claims and that it will provide full indemnification (whether or not otherwise required hereunder) to the Indemnifying Party for all Losses relating to such claim, with such Losses not being subject to the limitations set forth in this <u>Article IX</u>. In the event an Indemnifying Party assumes control of the defense of such claim, all costs and expenses incurred by the Indemnifying Party in defending such claim or dem
- (d) Any claims for indemnification for Taxes shall be governed by Section 8.7, to the extent indicated therein;

Table of Contents

control, any defense or settlement pursuant to which an Indemnifying Party has assumed control in accordance with this Section 9.3, it may do so at its sole cost and expense. During the Notice Period, the Indemnified Party shall not settle, compromise or offer to settle or compromise any such claim or demand involving monetary damages without the consent of the Indemnifying Party, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. The Indemnifying Party shall not, without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, settle, compromise or offer to settle or compromise any claim or demand; provided, however, the Indemnifying Party shall have the right to settle or compromise a claim or demand without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party if such claim or demand is not subject to the limitations contained in Sections 9.2 or 9.3, involves only the payment of money and provides an unconditional release of the Indemnified Party. If the Indemnifying Party elects not to assume the defense of the Indemnified Party against a claim or demand for which the Indemnifying Party has an indemnification obligation hereunder, whether by not giving the Indemnified Party timely notice as provided above or otherwise, then, in addition to the amount of any such claim or demand, the Indemnified Party shall recover from the Indemnifying Party the reasonable costs and expenses, including attorneys fees, in connection with such defense, subject to the limitations set forth in this Article IX. To the extent the Indemnifying Party shall control the defense or settlement of any Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party will give the Indemnifying Party and its counsel reasonable access to, during normal business hours and upon reasonable notice, the relevant business records and other documents relating to the defense of such claim, and shall permit them to consult with the employees and counsel of the Indemnified Party to the extent the same does not unduly interfere with the conduct of the Indemnified Party s business. The Indemnifying Party shall use its best efforts in the defense of all such claims. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, from and after the time when the aggregate amount of claims paid or potentially payable by an Indemnifying Party under this Agreement, which are subject to the limitations set forth in Sections 9.2 or 9.3, exceeds or could potentially exceed such limitation based upon claims paid and pending in accordance with this Agreement, the Indemnified Party shall have the right, at its own cost and expense, to jointly control the defense and settlement of any pending indemnification claims the liability for which could potentially result in the aggregate claims exceeding such limitation. Any such time as the aggregate amount of claims subject to such limitation which have been paid or settled (subject to being paid) exceeds such limitation, the Indemnifying Party shall no longer have the right to participate in the control or defense of such claims.

Table of Contents

- 9.4 <u>Losses Net of Insurance, Third Party Recoveries</u>. The amount of any Losses for which indemnification is provided under <u>Section 9.2</u> shall be net of any insurance proceeds or third party recoveries, less the reasonable costs of collection thereof, to the extent actually received by the Indemnified Party.
- 9.5 <u>No Consequential Damages</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, no Indemnifying Party shall be liable or otherwise responsible to any Indemnified Party for consequential, incidental, unforeseen or punitive damages or for diminution in value or loss of profit that arise out of or relate to this Agreement or the performance or breach thereof or any liability retained or assumed hereunder other than such damages paid to an unaffiliated third party claimant.

ARTICLE X

SETTLEMENT OF CLAIMS AND ESCROW

10.1. Priorities of Payment. Compensation for any claim by the Buyer Indemnified Parties or the Company for breach of any of the warranties, covenants or agreements made or to be performed by the Seller under this Agreement (other than with regard to the Deficiency Payment), shall be paid first from the Escrow Account in accordance with the terms of this Article X and the Escrow Agreement; provided, however, in connection with any claim for indemnification by the Buyer Indemnified Parties pursuant to Section 9.2(a)(viii), the Buyer Indemnified Parties shall have the right, on their own behalf, in the first instance, to enforce all of the Seller s rights to indemnification against the Majority Owners and the Sellers, as the case may be, under and pursuant to Sections 10.2 and 10.3, respectively, of the May 23, 2008 Agreement.

10.2. <u>Escrow Claim Payments</u>.

- (a) If the Buyer has asserted a claim in accordance with Section 9.3 above that is agreed to or not timely disputed by the Seller, the Buyer and the Seller shall jointly instruct the Escrow Agent to pay the Claim Amount, together with appropriate interest, to the Buyer to the extent requisite funds are available in the Escrow Account to cover such claim and interest.
- (b) The Escrow Agent shall be entitled to act in accordance with any Order made and entered by any Governmental Authority which determines those of the Buyer's claims that have been disputed by the Seller, and to authorize the making or withholding of the Escrow Account in accordance therewith. If Buyer and Seller should settle or resolve, in whole or in part, the dispute with respect to such claim or claims, a memorandum setting forth such accord shall be prepared and signed by each of the Parties and furnished to the Escrow Agent. The Escrow Agent shall be entitled to rely on any such memorandum and to distribute or deliver the Escrow Account in accordance with the terms thereof.
- 10.3 <u>Outstanding Claims</u>. Once asserted, a claim shall be deemed to be an <u>Outstanding Claim</u> until finally resolved in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

Table of Contents

10.4 <u>Distributions Out of the Escrow Account.</u>

Upon the later occurrence of (i) September 30, 2011 or (ii) the first anniversary of the Closing Date, the Buyer and the Seller shall jointly instruct the Escrow Agent to pay to the Seller that amount of the remaining portion of the Escrow Account in excess of such amount as may be reasonably required to satisfy all of the Seller s liability with respect to any Outstanding Claims. As soon as all Outstanding Claims have been resolved, the Buyer and the Seller shall jointly instruct the Escrow Agent to pay to the Seller the remaining portion of the Escrow Account not required to satisfy the Seller s liability under Article IX.

ARTICLE XI

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

11.1	Termination of the Agreement; Effect of Termination.
(a)	This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing Date:
(i)	by mutual written agreement of the Parties;
(ii) the fault	by any Party if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before July 31, 2010; <i>provided</i> that the delay in Closing is not attributable to of the terminating Party;
•	by any Party if there shall be any Law that makes consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby illegal or otherwise ed or if consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby would violate any nonappealable, final judgment, injunction, Order or f any court or Governmental Authority having competent jurisdiction; or
cured wi shall be material delivery terminat	by (A) the Seller, if the Buyer shall be in breach any of its representations and warranties or fails to perform any of its covenants or nts contained herein in any material respect and if such failure to perform any of its covenants or agreements herein shall not have been thin ten (10) days following delivery of a written notice of such violation from the Seller to the Buyer, or (B) the Buyer, if the Seller in breach any of its representations and warranties, or fails to perform any of its covenants or agreements contained herein in any respect and if such failure to perform any of its covenants or agreements herein shall not have been cured within ten (10) days followin of a written notice of such violation from the Buyer to the Seller, as the case may be; <i>provided</i> , <i>however</i> , that the Party seeking ion pursuant to clause (ii), (iii) or (iv) (or any of their Affiliates) is not then in breach of any of its representations and warranties or of nants or agreements contained herein as would justify the other Party to terminate this Agreement hereunder;
(v)	by the Seller if a Change in Recommendation shall have occurred; or
(vi) the stock	by the Seller if, without a Change in Recommendation, upon a vote at a duly held meeting of the stockholders of Parent held to obtain cholder
	A-51

Table of Contents
approval for the consummation of the transactions set forth in this Agreement, such approval is not obtained.
(b) In the event of termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section 11.1, (i) written notice thereof shall be given by the Party terminating to each other Party, (ii) this Agreement (other than the provisions of Section 8.3), Section 8.8 (d), Article IX, the pertinent sections of Article XI, and such other of those Sections of this Agreement, which, by their nature are intended to survive, shall survive any such termination) shall forthwith become null, void and of no further force or effect, and (iii) there shall be no liability on the part of any Party or their respective Affiliates to any other Party; provided, however, that no such termination shall relieve the non-terminating Party from liability for any breach of such Party s representations, warranties, covenants or agreements hereunder.
11.2 Notice. All notices, requests, demands and other communications required or permitted under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given and made (i) upon being delivered by hand (with written confirmation of receipt), (ii) when received by the recipient Party if sent by a nationally recognized overnight delivery courier service (receipt requested), (iii) when sent by fax transmission (with confirmation of receipt) for those Parties having a fax number listed below, or (iv) by registered or certified mail (postage prepaid, return receipt requested), and addressed to the applicable address set forth below or such other address as may be designated in writing hereafter by the recipient Party:
If to the Buyer:
Aeroflex Incorporated
35 South Service Road
P.O. Box 6022
Plainview, New York 11803
Telecopier No.: 516-694-0658
Attention: John Adamovich, Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
With a copy to:
Moomjian, Waite, Wactlar & Coleman, LLP
100 Jericho Quadrangle

Jericho, New York 11753

Telecopier No.: 516-937-5050

Attention: Edward S. Wactlar, Esq.

If to the Seller:

Emrise Electronics Corporation 611 Industrial Way Eatontown, New Jersey 07224 Telecopier No.: 252-330-2560

Table of Contents
Attention: Carmine Oliva, Chief Executive Officer
With a copy to:
Ballard Spahr LLP 1735 Market Street, 51st Floor Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103-7599 Telecopier No.: 215-864-8999 Attention: Jennifer L. Miller, Esq.
11.3. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, the Schedules and the Exhibits hereto constitute the entire agreement and understanding between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings relative to such subject matter.
11.4. <u>Assignment: Binding Agreement</u> . This Agreement and the rights and obligations arising hereunder shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties and to their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and permitted assigns. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests, or obligations hereunder shall be transferred, delegated, or assigned by any of the Parties without the prior written consent of the other Parties, except that the Buyer may, without the prior written consent of the Seller, assign its interest, in whole or in part, in this Agreement to one or more Affiliates of the Buyer.
11.5 <u>Counterparts</u> . This Agreement may be executed simultaneously by facsimile transmission or electronic mail (including in PDF form) in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same Agreement.
11.6 <u>Headings: Interpretation</u> . The Article and Section headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of the Agreement. All of the Parties have participated substantially in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement and agree that no ambiguity herein shall be construed against any Party.
Expenses. Except as set forth in this Agreement, including, without limitation, in Section 8.8(d), or in a Related Document, or as agreed among the Parties, each Party shall bear its own costs and expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation, preparation and execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, including fees and expenses of attorneys, accountants, consultants, investment bankers and other financial advisors. Any sales, use, stamp or Transfer Taxes, and any other filing or recording fees, if any, which may be payable with respect to the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby shall be payable as set forth in this Agreement or in a Related Document or as agreed among the Parties, except if otherwise required by applicable Law.

11.8 <u>Specific Performance</u>. The Seller agrees that the Shares and the Company Common Stock represent unique property that cannot be readily obtained on the open market and that the Buyer would be irreparably injured if this Agreement is not specifically enforced after

Table of Contents

the breach or default by the Seller or any of its Affiliates. Therefore, the Buyer shall have the right to specifically enforce the Seller s performance of its obligations under this Agreement, and the Seller agrees to waive the defense in any such suit that the Buyer has an adequate remedy at law and to interpose no opposition, legal or otherwise, as to the propriety of specific performance as a remedy. The Buyer shall have the right to obtain specific performance of the terms of this Agreement without being required to prove actual damages, post bond or furnish other security. In addition, the Buyer shall be entitled to obtain from the Seller against whom specific performance is granted, court costs and reasonable attorneys fees incurred by the Buyer in enforcing its rights hereunder. As a condition to seeking specific performance, the Buyer shall not be required to have tendered the Purchase Price but shall be ready, willing and able to do so.

- 11.9 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware without reference to the choice of law principles thereof, except to the extent matters of title, leasing, and similar in rem issues require the application of the laws of jurisdiction in which the property is located and which is the subject matter of the legal dispute. The Seller and the Buyer hereby agree and consent to be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the New York state courts or, if there is subject matter jurisdiction, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, and hereby waive the right to assert the lack of personal jurisdiction or improper venue in connection with any such suit, action or other proceeding. In furtherance of the foregoing, each of the parties (i) waives the defense of inconvenient forum, (ii) agrees not to commence any suit, action or other proceeding arising out of this Agreement or any transactions contemplated hereby other than in any such court, and (iii) agrees that a final judgment in any such suit, action or other proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit or judgment or in any other manner provided by Law. THE PARTIES HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY WAIVE ANY RIGHT SUCH PARTIES MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO ANY SUIT OR ACTION ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY. EACH PARTY HEREBY CERTIFIES THAT NEITHER IT NOR ANY OF ITS REPRESENTATIVES HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT IT WOULD NOT SEEK TO ENFORCE THIS WAIVER OF RIGHT TO JURY TRIAL. FURTHER, EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE OTHER PARTY RELIED ON THIS WAIVER OF RIGHT TO JURY TRIAL AS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT.
- 11.10 <u>No Third Party Beneficiaries</u>. No provision of this Agreement is intended to confer upon any Person other than the Parties, the Buyer Indemnified Parties, the Seller Indemnified Parties and the Company any rights or remedies hereunder.
- 11.11 <u>Amendments and Waivers</u>. Any provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived if, but only if, such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed, in the case of an amendment, by each Party, or in the case of a waiver, by the Party against which the waiver is to be effective.
- 11.12 <u>Severability</u>. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Agreement is held to be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision will

m	. 1		c	\sim			
Tal	hl	e	Ωt	\mathbf{C}	าท	te	nts

be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

[Signatures on Next Page]

Table of Contents

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties hereto has caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.

AEROFLEX INCORPORATED

By: /s/ John Adamovich, Jr.
Name: John Adamovich, Jr.
Title: Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

EMRISE ELECTRONICS CORPORATION

By: /s/ Carmine T. Oliva
Name: Carmine T. Oliva
Title: President

Solely for the purpose of Sections 6.9, 7.6, 8.3(b), 8.8, 8.14 and 8.17, and as an Affiliate of Seller, pursuant to Sections 8.11 and 8.12.

EMRISE CORPORATION

By: /s/ Carmine T. Oliva
Name: Carmine T. Oliva
Title: Chief Executive Officer

[Stock Purchase Agreement]

Table	οf	Cor	iter	its

$\mathbf{r}\mathbf{v}$	н	IB)	

DEFINITIONS
Accounting Principles shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(a).
Acquired Companies shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
Acquisition Proposal shall mean any inquiry, discussion, negotiation or proposal with respect to any acquisition of (i) all of the capital stock of the Company or CCI, (ii) substantially all of the Assets of the Company or (iii) the Business, whether by means of a stock sale, merger, consolidation, reorganization, business combination or otherwise.
Action shall mean any claim, action, suit, arbitration, mediation or proceeding by or before any Governmental Authority, arbitrator or mediator.
Adjusted Net Working Capital shall mean, as of the applicable date of determination, the difference between the current assets of the Company and CCI and the current liabilities of the Company and CCI, as determined in accordance with the Accounting Principles and the following adjustments: Current assets shall exclude (i) cash, (ii) intercompany receivables and intercompany trade receivables, (iii) prepaid corporate income taxes, and (iv) deferred Tax assets.
Adjusted Net Working Capital Target Amount shall mean Three Million (\$3,000,000) Dollars.
Affiliate shall mean, with respect to any Person, any Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with, such other Person at any time during the period for which the determination of affiliation is being made. For purposes of this definition (i) Affiliates include an individual s spouse and minor children and (ii) the term control (including the correlative meanings of the terms controlled by and under common control with), as used with respect to any Person, shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of management policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise.
Agreement shall mean this Stock Purchase Agreement and all exhibits and schedules attached hereto.
Assets shall mean all properties, assets, securities and rights of any kind, whether tangible or intangible, real or personal, owned, leased or

licensed by the Company or CCI or in which the Company or CCI has any interest whatsoever (in each case, solely to the extent of the

Company s or CCI s interest therein).

Bankruptcy Laws and Equitable Principles shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(a).
Basket Amount shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.2(a).

Table of Contents

Benefit Arrangement shall mean any employment, consulting, severance or other similar contract, arrangement or policy (written or oral) and each plan, arrangement, program, agreement or commitment (written or oral) providing for insurance coverage (including any self-insurance arrangements), workers compensation, disability benefits, supplemental unemployment benefits, vacation benefits, retirement benefits, life, health or accident benefits (including any voluntary employees beneficiary association as defined in Section 501(c)(9) of the Code providing fo
the same or other benefits) or for deferred compensation, profit-sharing, bonuses, stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock purchases or other forms of incentive compensation or post-retirement insurance, compensation or benefits which (i) is not a Welfare Plan, Pension Plan or Multiemployer Plan, (ii) is entered into, maintained, contributed to or required to be contributed to, as the case may be, by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate or under which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate may incur any liability, and (iii) covers any current or former employee, director or consultant of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate (with respect to their relationship with any such entity).
<u>Board</u> shall have the meaning set forth <u>in Section 8.8(a)</u> .
Brand Group Sellers shall mean Charles Brand, Thomas Couse, Joanne Couse and Michael Gaffney as the Sellers under the May 23, 2008 Agreement.
Business shall mean all aspects of the business and operations conducted by the Company as of the date hereof and all related Assets and liabilities.
Business Day shall mean any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which banks in Wilmington, Delaware are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to not open or remain closed.
Buyer shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
Buyer Indemnified Parties shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.2(a).
Buyer s Refunds shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.7(d)
<u>Cap Amount</u> shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.2(a).
CCI Financial Statements shall mean the unaudited balance sheet of CCI as of December 31, 2009 and the related unaudited statement of income for the twelve month period then ended.

<u>CCI Interim Financial Statements</u> shall mean the unaudited balance sheet of CCI as of March 31, 2010 (the <u>CCI Interim Balance Sheet</u>) and related unaudited statement for the three month period then ended.	d th
CCI Interim Balance Sheet Date shall mean March 31, 2010.	
<u>CERCL</u> A shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.19(f).	
<u>Claim Notice</u> shall have the meaning set forth <u>in Section 9.3</u> (a).	

Table of Contents
Claimed Amount shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.3(b).
Closing Date Balance Sheet shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(a).
Closing shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.
Closing Payment shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).
Closing Date shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.
Closing Date Indebtedness shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).
Closing Date Interest Rate shall mean the rate per annum equal to the prime commercial lending rate quoted as of the Closing Date by <i>The Waltstreet Journal</i> (Eastern Edition).
Closing Payment shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).
COBRA shall mean the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended.
Code shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
Company shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
Company Common Stock shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
Company Employee Plans shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.21(a).

Company Indebtedness shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).
Company Trade Secrets shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(a).
Confidentiality Agreement shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.3(b).
<u>Confidential Records</u> shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.12(b).
Contract shall mean any agreement, contract, lease, note, loan, evidence of Indebtedness, purchase order, letter of credit, franchise agreement, undertaking, covenant not to compete, employment agreement, license, instrument, obligation, commitment, purchase and sale order, bid, quotation, proposal or other executory agreement to which the Company or CCI is a party or which relates to the Business or any Assets, whether oral or written, express or implied, and which pursuant to its terms has not expired, terminated or been fully performed by the parties thereto.
<u>Covered Business</u> shall mean the design and manufacture of the radio frequency (RF) and microwave devices and products currently produced by the Company, including RF, intermediate frequency (IF) and microwave limiters, switches, attenuators, detectors, phase shifters, and custom integrated assemblies, provided that Covered Business shall not include the design and manufacture by the Parent s subsidiary Pascall Electronics Ltd. (Pascall), or any

Table of Contents

successor to Pascall, of any and all RF and microwave devices, subject to a restriction on RF and IF limiters, switches, attenuators and phase shifters as set forth on Schedule C, which products will be restricted to sales to Pascall s existing customers as set forth on Schedule C, as well as the fulfillment by Pascall, or any successor to Pascall, of other existing legacy programs for such products as may arise from time to time.
<u>CPA Firm</u> shall mean J. H. Cohn, LLP or another nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants upon which the Buyer and the Seller mutually agree.
<u>Deferred Purchase Price Obligation</u> shall have the meaning set forth <u>in Section 2.2(a)</u> .
<u>Deficiency Payment</u> shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(a).
Effective Date shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
Effective Time shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.
Employee Plan shall mean any employee benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) (whether or not subject to ERISA) and each other material plan, agreement, program or arrangement providing for compensation, severance benefits, deferred compensation, fringe benefits, pension benefits, insurance benefits, profit sharing, retirement benefits, stock purchases, stock options, equity compensation, incentives, bonuses, vacations, disability benefits, hospitalization benefits, medical insurance, life insurance, retiree medical benefits, retiree life insurance coverage and any other employee benefits maintained by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate or to which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate is obligated to contribute for its current or former Personnel or their beneficiaries, including any such plan, agreement, program or arrangement that has been terminated in the past six years.
Employee Retention Bonus Agreements shall mean those agreements between the Company and those key employees of the Company who agreed to receive an Employee Retention Bonus in connection with, and predicated upon, the successful consummation of the acquisition of the Company and CCI by Seller pursuant to the May 23, 2008 Agreement.
Employee Retention Bonuses shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.14.
Employment Laws shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.21(a).

<u>Environment</u> shall mean any surface water, groundwater, land surface, subsurface strata, river sediment, plant or animal life, natural resources, air (including indoor air and ambient air) and soil.

Environmental Law shall mean any Law in effect leading up to and as of the Closing Date concerning: (i) the Environment, including related to pollution, contamination, cleanup, preservation, protection, and reclamation of the Environment; (ii) health or safety, including occupational safety and the exposure of employees and other persons to any Substances; (iii) any Release or threatened Release of any Substance, including investigation, monitoring, clean up, removal, treatment, or any other action to address such Release or threatened Release; and (iv) the Handling of Substances.

Table of Contents

Equity Securities of any Person shall mean (i) shares of capital stock, limited liability company interests, partnership interests or other equity securities of such Person, including, with respect to the Company, the Company Common Stock, (ii) subscriptions, calls, warrants, options or commitments of any kind or character relating to, or entitling any Person to purchase or otherwise acquire, any capital stock, limited liability company interests, partnership interests or other equity securities of such Person, (iii) securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for shares of capital stock, limited liability company interests, partnership interests or other equity securities of such Person, and (iv) equity equivalents, interests in the ownership or earnings of, or equity appreciation, phantom stock or other similar rights of, or with respect to, such Person.
ERISA shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
ERISA Affiliate shall mean any Person that is (or at any relevant time was) a member of a controlled group of corporations with, under common control with, or a member of an affiliated service group with, or otherwise required to be aggregated with, the Company as set forth in Sections 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code.
Escrow Agent means JPMorgan Chase & Co. or, if unavailable, such other nationally recognized bank upon which the Buyer and Seller mutually agree.
Escrow Account shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).
Escrow Agreement means that certain Escrow Agreement dated as of the Closing Date between and among the Seller, CCI, the Buyer and the Escrow Agent.
Escrow Deposit shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).
Exclusivity Agreement shall mean the Exclusivity Agreement entered into between Parent and Buyer dated April 22, 2010, as amended on May 20, 2010.
Excluded Assets shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.8.
Export Control Laws shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.10(b).

<u>Export Control Laws Costs and Liabilities</u> shall mean any and all losses, damages, fines, penalties, judgments, actions, claims, Liens, costs and expenses (including fees, disbursements and expenses of legal counsel, experts and consultants and the costs of investigations, audits, implementation of mandatory compliance protocols and voluntary disclosure filings) arising from or under any Export Control Laws.

<u>Financial Statements</u> shall mean the unaudited balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2009 (the <u>December 31, 2009 Balance Sheet</u>), and the related unaudited statement of income for the twelve month period then ended, and the unaudited balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2008, and the related unaudited statement of income for the twelve-month period then ended.

Table of Contents
<u>Fundamental Representation</u> shall mean those representations and warranties of the Seller listed <u>in Sections 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.5, 3.16 and 3.</u> 22.
GAAP shall mean United States generally accepted accounting principles in effect from time to time.
Governmental Authority shall mean any government, any governmental entity, department, commission, board, agency or instrumentality, and any court, tribunal, or judicial or arbitral body, whether federal, state, local or foreign.
Government Contracts shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(c).
Group shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.16(i).
<u>Handling of Substances</u> shall mean the production, use, generation, Release, storage, treatment, formulation, processing, labeling, distribution, introduction into commerce, registration, transportation, recycling, disposal, discharge, release or other handling or disposition of Substances.
<u>Improvements</u> shall mean any buildings, facilities, other structures and improvements, building systems and fixtures located on or under any real property owned or leased by the Company.
<u>Income Tax</u> shall have the meaning set forth <u>in Section 8.7(c)</u> .
<u>Indebtedness</u> shall mean (i) indebtedness for borrowed money (including the aggregate principal amount thereof, the aggregate amount of any accrued but unpaid interest thereon and any prepayment penalties or other similar amounts payable in connection with the repayment thereof), (ii) obligations evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures, letters of credit or similar instruments, (iii) obligations under conditional sale, title retention or similar agreements or arrangements creating an obligation with respect to the deferred purchase price of property (other than customary trade credit), including deferred acquisition costs with respect to past acquisitions, (iv) interest rate and currency obligation swaps, hedges or similar arrangements and (v) all obligations of any to guarantee any of the foregoing types of obligations on behalf of any other Person.
<u>Indebtedness-Securing Lien</u> s shall mean the Liens which secure the Closing Date Indebtedness and which are to be released upon payment in full of the Closing Date Indebtedness.
<u>Indemnified Party</u> shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.3(a).

Indemnifying Party	shall have the	meaning set	forth in Section	n 9.3(a).

<u>Information Technology</u> shall mean all of the computer hardware, software, networks, systems, microprocessors, firmware and other information technology and communications equipment used in the operation of the information technology systems of the Business.

Table of Contents
<u>In Licenses</u> shall have the meaning set forth <u>in Section 3.15(c)</u> .
Intellectual Property Rights shall mean all domestic and foreign (i) trademarks, service marks, trade dress, logos, corporate names, trade names, product names, Internet domain names, or other source identifiers of any kind or nature, including all goodwill associated therewith and symbolized thereby, together will all applications, registrations and renewals for any of the foregoing (collectively, Trademarks , (ii) patents, utility models, inventors certificates and other rights in and to inventions and industrial designs and pending applications therefor (collectively, Patents), (iii) copyrights, mask works and other rights of authorship, together will all pending applications, registrations and renewals associated therewith (collectively, Copyrights), (iv) trade secrets and other confidential and proprietary business information, including, but not limited to, all designs, plans, drawings, flow charts, state diagrams, specifications, technology, methods, designs, concepts and other proprietary rights, whether or not registered (Trade Secrets), (v) domain name registrations (Domain Names), (vi) novel devices, processes, compositions of matter, methods, techniques, observations, discoveries, apparatuses, machines, designs, expressions, theories and ideas, whether or not patentable (Inventions), (vii) computer programs, applications and other computer software including, with respect to each, all processes, scripts and routines used to process data, object code and source code (with respect to third-party software, to the extent rights to source code have been obtained), documentation for any of the foregoing, electronic data and databases, and web sites (including all related computer code and content) (collectively, Software); and (viii) rights under any licenses to use any of the intellectual property described in clauses (i) to (viii) a
Interim Financial Statements shall mean the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of March 31, 2010 (the March 31, 2010 Balance Sheet) and the related unaudited consolidated statement of income for the three month period then ended.
Interim Balance Sheet Date shall mean March 31, 2010.
<u>IR</u> S shall mean the United States Internal Revenue Service.
ISRA shall mean New Jersey s Industrial Site Recovery Act N.J.S.A. 13:1K-6 et. seq. And its accompanying regulations.
ISRA Compliance Costs shall mean all fees, costs and expenses incurred to achieve compliance with ISRA, including without limitation, attorneys, consultants and engineering fees and disbursements, New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP) filing fees and oversight charges, any surcharges, costs and expenses associated with securing and maintaining any remediation funding source, laboratory and analytical costs and expenses, equipment charges, industrial or hazardous waste disposal costs and all other fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with or relating Remedial Actions required by ISRA.
Knowledge shall mean with respect to the Seller, a particular fact or matter that is actually known by Parent, the Seller, CCI, the Company or one or more of the individuals listed on Schedule A, and with respect to the Buyer, a particular fact or matter that actually is known by the Buyer or one or more of the individuals listed on Schedule B, in either case, presuming by

Table of Contents

vay of a representation to such effect, that the identified individuals have made all inquiries that would be reasonable in light of such individual ctual knowledge.
Law shall mean any applicable federal, state, local or foreign statute, law, treaty, ordinance, regulation, rule, code, Order or rule of common la
Lease shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.14(a).
Leased Real Property shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.14(a).
Lender shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).
Lender Indebtedness shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).
<u>Licenses</u> shall have the meaning set forth <u>in Section 3.15(c)</u> .
<u>Lie</u> n shall mean a deed of trust, mortgage, security interest, claim, restriction, charge or other encumbrance or collateral interest.
Losses shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.2(a).
Machinery and Equipment shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.13.
Material Adverse Effect shall mean any event, circumstance, development, change or effect that, individually or in the aggregate, has had, or ould reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect on, or material adverse change with respect to, the business, operations, assets, iabilities, condition (financial or otherwise) or results of operations of the Company or CCI taken together as a whole.
Material Contract shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.12(a).

May 23, 2008 Agreement shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).

Multiemployer Plan shall mean any multiemployer plan, as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) or 3(37) of ERISA, which (i) the Company or any ERISA Affiliate maintains, administers, contributes to or is required to contribute to, or, within the six (6) years prior to the Closing Date, maintained, administered, contributed to or was required to contribute to, or under which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate may incur any liability and (ii) covers any current or former employee of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate (with respect to their relationship with any such entity).
Non-Competition Agreements shall mean those Non-Competition Agreements executed and delivered in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the May 23, 2008 Agreement.
Notice of Dispute shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(b).
Notice Period shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.3(a).

<u>Table of Contents</u>
Order shall mean any order, judgment, award, ruling, decree, writ, injunction of any court, arbitrator or Governmental Authority.
Ordinary Course of Ordinary Course of Business shall mean the ordinary course of business consistent with Past Practice (including, without limitation, with respect to quantity, quality and frequency).
Out Licenses shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(c).
Outstanding Claims shall have the meaning set forth in Section 10.2.
Parent shall mean Emrise Corporation.
Party and Parties Party shall mean the Buyer or the Seller (and, to the extent applicable, Parent) and Parties shall mean the Buyer and the Selle (and to the extent applicable, Parent) collectively.
Pascall shall have the meaning set forth in the definition of Covered Business .
<u>Past Practice</u> shall mean with respect to the Seller, Company, CCI or the Buyer, as the case may be, the practices and procedures utilized consistently during the three years prior to December 31, 2009.
Payoff Letters shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.9
_PBGC shall mean the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.
Pension Plan shall mean any employee pension benefit plan as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA (other than a Multiemployer Plan) (i) which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate maintains, administers, contributes to or is required to contribute to, or, within the six (6) years prior to the Closing Date, maintained, administered, contributed to or was required to contribute to, or under which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate

may incur any liability (including any contingent liability) and (ii) which covers any employee or former employee of the Company or any

ERISA Affiliate (with respect to their relationship with any such entity).

<u>Permits</u> shall mean all of the permits, licenses, negotiations and other governmental authorizations required for the ownership, leasing or operation of the Assets or the Business.

Permitted Liens shall mean (i) liens for Taxes or governmental charges or claims (A) not yet due and payable or (B) being contested in good faith, in each case if a reserve or other appropriate provision, if any, as shall be required by GAAP shall have been made therefor, (ii) statutory liens of landlords, liens of carriers, warehouse persons, mechanics and material persons and other liens imposed by law incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business for sums (A) not yet due and payable or (B) being contested in good faith, if a reserve or other appropriate provision, if any, as shall be required by GAAP shall have been made therefor, (iii) liens incurred or deposits made in connection with workers compensation, unemployment insurance and other similar types of social security programs or to secure the performance of tenders, statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, bids, leases, government contracts, performance and return

Table of Contents
of money bonds and similar obligations, in each case in the Ordinary Course of Business, consistent with Past Practice, and iv) easements, rights-of-way, and other similar restrictions on real property, in each case which do not materially interfere with the ordinary conduct of the Business of the Company.
<u>Person</u> shall mean an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, association, trust or unincorporated organization, a Governmental Authority or any other entity or organization.
Personnel shall mean all employees, officers, directors and independent contractors of, employed by or contracting with, the Company or CCI.
Post-Closing Tax Period shall mean any taxable period that begins after the Closing Date and the portion of any Straddle Period that begins on the day after the Closing Date and ends after the Closing Date.
<u>Pre-Closing Export Control Laws Liabilities</u> shall mean any Export Control Laws costs and liabilities to the extent (i) arising as a result of a breach of any representation or warranty made by Seller and CCI, jointly and severally, in Section 3.10(b) hereof or (ii) resulting from the operation of the Business prior to the Closing Date.
<u>Pre-Closing Returns</u> shall have the meaning set forth <u>in Section 8.7</u> (a).
<u>Pre-Closing Tax Period</u> shall mean any taxable period that ends on or before the Closing Date, or the portion ending on or before the Closing

<u>Preliminary Proxy Statement</u> shall mean the Preliminary Proxy Statement that is filed with the SEC in connection with the meeting that is to be held to obtain the approval of Parent s stockholders to the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein.

<u>Prior Claim</u> shall have the meaning set forth in Schedule 3.9(i).

Date of any Straddle Period.

<u>Prior Proposals</u> shall have the meaning set forth <u>in Section 8.8(c)</u>.

<u>Proprietary Information</u> shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.12(a).

Preliminary Proxy Statement shall mean the Preliminary Proxy Statement that is filed with the SEC in 222 nection

Purchase Price shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a).
<u>Refun</u> ds shall have the meaning set forth <u>in Section 8.7(d)</u> .
Related Documents shall mean the Escrow Agreement.
Release shall mean any release, spill, emission, leaking, pumping, injection, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, leaching, or migration at, in or onto the Environment, including movement or migration through or in the Environment, whether sudden or non-sudden and whether accidental or non-accidental, or any release, emission or discharge as those terms are defined in any applicable Environmental Law.

Remedial Action shall mean all actions required to comply with any Environmental Laws or applicable remediation criteria of the relevant

Table of Contents

Governmental Authorities to investigate, clean up, remove, treat or otherwise address any Substance located at, on or under real property.
Securities Act shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
Seller shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
Seller s Company Shares shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
Seller Indemnified Parties shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.2(b).
<u>Seller s Refu</u> nds shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.7(d)
Shares shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
<u>Straddle Perio</u> d shall mean any taxable period that begins before and ends after the Closing Date.
Substances shall mean any wastes, substances, products, contaminants, pollutants or materials, whether solid, liquid or gaseous, that (i) is or contains asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls, radioactive materials, oil, petroleum or any fraction thereof, (ii) whose release or threatened release may require removal, remediation or reporting under any Environmental Law, or is defined, listed or identified as a contaminant, pollutant, toxic substance, toxic material, hazardous waste or hazardous substance or words of similar meaning and regulatory effect thereunder or (iii) is toxic, explosive, corrosive, flammable, infectious, radioactive, carcinogenic, mutagenic or otherwise hazardous and is regulated as such by any Governmental Authority under any Environmental Law.
<u>Superior Propos</u> al shall have the meaning set forth <u>in Section 8.8</u> (c).
Tax or Taxes shall mean federal, state, local or foreign net income tax, alternative or add-on minimum tax, franchise tax, gross income, adjusted gross income or gross receipts tax, employment related tax (including employee withholding or employer payroll tax, FICA, or FUTA) ad valorem, transfer, franchise, license, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, personal property, real property, capital stock, profits, disability, registration, value added, estimated, customs duties, and sales or use tax, or other tax, governmental fee or other like assessment or charge of any kind whatsoever, together with any interest, penalty, addition to tax or additional amount imposed with respect thereto by a Governmental Authority, whether as a primary obligor or as a result of being a transferee (within the meaning of Section 6901 of the Code or

any other applicable law) of another person or as a result of being a member of an affiliated, consolidated, unitary or combined group.
<u>Tax Retur</u> n shall mean any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, or information return or statement relating to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendments thereof.
Termination Fee shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.8(d).

Table of Contents
Termination Expenses shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.8(d).
Third Party Claims shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.3(c).
<u>Transfer Taxes</u> shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.7(j).
Treasury Regulations shall mean the Regulations promulgated under the Code.
Welfare Plan shall mean any employee welfare benefit plan as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA, (a) which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate maintains, administers, contributes to or is required to contribute to, or under which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate may incur any liability and (b) which covers any current or former employee of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate (with respect to their relationship with any such entity).

Table of Contents	
A	ANNEX B
June 6, 2010	
Board of Directors	
EMRISE Corporation	
611 Industrial Way	
Eatontown, NJ 07724	
Members of the Board of Directors:	
You have requested our opinion as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to EMRISE Corporation (EMRISE) of the propose of the issued and outstanding shares of its subsidiaries Custom Components, Inc. (CCI) and Advanced Control Components, Inc. (owns, beneficially and of record, 80% of the issued and outstanding shares of the common stock (the Shares) of ACC, and Emrise E Corporation (the Seller) owns, beneficially and of record, 20% of the Shares of ACC. The terms of the proposed sale (the Propose between Aeroflex Incorporated (Aeroflex) and the Seller are set forth in the Stock Purchase Agreement (the Sale Agreement), da 2010, which provides that Aeroflex will purchase all of the outstanding shares of CCI and ACC for a purchase price of \$20,000,000 (the Aggregate Consideration).	ACC). CCI Electronics ed Sale) by and ited as of June 7,
Roanning & Scattergood Inc. as part of its investment hanking business regularly is anguged in the valuation of assets securities and	

Boenning & Scattergood, Inc., as part of its investment banking business, regularly is engaged in the valuation of assets, securities and companies in connection with various types of asset and securities transactions, including mergers, acquisitions, private placements, public offerings and valuations for various other purposes, and in the determination of adequate consideration in such transactions. In the ordinary course of our business as a broker-dealer, we may, from time to time, purchase securities from, and sell securities to, EMRISE, Aeroflex and their respective affiliates. In the ordinary course of our business, we may also actively trade the securities of EMRISE and Aeroflex for our own account and for the accounts of customers and accordingly may at any time hold a long or short position in such securities.

We have been engaged by EMRISE to act as financial advisor to EMRISE in connection with the Proposed Sale and will receive a fee for our services, a portion of which is payable upon delivery of this opinion and a significant portion of which is payable contingent upon consummation of the Proposed Sale. No portion of our fee is refundable or contingent upon the conclusion expressed in this opinion. We also will be reimbursed for expenses incurred. In addition, EMRISE has agreed to indemnify us against certain liabilities arising out of our engagement. Other than this engagement, during the past two years preceding the date of this opinion, we have not had any material relationship with any party to the Proposed Sale, other than EMRISE, for which compensation has been received or is intended to be received, nor is there any such material relationship or related compensation mutually understood to be contemplated. In arriving at our opinion, we have made such reviews, analyses and inquiries as we have deemed necessary or appropriate under the circumstances. We took into account our assessment of general economic, market and financial conditions, as well as our experience in

Table of Contents

securities and business valuation in general and with respect to similar transactions in particular our due diligence with regard to the Proposed Sale included:

- reviewing a draft of the Sale Agreement dated June 7, 2010, including without limitation the terms and conditions of the Proposed Sale;
- reviewing certain internal financial analyses, historical and budgeted financials, financial forecasts, reports, operating performance and other information we deemed relevant concerning ACC and CCI, all of which was provided to us by or on behalf of the management of EMRISE;
- holding discussions with certain members of the management of EMRISE, CCI and ACC concerning the historical and current business operations, financial condition and prospects of EMRISE, CCI and ACC and such other matters we deemed relevant;
- analyzing certain financial, market and industry data, stock market and other publicly available information relating to the businesses of other companies whose operations we considered relevant in evaluating those of CCI and ACC and considering, to the extent publicly available, the financial terms of certain other transactions which we deemed relevant in evaluating the Proposed Sale; and
- conducting such other financial analyses, studies and investigations as we deemed appropriate.

Our opinion is given in reliance on information and representations made or given by or on behalf of EMRISE, CCI and ACC, as well as their respective officers, directors, auditors, counsel and other agents and representatives, and on filings, releases and other information issued by or on behalf of EMRISE including financial statements, financial projections, and stock price data, as well as certain information from recognized independent sources. We have not independently verified any of the information concerning EMRISE, CCI and ACC which we have considered in our review and, for purposes of the opinion set forth below, we have assumed and relied upon the accuracy and completeness of all such information and data provided to us. We express no opinion as to any financial projections or the assumptions on which they are based. We have not conducted any independent valuation or appraisal or physical inspection of any assets or liabilities of EMRISE, CCI or ACC or their solvency, nor have any valuations or appraisals been provided to us. We did not estimate, and express no opinion regarding, the liquidation value of any entity or business. This opinion should not be construed as a valuation opinion, credit rating, solvency opinion, or liquidation analysis of the creditworthiness of any of EMRISE, CCI or ACC, or otherwise as tax advice or accounting advice. We have assumed that the Proposed Sale is, in all respects, lawful under applicable law.

With regard to financial and all other information provided to us relating to EMRISE, CCI and ACC (including, without limitation, estimates, evaluations, projections and information related to general prospects), we have assumed, with EMRISE s consent, that such information has been reasonably prepared and reflect the best currently available information and good faith judgment of the persons furnishing the same. We have further relied on the assurances of management of EMRISE, CCI and ACC that such persons are not aware of such information being inaccurate or misleading in any respect, or of any facts or circumstances that would make any of such information inaccurate or misleading in any respect. We have not been asked to and have not undertaken an independent verification of any of such information and we do not

Table of Contents

assume any responsibility or liability for the accuracy or completeness thereof. We have assumed that: (i) the final versions of all documents reviewed by us in draft form (including, without limitation, the Sale Agreement) conform in all material respects to the drafts reviewed; (ii) all governmental, regulatory or other consents and approvals necessary or advisable for the consummation of the Proposed Sale will be obtained without any adverse effect on EMRISE, ACC, CCI or on the Proposed Sale; (iii) all of the representations and warranties contained in the Sale Agreement and all related agreements are complete and correct in all respects and that each party to the Sale Agreement and all related agreements will perform all of the covenants required to be performed by such party thereunder; (iv) the conditions precedent set forth in the Sale Agreement and all related agreements to the Proposed Sale will be satisfied and such conditions precedent will not be waived; and (v) the Proposed Sale will be completed in accordance with the terms of the Sale Agreement, without any amendments thereto or any waivers of any terms and conditions thereof. Additionally, we assumed without verification the accuracy and adequacy of the legal advice given by counsel to EMRISE, ACC and CCI on all legal matters related to the Proposed Sale and have assumed that all procedures required by applicable law to be taken in connection with the Proposed Sale have been, or will be, duly, validly and timely taken and that the Proposed Sale will be consummated in a manner that complies in all respects with the all applicable laws, statutes and regulations. We have not made, and assume no responsibility to make, any representation, or render any opinion, as to any legal matter. EMRISE, CCI and ACC have expressly consented to all of the assumptions we have made in this opinion.

In our analysis and in connection with the preparation of this opinion, we have made numerous assumptions with respect to industry performance, general business, market and economic conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond the control of any party involved in the Proposed Sale. To the extent any of the assumptions or any of the facts upon which this opinion are based prove untrue in any material respect, this opinion cannot and should not be relied upon.

Our opinion is based on economic, monetary, regulatory, market and other conditions existing and which can be evaluated as of, and have been evaluated only as of, the date hereof. We expressly disclaim any undertaking or obligation to update this opinion or to advise any person of any change in any fact or matter affecting our opinion of which we become aware after the date hereof.

Our opinion is for the information of EMRISE s Board of Directors in connection with its evaluation of the Proposed Sale, and does not constitute a recommendation to the Board of Directors in connection with the Proposed Sale. Our opinion should not be construed as creating any fiduciary duty on our part to any party. In addition, we express no opinion or recommendation as to how the stockholders of EMRISE should vote on the Proposed Sale. Further, we have not been requested to opine as to, and the opinion does not in any manner address, the underlying business decision of EMRISE or any other party to engage in the Proposed Sale, nor does it address the relative merits of the Proposed Sale as compared to any alternative business transaction or strategy. Instead, the opinion merely states whether the consideration in the Proposed Sale is within a range suggested by certain financial analyses. The decision as to whether to proceed with the Proposed Sale or any related transaction may depend on an assessment of factors unrelated to the financial analysis on which this opinion is based. In addition, we are not expressing any opinion as to the market price or value of the capital securities of any party to the Proposed Sale after announcement of the Proposed Sale.

This opinion only addresses the fairness to EMRISE, from a financial point of view, of the Aggregate Consideration and does not address any other aspect or implication of the Proposed Sale or any agreement, arrangement or understanding entered into in connection therewith or otherwise including, without limitation: (i) the underlying business decision of EMRISE or any

Table of Contents

other party to proceed with the Proposed Sale; (ii) the terms of any arrangements, understandings, agreements or documents related to, or the form or any other portion or aspect of, the Proposed Sale or otherwise (other than the Aggregate Consideration to the extent expressly specified herein) and whether such terms were the best attainable under the circumstances; (iii) the fairness of any portion or aspect of the Proposed Sale to the holders of any class of securities, creditors or other constituencies of EMRISE, or to any other party; (iv) the relative merits of the Proposed Sale as compared to any alternative business strategies that might exist for EMRISE, CCI and/or ACC or the effect of any other transaction in which EMRISE, CCI and/or ACC might engage; (v) the solvency, creditworthiness or fair value of EMRISE, CCI and/or ACC or any other party to the Proposed Sale, or any of such their respective assets, under any applicable laws relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance or similar matters; or (vii) the fairness, financial or otherwise, of the amount, nature or any other aspect of any consideration received by EMRISE s, CCI s and/or ACC s officers, directors or employees or any class of such persons relative to the consideration to be received by the shareholders of ACC and CCI in the Proposed Sale, if any, or with respect to the fairness of such compensation. Furthermore, no opinion, counsel or interpretation is intended in matters that require legal, regulatory, accounting, insurance, tax or other similar professional advice. It is assumed that such opinions, counsel or interpretations have been or will be obtained from the appropriate professional sources. Furthermore, we have relied, with your consent, on the assessments by EMRISE and its advisors, as to all legal, regulatory, accounting, insurance and tax matters with respect to EMRISE and Proposed Sale. The issuance of this opinion was approved by a committee authorized to approve opinions of this nature.

Our opinion is not to be quoted or referred to, in whole or in part, in a registration statement, prospectus, proxy statement or in any other document, nor shall this opinion be used for any other purpose, without our prior written consent, except that this opinion may be included in its entirety in any filing made by EMRISE in respect to the Proposed Sale with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Our opinion has been approved by our fairness opinion committee. Based on the foregoing, it is our opinion that, as of the date hereof, the Aggregate Consideration offered pursuant to the Sale Agreement, is fair, from a financial point of view, to EMRISE.

Sincerely,

BOENNING & SCATTERGOOD, INC.

B-4